SEXUALLY TRANSMITTED AND BLOOD-BORNE INFECTIONS IN INDIGENOUS POPULATIONS:

Background paper



Y IA F

National Collaborating Centre for Indigenous Health

Centre de collaboration nationale de la santé autochtone



National Collaborating Centre for Infectious Diseases Centre de collaboration nationale des maladies infectieuses

CHRONIC AND INFECTIOUS DISEASES



© 2024 National Collaborating Centre for Indigenous Health (NCCIH) and the National Collaborating Centre for Infectious Diseases (NCCID). This publication was funded by the NCCIH and made possible through a financial contribution from the Public Health Agency of Canada (PHAC). The views expressed herein do not necessarily represent the views of PHAC.

Acknowledgements

The NCCIH uses an external blind review process for documents that are research based, involve literature reviews or knowledge synthesis, or undertake an assessment of knowledge gaps. We would like to acknowledge our reviewers for their generous contributions of time and expertise to this manuscript. This publication is available for download at: **nccih.ca**.

All NCCIH materials are available free of charge and can be reproduced in whole or in part with appropriate attribution and citation. All NCCIH materials are to be used solely for noncommercial purposes. To help us measure impact of these materials, please inform us of their use.

La version française est également disponible sur le site Web **ccnsa.ca** sous le titre : *Infections transmissibles sexuellement ou par le sang chez les populations autochtones : document de context.* Citation: National Collaborating Centre for Indigenous Health (NCCIH). (2024). Sexually transmitted and blood-borne infections in Indigenous populations: Background paper.

For further information or to obtain additional copies, please contact:

National Collaborating Centre for Indigenous Health (NCCIH) 3333 University Way Prince George, B.C., V2N 4Z9 Canada

Tel: (250) 960-5250 Fax: (250) 960-5644 Email: **nccih@unbc.ca** Web: **nccih.ca**

ISBN (print): 978-1-77368-484-0 ISBN (online): 978-1-77368-485-7

Front and back cover photo © Credit: iStockPhoto.com, ID 1409771532 Inner cover photo © Credit: iStockPhoto.com, ID 1482285555

CONTENTS



Download publications at nccih.ca/34/Publication-Search.nccih



Télécharger des publications à ccnsa.ca/524/Recherche-publication.nccih



issuu.com/nccah-ccnsa/stacks



GLOSSARY	5
INTRODUCTION	8
Background Search strategy	8 9
UNDERSTANDING STBBIS	-11
STBBIs – transmission, health outcomes, and treatment Notifiable STBBIs	- 11 - 12
Sexually transmitted infections (STIs) Human immunodeficiency virus (HIV) Viral hepatitis	12 12 14
Non-notifiable STBBIs	- 16
Human papillomavirus (HPV) Herpes simplex virus (HSV)	16 16
History of public health responses to STBBIs in Canada - STBBI surveillance in Canada	- 17 - 18
STBBIS IN INDIGENOUS POPULATIONS	20
Factors that influence the prevention, transmission, and treatment of STBBIs among Indigenous populations	-20
Legacy of colonialism Socioeconomic factors Intimate partner violence	21 22 24
	24

Socioeconomic factors	22
Intimate partner violence	24
Abuses of power	24
Child abuse	26
Mental health issues and addictions	26
Stigma	28
Access to health services	29

CONTENTS CONT.

General rates and trends of STBBIs in	22
Indigenous populations	33
Notifiable STBBIs Non-notifiable STBBIs	33 43
Subpopulation-level findings	45
Indigenous youth Indigenous women Older generations People who inject drugs Men who have sex with men Northern communities	45 46 47 48 49 49
SEXUAL HEALTH PROMOTION AND STBBI PREVENTION IN INDIGENOUS COMMUNITIES	51
Addressing the social determinants of health Improving access to culturally safe and appropriate sexual health programs and services Developing culturally appropriate sexual health education	52 54 57
Promising practices for STBBI prevention, testing and care, and research	60
STBBI prevention Testing and care STBBIs research	60 63 65
CONCLUSION	67
REFERENCES	68





GLOSSARY



Antiretroviral therapy

Antiretroviral therapy, also known as ART, is a treatment regimen of drugs that can help suppress HIV replication and reduce the likelihood of the virus developing drug resistance (Pan American Health Organization, 2020). The goal of ART is to reduce the presence of HIV to undetectable levels. ART has been instrumental in reducing mortality and morbidity rates among HIV-infected people, improving their quality of life, and preventing the transmission of the HIV virus to others.

Direct acting antivirals

Direct acting antivirals (DAA) are medications that target specific steps within the hepatitis C life cycle (HCV). They are molecules that target specific non-structural proteins of the Hepatitis C virus and disrupt the replication and infection of the virus (Pockros, 2023).

Historical trauma

When trauma is experienced collectively by specific populations who share a history of oppression, victimization, or massive group trauma over time and across generations, it is often referred to as "historical trauma" (Mohatt et al., 2014).

Intergenerational trauma

When individuals experience repeated traumatic events, the adverse emotional and behavioral reactions they have to that trauma can impact their children's development, leading the similar adverse behaviours and emotions. In this way, the trauma can be passed down to subsequent generations, which is referred to as "intergenerational trauma" (American Psychological Association, 2023).

Maternal syphilis

Maternal syphilis is when a mother with syphilis transmits the disease to her infant during pregnancy (Centers for Disease Control and Prevention [CDC], 2023a).

Pre-exposure prophylaxis

Pre-exposure prophylaxis (PrEP) refers to the use of medicine to reduce the changes of acquiring HIV from sex or injection use (CDC, 2023d). Health Canada has approved the use of two PrEP medications: Truvada (a pill for people at risk through sex or injection drug use) and Descovy (a pill for people who are at risk through sex, with the exception of people who are assigned female at birth who are at risk for HIV through receptive vaginal sex) (Community AIDS Treatment Information Exchange [CATIE], n.d.-a). Apretude, a shot provided to people at risk through sex who weigh at least 77 pounds/34 kg, offers a third PrEP option; however, has not yet been approved by Health Canada (CATIE, n.d.-b). These medications are generally safe with only minor side effects.

RNA Polymerase

A polymerase is any of several enzymes that can be used to synthesize RNA molecules from a template of DNA through a process called transcription (Integrated DNA Technologies, 2023). Transcription enables a gene's DNA sequence to be copied to make an RNA molecule.

RNA positive

Single-stranded RNA viruses are classified as positive or negative depending on the polarity of the RNA. Negative viral RNA must be converted to positive RNA by RNA polymerase before it can be infectious (European Virus Archive – Global, 2020).

Serological testing

Serological testing is a laboratory procedure involving the testing of blood for the presence of specific antibodies; that is, proteins that the immune system makes to fight foreign substances, like viruses and bacteria (Medline Plus, n.d.).

Seroprevalence

Seroprevalence refers to the number of persons within a population who test positive for a specific disease based on the frequency of specific antibodies found in their blood samples, which is determined through serological testing (Teslow, 2020).

Tender lymphadenopathy

Tender lymphadenopathy refers to the swelling of the lymph nodes. The swelling most often occurs as a result of an infection from bacteria or viruses but occasionally signal the presence of serious diseases like lymphoma or leukemia (Karpf, 1990).

Two-spirit

The term "two-spirit" is an Indigenous term used to refer to having both a masculine and feminine spirit and encompasses a wide variety of sexual and gender identities, including LGBTQ identities (Hunt, 2016). Prior to colonization, Indigenous views of sexuality were not rooted in heteronormativity but reflected greater acceptance for diverse sexual practices and identities. Two-spirited people historically were generally respected and assumed vital responsibilities to their nations' collective well-being.



Undetectable viral load

A viral load refers to the number of copies of HIV present in a milliliter sample of blood. Having an undetectable viral load means there are so few copies of the HIV virus are present in the blood sample that current tests are unable to detect them (Land, 2023). While this does not you are no longer HIV positive, it does mean you can no longer transmit HIV to others through sex and the virus is less able to attack your immune system, enabling individuals to live a healthier, longer life. This is often referred to as U = U (undetectable = untransmittable).

Viral load

Viral load is defined as the amount of HIV in the body (CDC, 2023c).

Viral suppression

Viral suppression means having less than 200 copies of HIV per milliliter of blood, which is the benchmark for achieving undetectable viral load (CDC, 2023c).

Vertical transmission

Vertical transmission refers to the transmission of viruses between an infected mother and her unborn child in uterus (Ward & Holtzman, 2018).







Understanding Indigenous Peoples' experiences with STBBIs in Canada is essential for supporting improved public health initiatives and reducing STBBI transmission in Indigenous communities.



Background

Indigenous¹ Peoples in Canada experience complex structural and systemic factors that increase their likelihood of contracting certain sexually transmitted and blood-borne infections (STBBIs) and create barriers to receiving adequate care and support. Understanding Indigenous Peoples' experiences with STBBIs in Canada is essential for supporting improved public health initiatives and reducing STBBI transmission in Indigenous communities.

In the Fall of 2020, the Public Health Agency of Canada (PHAC) approached the National Collaborating Centres for Indigenous Health (NCCIH) and Infectious Diseases (NCCID) to assess the impact of the COVID-19 pandemic on the ability of First Nations, Inuit, and Métis youth and adults to access STBBI services and care. This background paper is intended to complement this research by providing an overview of select literature to enhance understanding of the broader factors that influence STBBI transmission, prevention, and treatment among Indigenous Peoples; the experiences of Indigenous Peoples with STBBIs; and strategies for addressing the disproportionate rates of STBBIs in Indigenous communities. Other knowledge products stemming from the project assessing the COVID-19 pandemic's impact on STBBI services and care for First Nations, Inuit, and Métis youth and adults can be found on the websites of either the NCCIH or the NCCID.

In this report, "Indigenous" is used as the umbrella term for First Nations (status and non-status), Métis and Inuit. Wherever possible, the terms First Nations, Métis and/or Inuit are used when referring to specific populations.





The paper begins with an introduction outlining the purpose and goals of the paper, approach used, and search strategy. It then describes findings from a review of the literature on STBBIs among Indigenous populations in Canada. These findings are organized into three substantive themes. The first, "Understanding STBBIs," briefly explains what STBBIs are, how they are transmitted, their impacts on health, and how they are treated. It also provides an overview of public health responses to STBBIs and how STBBI rates are reported in Canada. The second theme, "STBBIs in Indigenous Populations," provides an overview of the factors that influence STBBI transmission, prevention, and management in Indigenous communities, including the legacy of colonialism, socioeconomic factors, intimate partner violence, child abuse, mental health and addictions, stigma, and access to health services. It then describes what is known about the rates and trends of specific types of STBBIs within Indigenous populations and specific subpopulations. The final section of this report details considerations for sexual health promotion and STBBI prevention in Indigenous communities, including a focus on social determinants of health, access to culturally safe and appropriate sexual health programs and services, and access to culturally appropriate health information. It also provides examples of promising practices in STBBI prevention, testing and care, and research in the context of Indigenous Peoples.

Search strategy

This review includes peer-reviewed and grey literature. The initial search was conducted via academic search platforms (Google Scholar, PubMed), using the following search terms: First Nations/Inuit/Métis/Indigenous/Aboriginal, and STI/STBBI/HIV/HPV/Hepatitis A, B, and C/ Chlamydia/Gonorrhoea/Syphilis/Sexual Health, and Canada. The initial review also included a search of the Government of Canada Publications website and was accompanied by a citation search of identified literature. While the original search strategy was aimed at identifying literature published within the last 10 years on STBBIs in relation to Indigenous populations in Canada, due to a lack of available data and literature on certain topic areas, articles outside of this time frame have been included, where appropriate. This review also includes systematic reviews involving global Indigenous populations if Indigenous populations in Canada were included. The search revealed that available research focuses predominantly on human immunodeficiency virus (HIV) and hepatitis C, with very limited literature on other STBBIs, particularly among Indigenous populations. This concentration is reflected in this paper.

Sexually transmitted and blood-borne infections in Indigenous populations: 9 Background Paper

Nationally notifiable STBBIs are considered priorities for monitoring and control measures by the federal and provincial/territorial governments (PHAC, 2023a).

© Credit: iStockPhoto.com, ID 2203902812

UNDERSTANDING STBBIs



This section provides an overview of STBBIs and is intended to provide the reader with a basic understanding of what they are. This includes the most common STBBIs, how they are prevented, transmitted, and treated, and potential health outcomes of STBBIs. This section also provides an overview of the history of public health responses to STBBIs in Canada and how STBBI rates are reported.



STBBIs – transmission, health outcomes, and treatment

STBBIs are infections that can be transmitted through vaginal, oral, or anal sex and through the exchange of sexual fluids, skin to skin genital contact, or contact with blood and other bodily fluids (Ottawa Public Health, 2023). STBBIs are a significant public health concern in Canada (Canadian Public Health Association [CPHA], 2023). The most notable STBBIs are Chlamydia (including lymphogranuloma venereum [LGV]), gonorrhoea, syphilis, human immunodeficiency virus (HIV), hepatitis B virus (HBV), and hepatitis C virus (HCV), which are all nationally notifiable in Canada. Nationally notifiable STBBIs are considered priorities for monitoring and control measures by the federal and provincial/ territorial governments (PHAC, 2023a). As such, data on these infections are routinely submitted by provincial and territorial

governments to the Canadian Notifiable Disease Surveillance System for the purposes of monitoring trends and rates at national level. Other STBBIs include hepatitis A (HAV), human papillomavirus (HPV), and herpes simplex viruses (HSV-1 and HSV-2),² which are not nationally notifiable (PHAC, 2023a).

STBBIs vary in transmission pathways, severity, and treatment. Some infections are primarily transmitted through sexual contact and are thus referred to as sexually transmitted infections (STIs). Some can by transmitted from an infected mother to her child during birth or through skin-to-skin contact, exchange of bodily fluids, or injection drug use and are thus referred to as STBBIs. Some bacterial STBBIs are curable (i.e. HCV), while others are not and either have some symptoms that can be cured (i.e. HPV) or can be managed with proper treatment (i.e. HIV). Regardless, all STBBIs can lead to adverse health outcomes if not diagnosed and treated properly.

² Acronyms for common STBBIs are included here to reflect what readers may encounter in the literature and research.

Notifiable STBBIs

Sexually transmitted infections (STIs)

Chlamydia, gonorrhoea, and syphilis are STIs caused by bacteria and are generally curable with antibiotics, though resistance of these STIs to antibiotics has been increasing rapidly due to misuse and overuse, particularly for gonorrhoea³ (Pan American Health Organization [PAHO], 2016). These infections are generally transmitted through sexual contact; however, they can also be transmitted from an infected mother to her newborn during birth (Choudhri et al., 2018a). STIs can lead to serious sexual and reproductive risks and complications, including stillbirths, neonatal deaths, low-birth weights, sepsis, and pneumonia for newborns, and reproductive complications such as infertility, genital and extragenital symptoms, cancer, ectopic pregnancy, and pelvic inflammatory disease for women (PAHO, 2016; PHAC, 2021a; World Health Organization [WHO], 2022a). Gonorrhoea and Chlamydia can also cause infertility in men (PAHO, 2016).

Chlamydia, gonorrhoea, and syphilis can be treated with either multi-day or single-dose regimens⁴ of antibiotics. There is also emerging evidence that the risk of bacterial STIs can be reduced through use of the antibiotic doxycycline post-exposure prophylaxis (Doxy PEP). Doxy PEP involves taking a 200 mg pill as soon as possible, and no later than three days, after sex. Studies have found Doxy PEP to be highly effective in preventing STIs among men who have sex with men and transgender women (Kurtzman, 2023; Leutkemeyer et al., 2023; National Institutes of Health, 2023). In fact, the California Department of Public Health (2023) now recommends its use in preventing bacterial STIs in these two populations and has released guidelines for its use. There is, however, a slight risk that using Doxy PEP can cause increased antibacterial resistance over time, with subsequent loss of prophylaxis benefit, which could threaten available treatment options over the long term (National Institutes of Health, 2023; Reichert & Grad, 2023). Further research is needed to assess its effectiveness among other populations and over repeated use.

Human immunodeficiency virus (HIV)

HIV is a virus that attacks the immune system. Because of this, an HIV-infected person is more vulnerable to other infections such as tuberculosis, fungal infections, bacterial infections, and certain cancers (WHO, 2022b). Conversely, having certain STIs, such as herpes, gonorrhoea, and syphilis, can increase the risk of acquiring and transmitting HIV (WHO, 2022b). According to available national data, injection drug use and the sharing of injection materials accounts for most HIV cases among Indigenous populations (Miller et al., 2011; Pearce et al., 2021; PHAC, 2011a, 2014a). However, other substances that alter judgement, leading to risky sexual behaviours or affecting adherence to antiretroviral treatment (ART), can also increase the risk of getting and transmitting HIV (Centers for Disease Control and Prevention [CDC], 2021). Sexual transmission among heterosexual individuals is the second most common transmission pathway, while men who have sex with men is the third most frequent exposure category among Indigenous males (PHAC, 2011a).

³ In fact, *Neisseria gonorrhoeae*, the pathogen causing gonorrhoea, has developed resistance to all classes of antibiotics used for treatment, and antimicrobial resistance has been growing progressively, making gonococcal infections an emerging public health threat worldwide (PHAC, 2015).

⁴ Single-dose therapy has the advantage of being convenient and ensuring virtually 100% adherence; however, there are disadvantages and greater risks for certain populations. For more information, please refer to Kingston & Carlin (2002).

HIV can also be transmitted from an infected mother to her newborn during birth (Adachi et al., 2018).

Taking pre-exposure prophylaxis (PrEP)⁵ as prescribed can be highly effective in preventing HIV (CDC, 2022a). However, uptake of PrEP can be low for some populations due to low awareness of PrEP, stigma related to HIV and attending HIV clinics, add preferences for trusted community settings for discussion about HIV testing and prevention (Estcourt et al., 2023). It can also be low due to stigma related to accessing PrEP, such as associations with "promiscuity" and high-risk behaviours (Mosley et al., 2018). Because of stigma and gender norms, marketing of HIV PrEP may not be as effective for heterosexual persons who might not "perceive themselves as being at risk for HIV infection or as candidates for PrEP" (Baugher et al., 2021, p. 1637). Additionally, it is well known that stigma can act as a barrier to education

and preventative measures (Woodgate et al., 2017b), and some Indigenous people face multiple stigmas that have been attributed to being Indigenous, living in poverty, and/or identifying as either lesbian, gay, bisexual, transgender, queer or questioning, or Two-Spirit (LGBTQ2S+) (Woodgate et al., 2017a). It is thus important that information about using HIV PrEP is incorporated within culturally appropriate sexual health promotion and services to ensure that the information is trusted by community members, better addresses relevant stigmas, and supports PrEP uptake and acceptance by all who can benefit (Estcourt et al., 2023; Goymann et al., 2023; Mosley et al., 2018).

If left untreated, HIV can lead to AIDS, a debilitating disease that can cause prolonged suffering and be life-threatening. With the use of ARTs, taken for the duration of one's life, individuals diagnosed with HIV can suppress viral load, prevent transmission to others, and live a long and healthy life. Because of advancements in ARTs, AIDS is no longer a global health concern (WHO, 2022b). However, not everyone benefits equally from ART or achieves virological suppression, including many Indigenous people with HIV in Canada (Benoit et al., 2017). This is due to a number of possible factors, including severity of HIV disease at the time of antiretroviral initiation, poorer adherence to treatment, injection drug use, composition of the ART regimen, and engagement with and inequities in HIV care (Barker et al., 2018; Benoit et al., 2017; McClarty et al., 2021). Achieving equitable access to ARTs and fostering optimal adherence to treatment are essential for improving HIVrelated health outcomes among Indigenous people (McNeil et al., 2017). This requires attention to addressing the multiple barriers that Indigenous people face in accessing HIV care (discussed on the following pages).



⁵ Different PrEPs are available, based on different risk factors (through sex or injection drug use), as well as other characteristics such as gender and weight (CDC, 2022b).

Viral hepatitis

Viral hepatitis is an inflammatory condition of the liver, primarily caused by viruses, including: hepatitis A (HAV), hepatitis B (HBV), hepatitis C (HCV), hepatitis D, hepatitis E, and hepatitis G viruses (Jefferies et al., 2018; Odenwald & Paul, 2022). Viral hepatitis is a significant public health issue that affects millions of people globally and can have potentially serious health consequences, including liver cancer and death (CDC, 2020). While some individuals infected with viral hepatitis show symptoms, many others do not, enabling the transmission of hepatitis infections to others. Symptoms of viral hepatitis may include: jaundice, fever, fatigue, loss of appetite, nausea, vomiting, abdominal and/or joint pain, dark urine, and clay-colored stool. Some forms of viral hepatitis can be prevented or treated, while others cannot (CDC, 2020). There are also differences across types of viral hepatis in terms of the populations most affected and the severity of health outcomes associated with acute infection. As nationally notifiable diseases, HAV, HBV, and HCV will be discussed in greater detail below.



Hepatitis A (HAV)

While HAV is primarily transmitted by ingesting contaminated food and drinking water, it is included in this report because it can be transmitted from one person to another through close, personal contact, including sexual activity (CDC, 2020; WHO, 2022c). Individuals at increased risk of infection include those living in low-income regions or experiencing homelessness (CDC, 2020; Jefferies et al., 2018; Smith et al., 2019), international travelers, men who have sex with men, as well as people who use or inject drugs, have occupational exposure, or have close personal contact with an adopted child from another country where HAV may be prevalent (CDC, 2020). In 2021, the rate of HAV in Canada was 0.46 per 100,000 persons (PHAC, 2023b).

Health outcomes are less severe for HAV than for other forms of viral hepatitis. Individuals with HAV may experience diarrhea, which is a common symptom (CDC, 2020). Most people are sick for a few weeks to a few months and recover on their own, with the help of supportive care to relieve symptoms (CDC, 2020). Health outcomes are more severe for older people compared to younger people (WHO, 2022c) and for those who have chronic liver disease or HIV, leading in some cases, though rare, to death (CDC, 2020). Unlike other forms

of viral hepatitis, HAV has no potential to become a chronic, long-term infection (CDC, 2020; Odenwald & Paul, 2022). It can also be prevented through vaccination (CDC, 2020).

Hepatitis B (HBV)

HBV can manifest as a mild illness that lasts only a few weeks; however, it can also lead to more serious health outcomes, including a life-long chronic condition, cirrhosis, liver cancer, and fatalities. In fact, HBV is the leading cause of liver cancer globally (CDC, 2020). More than half of individuals infected with HBV do not know they have the infection, which poses a barrier to preventing its spread (CDC, 2020). The younger a person is when infected with HBV, the greater the likelihood that individual will develop a chronic infection. Approximately 90% of infected infants eventually develop a chronic infection, while most older children and adults recover completely and do not develop a chronic infection (CDC, 2023b). In 2021, the rate of HBV in Canada was 9.22 per 100,000 persons (PHAC, 2023b).

HBV is primarily transmitted through the exchange of bodily fluids, such as blood or semen, from an infected person to uninfected persons. Transmission pathways include sexual activity, passage of HBV from an infected mother to her newborn during



birth, the sharing of medical and drug-related equipment, direct contact with blood or open sores of an infected person, poor infection control in health care facilities, and sometimes, though less often, by the sharing of personal items such as toothbrushes or razors (CDC, 2020). HBV can be prevented through vaccination, especially in childhood (Odenwald & Paul, 2022). Acute HBV is generally treated through supportive care to relieve symptoms, with no specific treatment available; however chronic HBV can be treated with antiviral drugs (CDC, 2020). These drugs have a high degree of efficiency; however, they are not completely effective, have significant side affects, and require a lengthy period of treatment, which can pose significant barriers

to adherence (Castaneda et al., 2021; Odenwald & Paul, 2022). Further, even when patients fully adhere to treatment, there is still a considerable risk of HBV relapse after medication has been completed (approximately 30%) of patients by 5 years); thus, patient follow-up is recommended (Odenwald & Paul, 2022). Certain individuals are at increased risk of exposure to HBV, including people born in countries with high HBV prevalence, people who use injection drugs, and those who have HIV, HCV, or STIs. Other high-risk groups include: people who have multiple sex partners, share needles, have close contact with infected people, require immunosuppressive therapy, are on kidney dialysis, or those who donate blood, plasma, organs, tissues, or semen (CDC, 2020).

Hepatitis C (HCV)

HCV can be transmitted in similar ways to HBV, such as through the exchange of bodily fluids from an infected person to a non-infected person through sexual activity; from an infected mother to her newborn during birth; through the sharing of contaminated equipment that pierces the skin; and through poor infection control in health facilities (CDC, 2020). Prior to 1992, HCV was also commonly spread through blood transfusions or organ transplants. Injection drug use accounts for most HCV cases in Canada, including among Indigenous populations (Lourenço et al., 2021, Miller et al., 2011). In 2021, the rate of HCV in Canada was 19.71 per 100,000 persons (PHAC, 2023b).

While some individuals with HCV experience mild illness, approximately 40% of infected individuals will develop chronic hepatitis, which may lead to cirrhosis later in life (CDC, 2020). HCV cannot be prevented through vaccination; however, it can be treated through direct acting antivirals (DAAs), which have minimal side effects and a high degree of effectiveness, with approximately 95% of individuals completing treatment being cured (CDC, 2020). While these antivirals offer hope that HCV can be eradicated globally, some marginalized populations, including Indigenous people and women who inject drugs, are less likely to initiate DAAs in Canada (Saeed et al., 2017). These findings highlight the need for targeted strategies to address barriers to accessing DAA treatment and engaging with HCV care for marginalized populations (Pearce et al., 2019; Saeed et al., 2017). This may include enhanced cultural safety in healthcare providers' relationships with Indigenous patients (Pearce et al., 2019). Nevertheless, treatment should be initiated promptly to avoid liver damage and further transmission of the virus (CDC, 2020).

Non-notifiable STBBIs

Human papillomavirus (HPV)

HPV is possibly the most common sexually transmitted infection, with more than 80% of all individuals who are sexually active being infected at some point in their sexual lives (Bird et al., 2017). There are over 200 types of HPV, most of which are asymptomatic and resolve themselves; however, reinfection is possible (Szymonowicz & Chen, 2020). HPV 6 and 11 cause genital warts and do not lead to cancer; however, there are 14 high-risk HPV types (HPV 16, 18, 31, 33, 35, 39, 45, 51, 52, 56, 58, 59, 66, and 68) that can cause various types of cancer (cervix, anus, penis, vagina, vulva, oropharynx, tonsil, and/ or oral cavity cancer), with HPV 16 and 18 causing most HPVrelated cancers (Bird et al., 2017; Cogliano et al., 2005; Stein et al., 2015; Volesky et al., 2019).

HPV can be transmitted in a variety of ways, including through sexual activity, skin-to-skin or skin-to-mucosa contact, and from an infected mother to her newborn during



birth (Petca et al., 2020). Three highly effective vaccinations are available in Canada to prevent HPV infection: CERVARIX® (HPV2), GARDASIL® (HPV4), and GARDASIL® 9 (HPV9) (Government of Canada, 2017); however, further efforts are needed to promote greater uptake of the vaccine (which requires two or three doses) within the Canadian population to reduce the burden of HPV-related disease (Bird et al., 2017).

Herpes simplex virus (HSV)

HSV, commonly referred to as herpes, is highly contagious and can be spread by kissing, skin-toskin contact, oral sex, penetrative sex, or other sexual activity. It can also be transmitted from an infected mother to her newborn during pregnancy (third trimester) or childbirth (Samies et al., 2021). Neonatal herpes can cause neonatal death if untreated.

There are two types of HSV – type 1 (HSV-1) and type 2 (HSV-2) (Heilingloh et al., 2020). In the past, HSV-1 was primarily transmitted by oral-to-oral infection in and around the mouth and HSV-2 was almost exclusively located in the genital area; however, today, both are commonly found in both oral and genital areas, most likely due to the rise in oral sex (PAHO, 2019). HSV usually causes mild but uncomfortable and sometimes painful symptoms like cold sores and genital herpes,⁶ but can also have more severe health outcomes, such as:

- vision threatening eye infections,
- · genital ulcer disease,
- neonatal neurological disability,
- · life threatening infections of the brain and spinal cord, and
- even death (Harfouche et al., 2021; WHO, 2023; Suryawanshi et al., 2023).

Individuals with HSV-2 are more susceptible to serious health outcomes, as are immunecompromised and immuneimmature individuals (Heilingloh et al., 2020). HSVs can increase the sexual transmission and acquisition of HIV (Harfouche et al., 2021), and may lead to adverse psychosexual outcomes, including effects on sexual relations, depression, anxiety, and feelings of shame (Yousuf et al., 2020).

Many individuals infected with HSV experience no visible symptoms, making it difficult to detect, which when coupled with its chronic and recurring nature, makes HSV highly prevalent and a significant global health concern (Harfouche et al., 2021; Heilingloh et al., 2020). Symptoms may include painful genital ulcers, legions, sores, crusts, tender lymphadenopathy, and pain or discomfort during urination (Fleming et al., 2006). An HSV test, usually done as a swab test, blood test, or lumbar puncture, can be used to help identify the presence of the virus in the body; determine whether sores on the mouth or genitals are caused by HSV; or diagnose the presence of HSV infection in pregnant women, newborns, and individuals at risk for STBBIs (MedLine Plus, 2020). Various antiviral medications can help reduce the severity and frequency of HSV symptoms; however, they cannot cure the infection and no licensed vaccines currently exist to prevent the infection (Heilingloh et al., 2020). Avoiding oral contact with others when symptoms of oral herpes are present can help prevent HSV. Using condoms can also help reduce HSV transmission, though this method is not always effective (Institute for Quality and Efficiency in Health Care, 2018; WHO, 2023).



History of public health responses to STBBIs in Canada

In response to shifting attitudes and social changes during the 1960s and the AIDS epidemic of the 1980s, Canada's public health response to STBBIs shifted from responding to disease outbreaks towards preventing them, with a focus on targeting specific populations (PHAC, 2011a). Responding to the Severe Acute Respiratory Syndrome (SARS) epidemic, in 2004 the Government of Canada created the Public Health Agency of Canada to provide a more coordinated response to epidemics and pandemics (PHAC, 2008). The PHAC conducts routine surveillance on some STBBIs and has developed frameworks for action to reduce the incidence of STBBIs in the country. Through a series of guidelines and standards, PHAC also provides recommendations for healthcare providers and public health in the areas of screening, diagnosis, and treatment of STBBIs (see PHAC, 2023a). These guidelines operate alongside provincial, territorial, and other jurisdictional guidelines or practice recommendations that are specific to local contexts (PHAC, 2021a).

⁶ Genital herpes is one of the most common STIs (Mathew & Sapra, 2022).

The federal guidelines and standards put forth by PHAC (2021a) outline the responsibilities for primary and secondary STBBI prevention at the provincial level. Primary STBBI prevention focuses on infection prevention strategies through person-centred counselling and education about how to reduce risk; while secondary prevention aims to "minimize the impact and spread of infection through early detection, treatment, counselling and partner notification" (PHAC, 2021a, n.p.). Healthcare providers are responsible for incorporating primary and secondary STBBI prevention into routine care. This includes:

- providing education on signs and symptoms of STBBIs;
- assessing and discussing STBBI risk;
- offering vaccination (when available);
- offering STBBI screening and testing;
- providing treatment, follow up, and counselling;
- supporting partner notification, when appropriate; and
- reporting notifiable cases to local public health authorities (PHAC, 2021a).

The Pan-Canadian Sexually Transmitted and Blood-borne Infections Framework for Action, released in 2018, provides a fiveyear action plan with strategic goals to reduce the incidence of STBBI in Canada; improve access to testing, treatment, and ongoing care and support; and reduce stigma and discrimination that create vulnerabilities to STBBIs, by the year 2030 (PHAC, 2018a). In response to this strategic framework, PHAC released an action plan titled Accelerating our response: Government of Canada Five-Year Action Plan on Sexually Transmitted and Blood-Borne Infections, which specifies the government's priorities under the Framework (Jackson & Tremblay, 2019). However, it is important to note that this framework adopts a pan-Canadian approach and lacks tangible steps to reach the 2030 timeline. A distinctions-based, culturally appropriate approach is needed, with co-developed measurable actions aimed at reducing the rates of STBBIs and creating safe, supportive spaces of care.



STBBI surveillance in Canada

Indigenous specific rates of STBBIs are often not available due to limitations in health surveillance and data collection methods. The Public Health Agency of Canada conducts surveillance of "nationally notifiable diseases" in coordination with provincial and territorial governments through the Canadian Notifiable Disease Surveillance System (CNDSS). However, very few demographic characteristics are collected on cases and race/ethnicity is not one of them (PHAC, 2018b). PHAC monitors HIV through the HIV/AIDS Surveillance System, which collates data that is voluntarily submitted by Canadian provinces and territories from both public health and laboratory reporting (PHAC, 2022a). This means the only data about STBBI rates that is available for Indigenous people is what might be collected through the First Nations and Inuit Health (FNIH) branch of Indigenous Services Canada or on-reserve surveillance systems, established by Indigenous communities,⁷ or data that is voluntarily collected in provincial/ territorial communicable disease surveillance systems.

 $^{^{7}}$ See for example, Health Canada (2010) and Yacoub et al. (2020).

PHAC participates in several enhanced surveillance programs that provide information on clinical or treatment data, risk behaviours, and social determinants of health indicators (PHAC, 2023c). Some multi-site surveillance programs that provide enhanced information on STBBI rates in Canada include:

- Enhanced Hepatitis Strain Surveillance System (EHSSS), a multi-centre surveillance system which provides data on newly diagnosed acute and chronic HCV infection, including ethnicity and Indigenous identity data, and information on risk factors;
- I-Track, a multi-site surveillance system that monitors changes in drug use injection patterns, sexual risk behaviours, and HIV and HCV prevalence among people who inject drugs in Canada; and
- Enhanced Street Youth Surveillance (E-SYS), a multi-centre surveillance program that describes the prevalence of STBBIs, risk factors, and other factors associated with streetinvolved youth in sites across Canada (PHAC, 2011b).

However, collection of ethnic identity data is not consistent across Canada. Some provinces or territories do not report on race or ethnicity, while others do so with varying levels of completeness (from 22% to 100%) (Haddad et al., 2021). The exclusion and inconsistent use of Indigenous identity in much of the surveillance data has resulted in particularly scant data on Chlamydia, gonorrhoea, and infectious syphilis among Indigenous populations in Canada (Smylie & Firestone, 2015).

STBBI-related data are also collected through independent research initiatives across the country, most commonly seen in investigations of STBBI rates and trends in specific sub-populations (i.e., Indigenous street-involved youth, incarcerated individuals, etc.). Due to these trends in surveillance and reporting, national-level data on the links between Indigenous identity and STBBIs are insufficient (Atkinson, 2020; Burchell et al., 2014; Uhanova et al., 2013). It is important to emphasize that although PHAC has released select reports on Indigenousspecific rates and trends of STBBIs in Canada, these data may be older than those available for the general population

of Canada. In fact, there is a significant gap in disaggregated data in the past decade, making comparisons in rates and trends between populations difficult.

Recognizing the need for harmonized collection of highquality data across jurisdictions to enable cross-jurisdictional comparisons, the Canadian Institute for Health Information (2022) released minimum pan-Canadian standards and guidelines for collecting racebased and Indigenous identity data in health systems. While this development of standards is a step forward, adoption of the standards remains voluntary, which may present an ongoing barrier to high-quality STBBI data for Indigenous populations.

Sexually transmitted and blood-borne infections in Indigenous populations: 19 Background Paper



STBBIs IN INDIGENOUS POPULATIONS



This section examines what is known about the context, rates, and trends of STBBIs among Indigenous populations in Canada. Specifically, it provides a discussion of the factors that influence the prevention, transmission, and treatment of STBBIs among Indigenous people, as well as an overview of the rates and trends for specific STBBIs and sub-populations.

Factors that influence the prevention, transmission, and treatment of STBBIs among Indigenous populations

Although statistics can provide a snapshot of STBBI rates and trends among Indigenous populations in Canada, they cannot tell the story of the broader structural and systemic contexts that Indigenous populations experience. In fact, to fully understand these rates and trends and develop effective solutions for improving STBBI health outcomes for Indigenous Peoples', one must understand the intersecting factors that influence Indigenous health and well-being generally.

According to Andermann (2017), there is a potential to improve Indigenous health by approaching communicable diseases through the lens of syndemics. First proposed by Singer (1996), the theory of syndemics provides a conceptual framework for understanding health conditions in relation to how they may be exacerbated by social, economic, environmental, and political factors (as cited in Tsai, 2019). Using this lens, the literature highlights the various factors that influence STBBI rates in Indigenous populations in Canada that are rooted in the legacy of colonialism and intersect with each other, including socioeconomic marginalization, intimate partner violence (IPV), abuses of power, child abuse, mental health and addictions, stigma, and inequitable access to health services. The legacy of colonialism, including socioeconomic marginalization, racial discrimination, intergenerational trauma, and high rates of mental health issues and addictions, violence, and despair, creates conditions that influence Indigenous people's risk taking and health seeking behaviours, which in turn drive higher rates of STBBIs.

Legacy of colonialism

STBBI prevention requires a focus on an individual's perception of risk, their health behaviours, and the social, cultural, and interpersonal contexts in which they engage in practices that are either protective or render them vulnerable to infection (Mooney-Somers et al., 2011). For Indigenous Peoples in Canada, this context is heavily influenced by colonialism. Colonial and assimilationist laws, policies, and practices exposed many Indigenous people to violence, trauma, and abuses of power spanning generations, and severed traditional parenting practices, traditional teachings, languages, and ceremonies through which knowledge about sexual health and relationships would traditionally have been imparted (Gesink et al., 2016; Lys et al., 2018a). The legacy of colonialism, including socioeconomic marginalization, racial discrimination, intergenerational trauma, and

high rates of mental health issues and addictions, violence, and despair, creates conditions that influence Indigenous people's risk taking and health seeking behaviours, which in turn drive higher rates of STBBIs. As Burchell et al. (2014) recognize, while individual behaviours are a key factor in the transmission of STBBIs, they cannot be divorced from the legacy of colonialism for Indigenous Peoples. A key example is the way in which Indigenous Peoples' history of residential schools and intergenerational trauma, including physical, sexual, mental, and emotional abuse, may contribute to patterns of injection drug use, thus indirectly contributing to heightened rates of HIV and HCV among Indigenous populations (Burchell et al., 2014), and poorer sexual health outcomes generally (Craib et al., 2009; Healey, 2014a, 2014b, Varcoe & Dick, 2008, Wilk et al., 2017).



The legacy of racism and discrimination that Indigenous people have and continue to experience has had significant impacts on their access to health services that are both accessible and culturally safe

(Nguyen et al., 2020).



The means by which colonialism and intergenerational trauma contribute to disproportionately high rates of STBBIs among Indigenous populations are both direct and indirect. As a result of colonialism, Indigenous women and girls experience high levels of violence and sexual abuse (Heidinger, 2022), inhibiting their ability to exercise sexual agency over safe sex practices, such as their ability to decide whether to have sex or whether a condom or other contraception will be used. High rates of violence, abuse, mental health issues, and addictions among Indigenous populations can increase the risk of contracting STBBIs through compounding stigmas, engagement in riskier sexual health behaviours, and poorer adherence to STBBIs treatment (Armenta et al., 2021; Burchell et al., 2014). The legacy of colonialism also manifests in socioeconomic marginalization of Indigenous people, including higher levels of poverty, inadequate housing, and poorer educational and employment outcomes, all of which can heighten the risk of STBBIs in Indigenous populations

(Andermann, 2017). The legacy of racism and discrimination that Indigenous people have and continue to experience has had significant impacts on their access to health services that are both accessible and culturally safe (Nguyen et al., 2020). Further, social exclusion and racial discrimination can be internalized in ways that affect self-esteem and self-efficacy, which in turn affects risk-taking and health seeking behaviours (Wynne & Currie, 2011). Colonial policies that denigrated Indigenous cultures and ways of life attempted to erase Indigenous Peoples' healthy views on sexuality and gender expression, creating an environment of stigma and shame, which is a known barrier to accessing STBBI prevention and sexual health services, such as testing (Barkman et al., 2022).

Collectively, the impacts of colonialism present challenges to STBBI prevention and care in Indigenous communities. Each of these impacts (also known as determinants) intersects with other determinants in ways that increase the risk of STBBI transmission for Indigenous people. Further, when in the face of multiple competing life challenges, some Indigenous people may prioritize meeting immediate physical needs over sexual health concerns (Healey, 2016; MacPhail & McKay, 2018).

Socioeconomic factors

Literature suggests that socioeconomic factors are significant determinants of health that influence the rates and trends of STBBIs in Indigenous populations. Indigenous Peoples face significant socioeconomic disparities compared to the general population in Canada, including in the areas of poverty, housing, food insecurity, employment, education, and literacy (National Collaborating Centre for Indigenous Health [NCCIH], 2017a, 2017b, 2017c, 2020). Research on HIV trends in Ontario suggests that housing instability is a risk factor for HIV, and that frequent moves particularly during childhood – may be an indicator of poor



Providing information about STBBIs in culturally appropriate ways is important for reducing stigma and dispelling myths around STBBIs and sexual health

(CAAN & CATIE, 2017; Woodgate et al., 2017a).

health outcomes (Burchell et al., 2014). The authors emphasize that housing instability and moving frequently may affect an individual's ability to form "strong social networks, maintain employment and schooling, and have continuity in the health care services they receive," all of which may affect HIV risk (Burchell et al., 2014, p. 33). For example, strong social networks play key roles in STBBI prevention by influencing sexual risk-taking behaviours and diffusing sexual health information (Pagkas-Bather et al., 2020). Additionally, as schools are primary sites for sexual health education, disruptions to education brought about due to housing instability can present a challenge to successfully instilling public health education among a segment of the youth population who fail to receive adequate sexual health education (Burchell et al., 2014).

Poverty and food security are other factors that contribute to increased risk of STBBIs among Indigenous populations (Lys

et al., 2019; Minichiello et al., 2013; NCCIH, 2020). Poverty increases biological susceptibility to HIV through food insecurity and malnutrition, is a driver of Indigenous migration into urban centres, which are sites of increased HIV infection. and is linked to a lack of access to health care (e.g., ability to pay transportation costs to medical appointments, health insurance, medications, or certain treatments) and inability to afford condoms (Duncan et al., 2011). Access to food and stable housing are important for helping HIV patients manage their illness with medications (German & Latkin, 2012) and for improving physical and mental health outcomes generally (Rourke et al., 2012; Zurba et al., 2012). In a study conducted by Logie et al. (2019b), in collaboration with an Indigenous sexual health program in the Northwest Territories (NWT), researchers found that food insecurity was associated with lower safer sex efficacy among youth. Their research points towards multiple pathways from food insecurity to HIV risk,

including whereby food insecurity can lead to depression and substance use, which in turn may reduce safe sex practices (Logie et al. 2019b).

Education and literacy are also key determinants of STBBI risk among Indigenous populations. Stigma related to sexual health and myths about STBBIs can flourish in an environment where education and literacy are lacking. Educational attainment has been found to be associated with knowledge about STBBIs and increased prevalence of condom use (Kinasevych, 2011). Educational attainment is also an important factor in risk awareness, which affects risktaking behaviours, and in poverty reduction, which affects STBBI transmission (Scheidell et al., 2018). Providing information about STBBIs in culturally appropriate ways is important for reducing stigma and dispelling myths around STBBIs and sexual health (CAAN & CATIE, 2017; Woodgate et al., 2017a).

Intimate partner violence

Indigenous women experience disproportionately high rates of gendered violence (Heidinger, 2022). Logie et al.'s (2019a) research highlights links between intimate partner violence (IPV) and safer sex efficacy among female Indigenous youth. The authors emphasize that IPV may play a role in shaping sexual risk and sexual agency among female youth, including agency over condom use.

The Cedar Project, initiated in 2003 by an independent body of Indigenous Elders, leaders, health and social service experts, and academics in British Columbia, sought to understand connections between the ongoing impacts of colonialism and STI transmission among young Indigenous people who use drugs in Vancouver and Prince George. They found multifaceted associations between sexual abuse and STI rates among project participants (Chavoshi et al., 2013). In particular, young women were less likely to use condoms consistently during sex if they had been victims of recent sexual abuse. The study also found that sexual abuse impacts mental health, empowerment, and overall health vulnerabilities, which can put women at greater risk for drug dependence, homelessness, and other factors that, in turn, may increase their likelihood of contracting HIV.

When addressing IPV and HIV risk, it is crucial to situate HIV prevention and care within the context of relationships. A qualitative study among Indigenous women in Quebec suggests that decision making regarding HIV prevention is complex and dependent on relationships and power dynamics – all of which are tied to gender inequalities and women's empowerment (O'Brien et al., 2020). Therefore, sexual agency and HIV prevention cannot be considered separate from relational power dynamics, and gender equity and empowerment should be threaded into prevention programming.

Abuses of power

Abuses of power can also contribute to the spread of STBBIs in Indigenous communities (Gesink et al., 2016; Lys et al., 2019). Gesink et al. (2016) conducted interviews with community members from one First Nation in Alberta to better



understand the high rates of STIs and how they can be reduced, based on Cree ways of knowing. From hearing numerous stories of abuse, violence, and trauma, their research highlighted abuse of power in relationships as a central theme to understand the high rates of STIs. This abuse of power occurred at multiple levels, including the person-toperson, kinship, intergenerational, communal, societal, and system levels, and resulted in mental. emotional, and spiritual wounds. Some participants attributed the high rates of STIs to individuals seeking "medicines" like sex, drugs, and alcohol to end their pain and suffering from these wounds. Some participants also talked about how fear of being kicked out or abandoned can prevent young girls from reporting sexual abuse from family

members, creating an environment of silence and a normalization of sexual abuse. Others spoke about how abuse of power in monogamous relationships led to decreased safety and inability to negotiate condoms, a finding echoed in other studies (Devries & Free, 2010; Krüsi et al., 2018; Pulerwitz et al., 2002). Participants in Gesink et al.'s (2016) study identified ceremony, traditional teachings, and the restoration of relationships as medicines that promoted healing, thereby suggesting that resolving abuse of power in relationships and focusing on methods grounded in traditional teachings and ceremonies may help reduce the risk of STBBIs.

Abuse of power was also found to contribute to STBBI transmission among youth from the Northwest Territories (Lys et al., 2019) and in Corosky and Blystad's (2016) study of Inuit youth's access to sexual health and rights in Arviat, Nunavut. In Lys et al.'s (2019) study, some participants identified the predatory behaviours of older men who invited younger women to party with them as one of the biggest sexual health issues facing women in their community, as sexual activity was often not consensual and did not involve use of contraceptives. In this study, access to alcohol became the tool by which power was exercised by the older men over younger women. In Corosky and Blystad's (2016) study, the normalization of sexual abuse in the community was identified as a source of powerlessness for Inuit girls and a barrier to sexual health support.





Child abuse

Research suggests that both sexual and emotional child abuse can increase exposure to HIV and HCV by influencing behaviours that are associated with higher exposure risk. Child abuse has been associated with several risk factors, including: increased alcohol and substance abuse, homelessness, self-harm, suicide ideation and attempted suicide, mental illness, multiple sexual partners, sex work, and experiences of overdose (Bucharski et al., 2006; Pearce et al., 2008; Ross et al., 2015). These conditions place individuals at increased risk of HIV and other STBBI infections (Bucharski et al.,

2006). Findings from the Cedar Project cohort affirm these results, referring to the pathways between childhood maltreatment and HIV/hepatitis C infection as a "cascade of consequences," including sex and drug-related risk behaviours (Pearce et al., 2021, p. 7). Because Indigenous populations in Canada have disproportionately high rates of childhood abuse due to the effects of colonialism (Corosky & Blystad, 2016; Fallon et al., 2021; Trocmé et al., 2021), researchers have found that Indigenous individuals who have experienced childhood abuse represent a "high risk group within a high risk group" in regards to hepatitis C risk factors (Parmar et al., 2016, p. 6).

Mental health issues and addictions

Research has shown that Indigenous populations are at increased risk of experiencing mental health and substance use disorders (Antonio & Chung-Do, 2015). These health disparities have been attributed to the impact of historical trauma on Indigenous Peoples (Gone et al., 2019; Jongbloed et al., 2016). Mental health problems and addictions may elevate the risk of STBBIs through injection drug use and sexual risk-taking pathways (Argento et al., 2019; Kalichman et al., 2013; Mooney-Somers et al., 2011), hampered helpseeking behaviours (Benz et al., 2021), and a failure to adhere to



STBBI treatment (Kalichman et al., 2013; Willie et al., 2016).

Injection drug use is one of the most common determinants of HCV (Skinner et al., 2018) and HIV (Haddad et al., 2018; Tarasuk et al., 2021) infections among Indigenous populations. Studies examining risk of STBBIs among sex workers found that Indigenous sex workers were more than twice as likely than their non-Indigenous counterparts to be living with HIV and that substance use was associated with this increased risk (Duff et al., 2013; Goldenberg et al., 2014; Shannon et al., 2007; Wood et al., 2007). In one study, acohol and drug use were found to be associated with reduced condom use among youth living

in the Northwest Territories, the majority of whom were Indigenous (Logie et al., 2018c). Substance abuse has also been identified as a barrier to accessing and engaging with STBBI care and prevention services (Falade-Nwulia et al., 2016; MacAfee et al., 2019; Tingey et al., 2022).

Mental health shapes STBBI transmission and prevention. In Logie et al.'s (2018b) study of mental health factors associated with STBBI vulnerability among young women in the Northwest Territories, the majority of whom were Indigenous, depression was found to have an indirect effect on high-risk sexual practices (such as having multiple sex partners) through substance use. Drugs may be used as a coping mechanism for dealing with emotional trauma, which in turn contributes to riskier sexual health behaviours (Argento et al., 2019; Shrier et al., 2001). This connection between mental health, substance abuse, and STBBIs highlights the value of integrated and co-located mental health, substance abuse, and sexual health services as a way of reaching and engaging populations at risk of STBBIs (Mendlowitz et al., 2023a; Salway et al., 2019; Socías et al., 2019).



Stigma

Multiple forms of stigma intersect to influence STBBI transmission and prevention among Indigenous populations. In addition to stigma related to being Indigenous, sexual orientation, and having an STBBI, colonialism has played a significant role in the development of stigma surrounding sexuality and bodies by enforcing normative ideas of shame around sex and imposing western understandings of gender and sexuality based on a heterosexual man/woman binary (Burns, 2020; Hunt, 2016; Sanderson et al., 2021). Colonialism, with its disruption to traditional coping mechanisms and healing processes, has been identified as a key factor in allowing sexual health related stigma and shame to arise in Indigenous communities where none existed previously (Armenta et al., 2021; Gesink et al., 2016). As a result, talking about sexual health is almost taboo, fostering a silence in many Indigenous communities that inhibits discussion on STBBIs (Barkman et al., 2022). This can result in misconceptions about transmission risk and reduced awareness of prevention services (Armenta et al., 2021; Barkman et al., 2022). Sexual stigma is thus a known barrier to STBBI prevention and a key driver of health disparities (Layland et al., 2020).

Despite efforts to reduce stigma surrounding STBBI infections in Canada and globally, significant stigma remains for Indigenous individuals seeking prevention, testing, and ongoing treatment for STBBIs, leading to avoidance of and delays in accessing sexual health prevention and care services (Barkman et al., 2022; Lys et al., 2019; MacLean, 2018). According to MacLean (2018), health and social service settings can be significant sources of stigma due to a number of contributing factors, including: care provider behaviours and attitudes, social norms and perceptions of behaviours (e.g., moral judgements on sexual activity or substance use), and a lack of cultural safety and accessibility for care recipients. There is also significant stigma associated with STBBIs at the societal level, as individuals may feel stigmatized by their peers, employers, and community members. These different levels

of stigma can intersect to impact self-esteem, well-being, and health-seeking behaviour.

The barriers of stigma and shame can be particularly significant in small Indigenous communities, where care providers may be personally known to individuals accessing sexual health services and the ability to maintain confidentiality and anonymity cannot be assured, especially among youth who may feel judged, ashamed or embarrassed about being sexually active at their age (Barbour, 2017; Barkman et al., 2022; Gesink Law et al., 2008; Lys et al., 2019; O'Brien et al., 2020). In contrast, Barkman et al. (2022) found that individuals accessing STBBIrelated health services in urban communities have greater physical access to health services, have more readily available information about STBBIs and testing, and experience less stigma associated with sexual health and more

Despite efforts to reduce stigma surrounding STBBI infections in Canada and globally, significant stigma remains for Indigenous individuals seeking prevention, testing, and ongoing treatment for STBBIs, leading to avoidance of and delays in accessing sexual health prevention and care services

(Barkman et al., 2022; Lys et al., 2019; MacLean, 2018).

openness about sexuality, resulting in more normalized behaviours in relation to taking actions that promote sexual health.

In addition to stigma related to STBBIs and sexual health, being a member of the LGBTQ2S+ community can also compound barriers to appropriate sexual health services. The dominant discourse that constructs cisgender and heterosexual persons as normal, while obscuring sexual and gender diversity can render LGBTQ2S+ persons invisible in research, policies, and programs that address their sexual health needs (Logie et al., 2018a). This can inhibit "access to safer sex information for same-sex practices..."; constrain "access to safer sex resources and LGBTO2S+ affirmative sexual healthcare;" and contribute to sexual stigma (Logie et al., 2018a, p. 2). Sexual stigma may be amplified for LGBTQ2S+ persons living in rural areas due to "community norms that [devalue] same sex identities and stigma surrounding LGBTQ[2S+]-specific services and agencies" (Logie & Lys, 2015, p. 2; see also Dahl et al., 2015; Logie et al., 2019c).

It is important to emphasize that STBBI stigma does not exist in isolation from other forms of stigma and discrimination faced by Indigenous populations in Canada (Goodman et al., 2017; Malama et al., 2023; Smye et al., 2023). MacLean (2018) references



the layered stigma that can occur when the stigma of STBBIs is compounded by other identities or behaviours, such as sexual activity (e.g., multiple sexual partners or engaging in sex work), sexual orientation, and injection drug use. These intersecting stigmas may be further exacerbated by racism and discrimination, as Indigenous identity may provoke certain stereotypes and biases. Other intersecting stigmas include mental health issues and class. Collectively, these intersecting stigmas can present multiple barriers to accessing safer sex and harm reduction resources and lead to reduced safer sex efficacy (Logie et al., 2018a; Poteat & Logie, 2022). There is a need to consider the importance of these intersecting stigmas when trying to understand the experiences of Indigenous Peoples and STBBIs, particularly when considering the ways in which certain Indigenous populations may be subjected to multiple harms.

Access to health services

Having timely access to health care is critical for controlling STTBIs (Fairley, 2018). Indigenous communities and populations face unique barriers to accessing health services. In rural, remote, and northern communities, access to STBBI preventive services, early diagnosis, and treatment may be challenged by geographical remoteness and small population size. Access to health services in general may be constrained by a lack and transiency of qualified health care providers, reduced hours of health service operation, stigma, confidentiality issues, absence of primary care services, or the need to travel long distances to access services when they are not available locally, all of which impact continuity of care (Barbour, 2017; Corosky & Blystad, 2016; Fairley, 2018; Gesink Law et al., 2008; Larcombe et al., 2019). Although

testing for STBBIs, such as HIV and HCV, continues to expand across the country, access to testing varies widely across geographic contexts.

Literature has increasingly focused on the importance of point-ofcare testing (POCT) to improve accessibility of testing for HIV and other STIs. POCT refers to the testing of samples outside of central laboratories and in locations closer to the patients, such as in a physician's office, pharmacy, ambulance, long-term care facility, or in a patient's home, and is usually offered in conjunction with pre- and posttest counselling (Cowling & Dolcine, 2017). POCT generally utilizes a small portable medical device that can analyze samples and generate results at the time of testing (Madimenos et al., 2022). According to the BC Centre for Disease Control (BCCDC, 2012), POCT should be offered for routine testing at health services accessed regularly (i.e., family practices or health clinics), with additional targeted POCT testing offered to key populations through outreach services.

Research has shown that POCT can facilitate timely linkages to treatment and care (LeBlanc, 2019); as such, it offers a promising strategy for improving health outcomes for Indigenous individuals with STIs (Hughes & Fifer, 2018). However, a review of HIV testing in Canada in 2017 highlighted that POCT may not be available in many rural and remote communities, including in Indigenous communities. In 2017, there was no access to HIV POCT in the territories (Yukon, NWT, and Nunavut) or in any of the Atlantic provinces (Minichiello et al., 2017). More recently, some POCT has been initiated in the Northwest Territories, Nunavik, and Nunavut to respond to outbreaks of syphilis (Caya et al., 2022; Government of the Northwest Territories, 2022; Singh et al., 2022), while New Brunswick (Gould, 2018), Newfoundland (CATIE, 2020), and Prince Edward Island (Spencer, 2019) have initiated some POCT for either HIV, HPC, or both. To improve health outcomes among Indigenous populations, integrated care pathways are needed, with POCT offered in conjunction with rapid and complete treatment, partner notification, and regular testing (Hughes & Fifer, 2018). Community engagement and decision-making will be essential in the development and delivery of these services to improve "trust and access to care" (Hughes & Fifer, 2018, p. 1055).

Availability of self-testing options also offers the potential to increase access to STBBI testing in Indigenous communities. Self-testing allows individuals to collect their own samples and mail them to a lab for analysis. It offers the benefits of empowering individuals and reducing stigma associated with STBBIs; however, it also has some drawbacks. These may include a lengthier wait time for results, with resulting risk of not receiving timely counselling or access to treatment; as well as the risk of false-negatives and potentially prohibitive cost of test kits (Atkinson, 2020). Self-testing kits have been used successfully to test for HIV and other STIs like gonorrhoea and Chlamydia, including in resource-limited Indigenous communities. For example, one Métis community in Alberta piloted a dried blood spot (DBS) testing⁸ project to identify STIs, which was administered by locally trained staff from a community service and offered in conjunction with related health information. DBS test users had very positive experiences, felt the test was easy, received adequate information about STIs, and indicated they would recommend the test to others and use it again in the future (Atkinson, 2020). Self-testing can also be linked with Internet/mobile-App based clinical

⁸ DBS testing involves prinking the skin, usually on the fingertip, and blotting the blood onto a filter paper called a Guthrie card, then shipping the sample to a lab for analysis.

management and support to help address barriers to accessing STI testing services in urban areas, including concerns around long wait times and lack of privacy; however, users would require access to these devices and have the necessary technology skills to use them (Fuller et al., 2013; Gilbert et al., 2017). Moreover, research among Inuit and First Nations women has found self-testing for HPV, which involves inserting a swab and collecting a sample, then shipping the sample to a lab for analysis, is acceptable, accurate, and preferred over providerdirected Pap screening for HPV (Cerigo et al., 2012, 2013; Zehbe et al., 2011, 2017).

Access to testing and treatment for STBBIs can be complex for rural and isolated communities, particularly for HCV. According to Skinner et al. (2018), treatment for HCV requires access to medical services (e.g., fibroscan, staging of liver disease) that are typically delivered by specialists in urban centres. This means that individuals from rural and isolated communities would likely have to travel to urban centres to get treatment for HCV infections. Barbour's (2017) research notes barriers to accessing health services in a rural Indigenous community in the Atlantic region, finding transportation from one's

home community to centralized healthcare services can be difficult for those without a means of transportation. Having to rely on community transportation services may threaten confidentiality and anonymity if drivers are known to the patient.

There are a number of jurisdictional complexities that can act as barriers to adequate and consistent care for Indigenous populations, including difficulties in navigating complicated or disjointed referral processes between federal, provincial/territorial, and local Indigenous service providers (Dunn et al., 2021). Further issues relate to First Nations individuals living off reserve and their ability to access specific health services, since programs and services offered by First Nations communities are usually only available to onreserve populations due to limited capacity, limited funding, or other factors (BC Association of Aboriginal Friendship Centres [BCAAFC], 2020).

Further, the literature suggests that distrust in the healthcare system among Indigenous populations is also a significant barrier to receiving not only STBBI-related preventive and treatment care, but overall health care in general (Negin et al., 2015; O'Brien et al., 2020; Pearce et al., 2021). The roots of this distrust are multifaceted and grounded in Indigenous Peoples' historical and contemporary experiences with the healthcare system (Jacklin et al., 2017). These experiences include, although are not limited to, forced medical experimentation conducted on Indigenous populations, including

There are a number of jurisdictional complexities that can act as barriers to adequate and consistent care for Indigenous populations, including difficulties in navigating complicated or disjointed referral processes between federal, provincial/territorial, and local Indigenous service providers

(Dunn et al., 2021)

nutritional experiments in the residential schools and testing of new vaccines (Jacklin et al., 2017; Greenwood & MacDonald, 2021; Mosby & Swidrovich, 2021); segregated substandard health care facilities and services, also known as Indian hospitals (Greenwood & MacDonald, 2021); uninformed and coerced sterilizations (Collier, 2017; Stote, 2017); and the policy and practice of "birth alerts"⁹ (Matheson et al., 2022; Tyler Doenmez et al., 2022).

Distrust in the healthcare system is compounded by a lack of culturally-safe and accessible health services for Indigenous patients, especially in urban centres (Bucharski et al., 2006; Pilarinos et al., 2023; Weerasinghe et al., 2023). Past negative experiences with the healthcare system, such as perceptions of being denied care, inferior care, negative stereotyping of Indigenous Peoples, racism, all forms of discrimination, and policies unsupportive of culture further undermine trust in mainstream health services (Browne, 2017; Browne et al., 2016; Jacklin et al., 2017; Lavoie et al., 2015; McCallum & Perry, 2018; Wylie et al., 2019; Wylie & McConkey, 2019). According to a study on

Indigenous women's perspectives on culturally appropriate HIV care, participants shared they may avoid seeking mainstream care due to discriminatory treatment experienced by themselves or filtered down through the memories of generations of Indigenous people (Bucharski et al., 2006). When Indigenous patients are also members of the LGBTQ2S+ community, trust in the healthcare system may be further eroded when they feel judged by their healthcare provider or receive services that are not gender inclusive (Logie et al., 2019c). Addressing these issues can be challenging.

Given the central role that colonialism has played in helping to foster Indigenous health disparities and creating distrust in the mainstream health system, addressing these challenges will require attention and action toward reconciliation between Indigenous and non-Indigenous peoples in relation to health. The Truth and **Reconciliation Commission** (TRC) of Canada (2015) offers several key recommendations for working towards reconciliation, all of which may apply to improving Indigenous Peoples'

access to STBBI health services. These include:

- establishing, in consultation with Indigenous Peoples, measurable goals to identify and close the gaps in health outcomes between Indigenous and non-Indigenous communities and publishing annual reports;
- 2. addressing jurisdictional disputes concerning Indigenous people who do not reside on reserves and recognizing the distinct needs of Inuit, Métis, and off-reserve First Nations;
- recognizing the value of Indigenous healing practices and using them in the treatment of Indigenous patients when requested;
- increasing the number of Indigenous health care professionals;
- providing cultural competency training for all health care professionals; and
- 6. ensuring medical and nursing students are taught about Indigenous Peoples' histories, teachings, practices, and rights, and acquire skills in intercultural competency, conflict resolution, human rights, and anti-racism.

⁹ In the past, hospitals have issued alerts to provincial child and family services to notify them of Indigenous births, often based on their own prejudicial assumptions about the parents and under the false pretext of ensuring the infant's safety and well-being. These birth alerts were associated the threat of state apprehension of infants.

Given the central role that colonialism has played in helping to foster Indigenous health disparities and creating distrust in the mainstream health system, addressing these challenges will require attention and action toward reconciliation between Indigenous and non-Indigenous peoples in relation to health.

General rates and trends of STBBIs in Indigenous populations

As noted, general rates and trends of STBBIs in Indigenous populations are not easily identified through national-level data due to limitations in the variables collated from provincial and territorial reporting sources. Additionally, available STBBI data may underrepresent true STBBI rates and trends, as they account for only those who self-disclose diagnoses in research settings (e.g., surveys) and diagnoses recorded in medical settings. The following sections summarize available



data on STBBIs from various data sources, including federal surveillance reports, provincial/ territorial surveillance reports, and research projects. However, the authors recognize there are limitations in the relevance of certain datasets to all Indigenous populations across Canada and the conclusions drawn from studies that are dated (released prior to 2013) and restricted in terms of geographic scope and populations of focus. Despite these limitations, there are observable historic and ongoing trends in which Indigenous populations are disproportionately impacted by STBBIs in Canada, and more specifically by HIV and hepatitis C.

Notifiable STBBIs

Chlamydia

Nationally, PHAC (2013) estimated that in 2013, rates of Chlamydia were almost seven times higher among Indigenous adults compared to non-Indigenous adults. This disparity was also noted among First Nations adults in the 2008/10 Regional Health Survey, conducted by the First Nations Information Governance Centre (FNIGC) in 2012.

Some regional surveillance data from Saskatchewan and Alberta reveal exceptionally high rates of Chlamydia among First Nations. In Saskatchewan, rates of



Chlamydia among First Nations increased from 1616.0 cases per 100,000 population in 2007 to 2064.9 cases per 100,000 in 2012, before decreasing to 1770.8 per 100,000 in 2016 (Indigenous Services Canada [ISC], 2018). These rates were 7.2 times, 6.8 times, and 5.2 times higher than the corresponding rates for Canada over these periods, suggesting that the gap between the two populations may be declining over time, perhaps due to increased awareness and availability of testing, screening, and contact tracing activities. Between 2008 to 2013, Chlamydia accounted for 51.1% of reported communicable diseases in Saskatchewan's Northern Inter-Tribal Health Authority Region (Lam et al., 2017). Health Canada's Medical Officer of Health (2013) in Alberta reported increasing rates of STIs among on-reserve First Nations over the period 2007-2011. Chlamydia was the most commonly reported STI, with rates increasing by 50% over this period. Vertical transmission of Chlamydia was also tracked over this period at a rate of 1.4 per 10,000 live births (Medical Officer of Health, 2013).

The highest rates of Chlamydia have been reported in Canada's northern regions. While surveillance data for these regions often do not disaggregate by Indigenous populations, it is important to remember that Indigenous people represent the majority of the population in the Northwest Territories (51%) and Nunavut (86%) (ISC, 2020). Over the period 2010-2015, the rate of reported laboratoryconfirmed cases of Chlamydia was 2002.5 per 100,000 people in the Northwest Territories and 3791.2 per 100,000 in Nunavut, compared to the national average of 325.0 per 100,000 (Choudhri et al., 2018b). By 2020, this rate had increased to 3816.1 per 100,000 population (PHAC, 2023d). Collectively, Chlamydia accounted for approximately 54% of all reported diseases and 74% of all STIs reported in Nunavut over the period 2007 to 2014 (Office of the Chief Medical Officer of Health, 2016). In 2013, the age-standardized rate of Chlamydia in Nunavut was 3000 per 100,000 population compared to less than 500 per 100,000 population for the rest of Canada (Office of the Chief Medical Officer of Health, 2016). The Government of Quebec also reports widespread Chlamydia infection in the Nunavik region, which is predominately Inuit. In 2017, the incidence rate for Chlamydia was 18 times higher in this region than the rest of the province (Institut National de Santé Publique du Québec, 2017). Over the period 2013 to 2017, the rate of Chlamydia infection in this region increased by more than 44%.

In contrast, Chlamydia rates are much lower among on-reserve First Nations in the Atlantic provinces. The crude rate of Chlamydia declined from 9 per 1000 persons in 2011 to 4 per 1000 persons in 2015, which was slightly higher than the Canadian rate of 3 per 1000 persons (First Nations and Inuit Health Branch, 2016).

Gonorrhoea

The available evidence is limited for gonorrhoea, but what exists suggests Indigenous populations have disproportionately higher rates than the non-Indigenous population. In Saskatchewan, the rates of gonorrhoea among First Nations increased from 540.3 per 100,000 to 638.7 per 100,000 from 2007 to 2012, then decreased to 445.7 per 100,000 population in 2016 (ISC, 2018). In comparison, the rates of gonorrhoea for Canada were 36.1 per 100,000, 37.5 per 100,000, and 65.4 per 100,000 over 2007, 2012, and 2016 respectively. In the Northern Inter-Tribal Health Authority Region of Saskatchewan, 16.8% of the communicable diseases reported over the period 2008-2013 were gonorrhoea infections (Lam et al., 2017).

Again, rates of gonorrhoea appear to be especially high in Nunavut. The age-standardized incidence rate of gonorrhoea declined from 2010 to 2014, accounting for about 25% of all STIs reported in the territory over that period (Office of the Chief Medical Officer of Health, 2016). Nevertheless, the agestandardized rate of gonorrhoea was nearly 27 times higher than the rest of Canada in 2013 (600 per 100,000 vs. 50 per 100,000 population). In 2018, the reported rate of gonorrhoea was 1911.1 per 100,000 population in Nunavut, compared to 95.8 per 100,000 population for Canada (PHAC, 2018b). By 2020, that rate had increased to 2433.3 per 100,000 population (PHAC, 2023d). Likewise, the highest observed incidence rate for gonorrhoea in Quebec was in the Inuit region of Nunavik, which in 2017 was 28 times that of the provincial rate (Institut National de Santé Publique du Québec, 2017).

Syphilis

Syphilis rates have varied widely among Indigenous populations but have risen dramatically across Canada (PHAC, 2023e). Rates have particularly been rising in the Prairie provinces and among gay and bisexual men who have sex with men (Aho et al., 2022; Singh, 2019), though rates are also rising for heterosexual men and women, with subsequent increases in congenital syphilis (Singh & Romanowski, 2019). Past studies have shown that Indigenous people in Canada may be disproportionately affected by syphilis, due to risk factors such as involvement in sex work

and illicit drug use (Raval et al., 2022; Sankaran et al., 2023; Singh et al., 2007; Singh & Romanowski, 2019).

In Saskatchewan, rates of syphilis have, in the past, been generally lower for First Nations than the general population, apart from in 2010 and 2011 when rates were 1.9 times greater than the Canadian population (ISC, 2018). In 2007, the rate of syphilis was 0.0 per 100,000 for First Nations communities compared to 8.4 per 100,000 for Canada (ISC, 2018), though this may reflect reduced awareness and testing activities among First Nations at that time. Since then, the rate for the First Nations population has increased to 7.2 per 100,000 in 2012 and 6.7 per 100,000 in 2016, compared to 9.8 and 14.8 per 100,000 in 2012 and 2016 for Canada, respectively. More recently, Indigenous Services Canada's top public health physician in Saskatchewan reported surging syphilis rates in First Nations communities in 2022, with a 900% increase in the number of cases reported since 2019 (Ghania, 2022).

In Alberta, over 50% of infectious syphilis cases reported over the period January 1, 2018 to December 21, 2019 were among individuals who identified as Indigenous, of which 41.2% were First Nations and 10.3% were Métis (Raval et al., 2022). Of

374 cases of infectious syphilis diagnosed during pregnancy in Alberta between January 1, 2017 and December 31, 2020, 61% were among individuals who identified as First Nations and 9.6% were among individuals who identified as Métis (Gratrix et al., 2022). Approximately 39.4% of these First Nation and 36% of Métis mothers transmitted congenital syphilis to their infants, compared to 29% of White mothers¹⁰ (Gratrix et al. 2022). Health Canada's Medical Officer of Health (2013) for Alberta also tracked vertical transmission of syphilis to infants among on-reserve First Nations over the period 2007 to 2010, identifying a rate of 2.2 per 10,000 live births.

In the most recent report for which Indigenous data is readily accessible in British Columbia, the proportion of infectious syphilis cases over the period 2008 to 2017 steadily declined for self-identified First Nations people,¹¹ from 8.8% in 2008 to 2.3% in 2017 (BCCDC, 2017). In this report, First Nations women comprised a much larger proportion of syphilis cases among all women in BC compared to the proportion that First Nations men comprised among all men in the province.

In terms of trends, the rate of infectious syphilis decreased among First Nations men from 21.0 per 100,000 population in 2008 to 7.6 per 100,000 in 2010, after which cases steadily increased, peaking in 2013 and 2016 at 23.4 per 100,000 population and 22.4 per 100,000 per population, respectively. A similar decreasing trend was observed among First Nations women, with the incidence rate starting the highest in 2008, with an incidence rate of 18.8 per 100,000, then declining to 1.5 per 100,000 in 2010, followed by an increasing trend that peaked in 2015 at 6.9 per 100,000 and dropped to 2.7 per 100,000 in 2016 and 2017 (BCCDC, 2017). Nevertheless, there has been a resurgence of infectious syphilis in the province in recent years, particularly among females (BCCDC, 2023), which has been associated, in part, to housing instability, substance use, and mental illness (Willemsma et al., 2022). These conditions disproportionately impact Indigenous populations. Approximately 13% of maternal syphilis cases in British Columbia from January 2010 to July 2016 were among women who self-identified as Indigenous (Wong et al., 2016).

Syphilis rates are high among Inuit in Canada's northern regions. In 2019, the Northwest Territories and Nunavut recorded rates of 106.9 per 100, 000 and 259.8 per 100,000 respectively (Harrigan, 2021). PHAC (2020a) reports that Nunavut had the highest rates of infectious syphilis in Canada in 2017, with 234 cases of syphilis per 100,000 (301 cases per 100,000 among females), compared to 11.2 per 100,000 for Canada as a whole. Given that Nunavut's population is predominantly Inuit, these rates indicate that Inuit have the greatest burden of syphilis among Indigenous populations. The Office of the Chief Medical Officer of Health (2016) of Nunavut reported a significant increase in syphilis cases in the territory since 2012. The rate of infectious syphilis increased dramatically over the period 2012 to 2019 for both men and women in Nunavut (Singh et al., 2022). While Nunavut still had the highest reported rate of infectious syphilis in Canada in 2020, at 127.1 per 100,000, with the Canadian rate having increased to 24.7 per 100,000 population, the gap between Nunavut and the rest of Canada has narrowed slightly (Aho et al., 2022). Despite 48 reported cases of syphilis in

¹⁰ Calculated by authors, based on data available in source document.

¹¹ The availability of population estimates of Métis and Inuit people is extremely limited, and approximately 20% of cases had no known ethnicity.
pregnancy, no confirmed cases of congenital syphilis were identified in Nunavut over the period 2012 to 2020 (Singh et al., 2022).

Quebec also reported disproportionately higher rates of infectious syphilis in the Inuit region of Nunavik compared to the province's general population. The incidence rate of infectious syphilis in this region was 236 per 100,000 in 2017, compared to 11 per 100,000 for the province as a whole (Institut National de Santé Publique du Québec, 2017).

HIV

A diverse body of literature details the rates and trends of HIV in Indigenous populations in Canada over the past few decades. The Public Health Agency of Canada (PHAC) reports HIV surveillance data annually, though there has been a decreasing trend of race/ ethnicity information reported for HIV cases, including the use of Indigenous identifiers (PHAC, 2022b). As a result, caution must be exercised in interpreting more recent HIV surveillance data.

In 2020, First Nations, Inuit, and Métis people represented 18.2% of all new HIV infections, an increase of 3.5% since 2018 (PHAC, 2020b, 2022c). PHAC (2022b, 2022d) reports that among an estimated 62,790 people living with HIV in Canada in 2020, approximately 1 in 10 were Indigenous people (5.1% were First Nations, 0.4% Métis, and 5.2% Indigenous unspecified); however, no additional information is provided about sex, age, gender, or geography. The incidence rate of HIV among Indigenous Peoples in 2020 was almost four times that of the general Canadian population (15.2 per 100,000 vs. 4.0 per 100,000) (PHAC, 2022d); however, this rate represents a slight decline since 2017, when it was 16.22 per 100,000 for Indigenous Peoples (Koehn et al., 2021). In previous years, of all HIV cases in Canada with known race/ethnicity, 20.1% reported Indigenous status in 2017, 19.3% did so in 2018, and 24.7% did so in 2019 (Haddad et al., 2019; Haddad et al., 2021).

Province-specific datasets can provide a more detailed glimpse into the rates and trends of HIV infection among Indigenous populations. For example, the BC Centre for Disease Control's







(BCCDC) 2017 annual report on HIV rates notes that between 2008 and 2017, there were 15-52 new HIV diagnoses each year among First Nations people in BC, and five or fewer new HIV diagnoses each year among Métis and Inuit people (BCCDC, 2019). Questionnaires from the Laboratory Enhancement Program (LEP) showed that Indigenous people in Ontario represented 2.7% of HIV diagnoses between 2009 and 2011 (Burchell et al., 2014). According to data from Manitoba's statistical updates on HIV rates, in 2016, 31.2% of new HIV diagnoses, of those who self-reported ethnicity, were among Indigenous people in the province compared to 18.3% among the White ethnic group (Government of Manitoba, 2018). In 2018, approximately 50% of the new HIV cases reported in Manitoba were among those who self-identified as Indigenous (Government of Manitoba, 2019). This represents a substantial increase in the representation of Indigenous populations in new HIV diagnoses since 2006, when Indigenous people comprised 26.3% of new diagnoses in the province (Government of Manitoba, 2018). In contrast, Nunavut reported no HIV/AIDS cases from 2007 to 2014 (Office of the Chief Medical Officer of Health, 2016).

The provinces of Saskatchewan and Alberta are particularly impacted by new HIV diagnoses among First Nations (Lydon-Hassen et al., 2022). Saskatchewan has seen fluctuating trends of HIV diagnoses in First Nations communities over time, where the rate of HIV infection was 16.0 per 100,000 in 2007, 63.6 per 100,000 in 2012, and 45.2 per 100,000 in 2016 – rates that were 2.2, 10.6, and 7.1 times greater than the general Canadian population (ISC, 2018). In Alberta, 15.4% of new HIV cases over the period 2012-2016 were among First Nations (Alberta First Nations Information Governance Centre [AFNIGC], 2018). The HIV incidence rate was four times higher for First Nations males than for non-First Nations males, and eight times higher for First Nations females compared to non-First Nations females (AFNIGC, 2018).

Data and research on prevention and testing behaviours among Indigenous populations in Canada are limited. However, PHAC reports that among respondents of a national attitudinal survey in 2012, 49% of First Nation respondents and 56% of Métis respondents had an HIV test (as cited in Burchell et al., 2014, p. 55).



In a review of Canada's progress on meeting targets set out in the UNAIDS 90-90-90¹² framework for eliminating AIDS globally (UNAIDS, 2014), PHAC (2020b) reports that of the approximately 62,050 people living with HIV, 87% had received an HIV diagnosis, 85% of these individuals were on antiretroviral treatment, and 94% of those on treatment had a suppressed viral load at the end of 2018. However, few studies have been conducted to determine the degree to which the 90-90-90 targets are being met with respect to Indigenous people living with HIV. Drawing on data from all 82 on-reserve First Nations communities in Saskatchewan, PHAC (2022c) reports that at the end of 2020, 88% of those who were diagnosed and living with HIV were on treatment and 78% of those on treatment had achieved viral suppression. Results from Tracks survey of people who inject drugs in Canada, implemented by First Nations in Saskatchewan and Alberta over the 2018-2020 period, show poorer results with an estimated 65% of First Nations diagnosed with HIV and self-aware of their HIV-positive status, 81% of them indicating they were on treatment, and 54% of them indicating they had achieved a suppressed viral load (PHAC, 2022c). In comparison, at the end of 2018, 90% of Indigenous inmates in federal corrections facilities had their HIV status diagnosed, 94% of them were on treatment, and 92% had a suppressed viral load, suggesting that targets may be better met in an institutional environment¹³ (PHAC, 2020b).

Results from the *Tracks survey of people who inject drugs in Canada* suggest that Indigenous people may face considerable structural and social barriers to care and initiation of HIV treatment, based on the continued impacts of colonialism

UNAIDS 90-90-90 targets

Canada has endorsed both the Joint United Nations Programme on HIV/AIDS and the World Health Organization's global health sector strategy on HIV, committing the country to work towards achieving the UNAIDS 90-90-90 global targets set for eliminating AIDS as a public health threat by 2030. The 90-90-90 targets stipulate that by 2020, 90% of individuals living with HIV are aware of their status, 90% of those diagnosed receive antiretroviral treatment, and 90% of those on treatment achieve viral suppression. It is anticipated that by achieving these targets by 2020, the world will be able to eliminate the AIDS epidemic by 2030 (PHAC, 2020b).

and intergenerational trauma, manifested in socioeconomic marginalization, stigma and discrimination, substance misuse, and a history of abuse during childhood or with a sexual partner (Lydon-Hassen et al., 2022; Tarasuk et al., 2020). Some studies have shown that Indigenous people are at risk of not achieving an undetectable viral load (Hosein, 2017; Kerkerian et al., 2018) and of experiencing a viral rebound (Palmer et al., 2018), suggesting that barriers may be hindering their access to care and willingness to adhere to treatment (Jongbloed et al., 2019).



¹² UNAIDS recently released new 95-95-95 targets for ending AIDS that targets 95% of individuals knowing their HIV status, 95% being on antiretroviral treatment, and 95% having achieved a suppressed viral load by 2030 (UNAIDS, 2023).

¹³ Individuals living in institutional environments like federal corrections facilities have access to food, shelter, and in some cases, regular care – factors that are critical for facilitating adherence to HIV treatment and thus, improved health outcomes.

Viral suppression is key to preventing HIV from progressing to its final stage – AIDS. Because the body's immune system is severely compromised, life expectancy for people diagnosed with AIDS is about three years (Minority HIV/ AIDS Fund, 2022). Less is known about the prevalence of AIDS among Indigenous populations in Canada, as statistics tend to be combined with HIV generally. In Ontario, one study revealed rapidly declining rates of diagnoses for AIDS-defining conditions among both Indigenous and non-Indigenous people diagnosed with HIV, from a high of 33% in 1995 for both groups to a low of 6% and 4% for Indigenous and non-Indigenous people, respectively, by 2010 (Burchell et al., 2014). Data from 2006 suggests that among Indigenous groups in Canada, First Nations individuals are over-represented among reported AIDS cases, making up 73.1% of Indigenous AIDS cases reported that year, while Métis and Inuit individuals accounted for 7.3% and 3.6% respectively of these cases (PHAC, 2011a). PHAC (2014b) also noted that from 2001 to 2011, the proportion of AIDS cases increased among Indigenous youth, but declined among white youth.

Hepatitis B

Research on HBV in Indigenous communities is exceptionally limited and generally dated (published prior to 2013). While existing research publications may fall outside the data parameters of the literature search for this paper, they are nevertheless included below to establish a baseline for this virus.

Limited data suggests that Indigenous populations have a higher prevalence of chronic HBV relative to the non-Indigenous population. Martin et al. (2002) provide hepatitis B surveillance data collected from residential First Nations alcohol and drug treatment centres in British Columbia over the period January 1992 to September 2000 and found that 23% of individuals tested were HBV positive, while 10% were positive for hepatitis B core antibody.¹⁴ A more recent study showed decreasing rates of HBV in Canada over the period 1999 to 2008; however, the rate of acute hepatitis B infection was still three times higher among Indigenous compared to non-Indigenous people (PHAC, 2011c). In 2019, the rate of chronic hepatitis B infection in

Nunavut was 10.4 per 100,000 people compared to 13.1 per 100,000 for Canada (PHAC, 2019). This rate was lower than British Columbia, Alberta, Ontario, and Saskatchewan, but higher than Quebec, the Atlantic provinces, and the Yukon. Indigenous populations have been identified as one group at risk of HIV-HBV co-infection due to shared modes of exposure (Cooper et al., 2021).

The childhood vaccination program in Nunavut has been effective in reducing the prevalence of HBV to a nonendemic level since the program's inception in 1980 (Coffin et al., 2019; Huynh et al., 2017). In a study testing serum specimens collected over the period April 2013 to April 2014 for HBV antibodies, surface antigen, and HBV DNA, Huynh et al. (2017) found that prevalence of HBV exposure was only 1.8% among those born after the vaccination program was implemented, compared to 19.8% among those born before the program.



¹⁴ The test for hepatitis B core antibody can detect the presence of the core protein of the virus, indicating a person has been infected with HBV, but it cannot tell whether the person has cleared the virus, still has it, or is immune to reinfection. In contrast, hepatitis B surface antigen detects the presence of HBV, with a positive result meaning the person is currently infected and can transmit the infection to others (Center for Substance Abuse Treatment, 2011).

Hepatitis C

While rates of HCV have fluctuated widely among Indigenous populations in Canada, it is routinely between 3 and 6 times higher among Indigenous populations than the national average (Bruce et al., 2019; ISC, 2018). PHAC's analysis of available data sources shows that in 2008, reported incidence rates of HCV were almost five times higher among Indigenous compared to non-Indigenous people (Atkinson, 2020; Pearce et al., 2021). However, the rate of HCV appears to be lower among Inuit than the general Canadian population. In 2019, Nunavut had the lowest rate of HCV in the country at 5.2 per 100,000 people (PHAC, 2021d). The rate of newly diagnosed HCV was three times higher among First Nations living on reserve in 2016 than the general Canadian population (ISC, 2019). Drawing on data from a cohort of Canadian adults born between 1945-1975,¹⁵ a more recent study indicated that in 2019, an estimated 7.35% of the Indigenous population had HCV antibodies compared to 1.03% of the general population, while an estimated 3.5% of the Indigenous population had

chronic hepatitis C compared to 0.87% of the general population (Popovic et al., 2022). Among incarcerated individuals, 22.7% of Indigenous men and 44.8% of Indigenous women were estimated to have HCV antibodies in 2014, compared to 18.6% and 22.7% of incarcerated men and women generally (Bartlett et al., 2021). Injection drug use is a common exposure pathway for HCV infections among Indigenous people (Lourenço et al., 2021), especially among youth (24 years and younger), who accounted for 70-80% of new HCV infections among young people who inject drugs (PHAC, 2011b; Trubnikov et al., 2011; Uhanova et al., 2013).

As with rates of HIV infection, available provincial datasets for HCV provide a more detailed picture of rates and trends of infection among Indigenous populations. Drawing on data from the Enhanced Hepatitis Strain Surveillance System (EHSSS), Burchell et al. (2014) estimated the incidence of HCV among Indigenous Peoples in Ontario over the period 2007-2010 was 71.2 cases per 100,000 population, a rate which was more than twice the 2009 annual incidence rate of HCV (33.7 per 100,000) in Canada. Mendlowitz et al. (2021) examined the prevalence of HCV infection among on- and off-reserve First



...the rate of HCV appears to be lower among Inuit than the general Canadian population. In 2019, Nunavut had the lowest rate of HCV in the country at 5.2 per 100,000 people

(PHAC, 2021d).

¹⁵ This cohort was selected as a priority population who would most likely be undiagnosed.

Nations in Ontario over an eight-year period and found an increase from 0.9 in 2006 to 2.0 per 100 people in 2015, or a rate of 2%. In comparison, the national seroprevalence of laboratoryconfirmed HCV infection over the period 2007-2011 was 0.5%. Mendlowitz et al.'s study also revealed that testing, diagnosis, and prevalence rates of HCV infection were higher among First Nations living off reserve compared to those living on reserve throughout this period, while on-reserve First Nations had larger increases over time.

A twelve-year study (1991 to 2002) on HCV rates in Manitoba revealed a disproportionate burden of HCV infection among Indigenous populations in the province, with the authors reporting that 13.4% of the total 5,018 reported cases of hepatitis C over this period were among First Nations persons (Uhanova et al., 2013). This represented more than twice the proportion of First Nations individuals registered with the Manitoba Health Plan Registry. Compared to the non-First Nations population, First Nations individuals infected with HCV tended to be younger, more often female, and more often residing in urban centres.

Saskatchewan has also reported high rates of HCV infections among First Nation populations. In 2007, the rate of HCV was 129.5 per 100,000 for First Nations in Saskatchewan, compared to 36.5 per 100,000 for Canada as a whole (ISC, 2018). Rates then spiked for First Nations to 190.6 per 100,000 in 2011 and 196.2 per 100,000 in 2015, before declining to 173.0 per 100,000 in 2016. In 2016, the rates of HCV among First Nations living on reserve were three times higher than the overall provincial population and four times higher than the national population (Lydon-Hasson et al., 2022). Skinner et al. (2018) examined regional differences in the rate of HCV in Saskatchewan in 2015. They reported rates of HCV that were six times higher among those living on reserve in southern Saskatchewan compared to the provincial rate (372.0 per 100,000 population vs. 62.7 per 100,000 population), while rates were three times higher in central on-reserve communities (186.7 per 100,000 population) and two times higher in northern on-reserve communities (129.0 per 100,000 population) compared to the provincial rate. They also noted an increasing trend in rates of HCV among First Nations over the years, particularly in the southern communities (Skinner et al., 2018).



In Alberta, the incidence rate of HCV was four times higher among First Nations than non-First Nations (AFNIGC, 2017). In contrast, the rate of HCV among First Nations in Atlantic Canada appears to be similar to provincial averages. Over the period 2011-2015, the rate of HCV among Atlantic First Nations was 6 per 1000, compared to the provincial rates of 8 per 1000 in Nova Scotia, 6 per 1000 in New Brunswick, and 8 per 1000 in Prince Edward Island (First Nations and Inuit Health Branch, 2016).

Research suggests that attention to co-infection with both HIV and HCV is important. According to Burchell et al. (2014), approximately 37% of Indigenous people with HIV in Ontario were co-infected with hepatitis C in 2008. Likewise, of 379 cases of co-infection in BC over the period 1995-2008, Indigenous people accounted for 20.8% of cases (Buxton et al., 2010). However, both of these studies were conducted prior to the advent of direct acting antivirals. Only 6% of Indigenous survey participants in the Tracks survey of people who inject drugs in Canada study were both HIV positive and hepatitis C RNA positive (Tarasuk et al., 2021). Nevertheless, the two diseases share some of the same modes of transmission, which supports the need for co-screening and preventative interventions (Buxton et al., 2010).

Non-notifiable STBBIs

HPV infections

HPV is highly prevalent in Canada, with the majority of sexually active Canadians affected by it at least once in their lifetime (ISC, 2020b). However, studies on the prevalence of HPV among Indigenous populations are lacking, and it is generally difficult to compare between populations and studies because of the absence of information about the type of HPV being reported and whether the HPV carries a high risk of health complications. Poirier et al. (2021) notes that Indigenous populations have a high prevalence of HPV infection and a high incidence of HPV associated cancers. Sethi et al. (2021) undertook a systematic review and meta-analysis of the prevalence of HPV infection in Indigenous populations globally and found a strikingly high pooled prevalence compared to non-Indigenous populations. They identified a pooled prevalence of high-risk HPV infection (both oral and genital sites) at 34.2% among Indigenous populations globally, while the pooled prevalence among American Indigenous populations was 33%. The most common type of HPV was HPV 16, followed by HPV

18, both of which are considered high-risk types of HPV that increase the risk of various forms of cancer (Cassata, 2022; National Cancer Institute, n.d.).

The literature reveals that regions that are predominately comprised of Inuit have high rates of HPV infection and are at high risk of cervical cancers. The region of Nunavik in northern Quebec has been identified as one such region. In studies assessing HPV infection among Inuit women in Nunavik, Metcalfe (2012) determined HPV positivity at 47.6% among a cohort of 548 Inuit women seeking routine care over the period 2002-2010. HPV positivity among a cohort of 676 Inuit women in the region over the period 2002-2006 was determined at 22% by Gauthier et al. (2015), while Gauthier et al. (2018) determined positivity for three types of HPV among a cohort of 677 Inuit women in the region at 17.6%. Drawing on samples collected between January 2002 and December 2007, Bennett and colleagues (2015) found that of 416 Inuit women in the Nunavik region, 40% acquired a new HPV infection of any type, corresponding to a rate of 14.44 infections per 1000 women.¹⁶

Severini et al. (2013) measured HPV type prevalence among women in Labrador in 2010. While they did not compare rates between Indigenous and non-Indigenous women, they did disaggregate the data by region. Focusing on only the two regions where Indigenous women represented 87% of the population, the prevalence of any type of HPV was 24.5% in the North Coast region and 13.5% in the South Coast region.

Several studies have also shown higher rates of HPV infection among First Nations and Métis peoples. Jiang and colleagues (2011, 2013) undertook a crosssectional study of the routine and scheduled Pap testing program in the three territories of Canada and found that HPV infection was 50% higher among Indigenous women compared to non-Indigenous women (27.6% vs. 18.5%). However, this rate was not consistent across all types of HPV, with some types having higher rates among Indigenous populations and others showing no differences between the two populations. This finding is similar to other studies investigating HPV infection in Manitoba conducted by Demers

¹⁶ The authors calculated this incidence rate based on women-months, that is, the "number of months from enrollment to either a first positive test result for the infection of interest or the end of follow-up, defined as the date of the most recent HPV-DNA test, if the woman remained negative for the infection of interest" (p. 273).



and colleagues, which found Indigenous women carried a disproportionate burden of HPV. Demers et al. (2012) undertook analysis of data collected from 2007-2009 in Manitoba and found that 24% of HPV cases among women under 30 years of age and 14.4% of HPV cases among women 30 years and older were Indigenous women. In a 2008 study examining the prevalence of HPV infections among Métis and First Nations living in Manitoba, Demers et al. (2011) found rates that were 2.3 times higher among Métis and First Nations participants compared to non-Indigenous participants (32.7% vs. 14.2%); however, only certain types of HPV were more prevalent among Indigenous populations.

Vaccination is an effective way of preventing HPV and associated cancers; however, studies suggest that uptake of the vaccine may be low among Indigenous populations (MacDonald et al., 2023; Mrklas et al., 2018; Poirier et al., 2021; Whop et al., 2021), as are screening rates for cervical cancer (Henderson et al., 2018). A systematic review of the literature exploring the barriers to vaccine uptake among Indigenous populations globally identified lack of knowledge about HPV and distrust of healthcare systems and vaccines as key factors affecting HPV vaccine uptake (Poirier et al., 2021). The authors

highlight the need for health care providers to develop relationships with Indigenous patients and have honest conversations with Indigenous people about vaccines, in ways that prioritize oral forms of education and utilize stories to enhance "patient understanding and develop a collaborative management approach" (Poirier et al., 2021, p. 10). Enhancing awareness and knowledge about HPV vaccines among Indigenous health workers, emphasizing mother-daughter communication, and centralising men in HPV conversations could also help increase understanding and uptake of HPV vaccines in Indigenous communities (MacDonald et al., 2023; Poirier et al., 2021). Henderson et al. (2018) identified additional barriers to HPV vaccination in Indigenous communities, including resource constraints, service infrastructure gaps, and community sensitivities regarding sexual health promotion. They highlighted the need to address healing from colonization to enhance HPV vaccine uptake. Key elements of this approach include culturally-competent and safe engagement of communities in the development of prevention measures, utilization of a traumainformed lens, strengthened intergenerational ties and Elder involvement to build community capacity for prevention, and involvement of men in sexual health promotion.

Hepatitis A

The research on HAV in Indigenous communities is also exceptionally limited and generally dated (published prior to 2013). The review identified several publications on HAV, all falling outside the scope of this paper's date search parameters, and none of which examined the pathway of transmission. Jin and Martin (2003) tabulated reported cases of HAV among on-reserve First Nations in British Columbia over the period 1991-1996 and found a crude incidence rate of 31 per 100,000 persons per year, a rate that was more than twice that of the provincial rate of 15.1 per 100,000. Pham et al. (2005) conducted a systematic review of seroprevalence of HAV infection in Canada and identified four studies. They found HAV prevalence rates among First Nations and Inuit populations ranging from 75-95%, which were approximately three times that of the non-Indigenous population. The lack of active research in this area is surprising given the well publicized issue of water safety¹⁷ in some Indigenous communities, highlighting a significant knowledge gap.



Subpopulation-level findings

Research has increasingly focused on specific populations and demographics that are shown to be disproportionately impacted by STBBIs in Canada. The literature highlights key differences in STBBI rates and trends among Indigenous youth, Indigenous females, older generations, people who inject drugs (PWID), men who have sex with men, and individuals living in northern communities, discussed below. However, it is important to note that data on STBBI prevalence among specific Indigenous sub-populations is particularly sparse and dated.

Indigenous youth

Evidence suggests that Indigenous populations are diagnosed with both HIV and hepatitis C at a younger age than non-Indigenous Canadians (Andersson et al., 2008; Burchell et al., 2014; Flicker et al., 2008; PHAC, 2011a). According to research done by Flicker et al. (2008), Indigenous youth contract HIV approximately 10 years earlier than the non-Indigenous population in Canada. National data report that 31.6% of HIV diagnoses among Indigenous populations between the years 1998 and 2012 occurred in youth and adolescents aged 15-29 years old, in comparison to 22.2% among non-Indigenous populations in Canada (PHAC, 2011d). Between 2001 and 2011, the proportion of AIDS cases among Indigenous youth increased from 2.7% to 27.8% but declined significantly among White youth from 83.5% to 38.9% over this period (PHAC, 2014a). Data published by the PHAC (2014a) show that over the period 1998-2009, injection drug use was the most common HIV exposure pathway for Indigenous youth, accounting for 64.4% of positive HIV cases in this population. It was also identified as a common exposure pathway for HCV among youth (Lourenço et al., 2021).

According to data collected from the Enhanced Street Youth Surveillance (E-SYS) Cycle 6 cohort, Indigenous street-involved youth may have an increased risk of STBBI infection compared to their non-Indigenous counterparts (PHAC, 2014b). The study, which included a total of 1,325 streetinvolved youth in urban centers, found that a higher proportion

¹⁷ As mentioned earlier, the most common mode of HAV transmission is through the consumption of contaminated water.



of Indigenous youth (33.8%) tested positive for an STBBIs compared to White youth (19.7%) and youth identifying as other ethnicities (27.2%). It also found that prevalence rates for Chlamydia (14.5%), hepatitis C (8.6%), and herpes (19%) were significantly higher among Indigenous youth than those identifying as non-Indigenous.

Indigenous women

Indigenous women are disproportionately represented in HIV and hepatitis C infection rates in Canada (Burchell et al., 2014; Landy & Worthington, 2021; PHAC, 2011d; Uhanova et al., 2013). According to national data, while Indigenous women and girls accounted for approximately 4.9% of all women and girls in Canada in 2016,¹⁸ they represented 40% of all HIV cases among women and girls in 2019 (Haddad et al., 2021). Indigenous women and girls in Saskatchewan and Manitoba are exceptionally over-represented in this data (O'Brien et al., 2020). Studies involving select First Nation populations reveal that women comprise the majority of reported HIV cases within their population (Cedar Project et al., 2008, Shea et al., 2011). In contrast, men comprise the majority of reported HIV cases in the general Canadian population (Gesink et al., 2016; PHAC, 2022c). These gender differences across population groups reflect greater injection drug use among First Nations, which drive the high HIV rates among Indigenous women, while among the general Canadian population, HIV rates largely been driven by men who have sex with men (Shea et al., 2011).

The Cedar Project, a 17-year community-driven research project involving a cohort of 800 study participants in urban centres in British Columbia, found that gendered-differences existed among Indigenous youth as well (Mehrabadi, 2007). In this cohort, Indigenous female youth had higher HIV infection rates (13.1%) than Indigenous male youth (4.3%).¹⁹ Further, rates of HCV were 25.4% among males compared to 43.6% of females. Heightened

¹⁸ Calculated by the author using data from Bleakney & Melvin (2022), Table 1.

¹⁹ Approximately 60% of new infections among Indigenous youth were attributable to injection drug use (Mehrabadi, 2007).



rates of HCV were also identified among Indigenous female youth in Manitoba. In fact, research conducted by Uhanova et al. (2013) found that 55% of Indigenous individuals with new hepatitis C diagnoses were female, compared to 38% of cases in the non-Indigenous population.

A body of literature also presents findings on the rates of STBBIs among incarcerated Indigenous women living in Canada. Recent research on trauma-informed STBBI interventions for incarcerated women and gender-diverse people highlight the concurrent trends of Indigenous female incarceration and STBBI rates in Canada. Although rates are not reported, research has suggested that the prevalence rates of HCV and HIV are higher among federally incarcerated Indigenous women compared to any other population in Canada (Ryan et al., 2020a).

Older generations

As STBBI rates in Indigenous populations are more likely to affect younger generations, there is a paucity of literature on STBBI rates and trends among older generations. One study conducted by Ryan et al. (2020b), titled Successful Aging: Indigenous Men Aging in a Good Way with HIV/AIDS, considers aspects of 'successful' aging among Indigenous men specifically. In this study, the authors note that in 2014, 69.3% of Indigenous people living with HIV in Canada were between the ages of 30 and 49 years. Given these rates, the percentage of older (\geq 50 years of age) Indigenous people living with HIV/AIDS can be expected to increase rapidly, particularly due to the use of antiretroviral therapy to extend the lives of those with HIV diagnoses (Ryan et al., 2020b). The gap in research and literature on HIV/AIDS and older generations is thus a concern in terms of addressing the health needs and priorities of the older Indigenous population (Ryan et al., 2020b).



People who inject drugs

People who inject drugs (PWID) is the primary exposure category for HIV and HCV among Indigenous populations in Canada (Pearce et al., 2021; Skinner et al., 2018). In fact, Burchell et al. (2014) report that injection drug use was a risk factor for 66% of HIV infections among the Indigenous population nationally, compared to 17% of infections in non-Indigenous people. Data from 2011 reports that PWID accounted for 80% of HCV infections among urban Indigenous youth and adolescents under the age of 24 (Miller et al., 2011). Negin et al. (2015) put particular emphasis on the risk of PWID for HIV exposure among Indigenous youth, as Indigenous populations are often over-represented among youth who inject drugs in urban centres

in Canada. Findings from Phase 4 of the *Tracks survey of people who inject drugs in Canada* over the period 2017-2019 reveal that 15.4% of survey respondents who self-identified as Indigenous tested positive for HIV (Tarasuk et al., 2021).

In their study of HIV rates and trends among Indigenous people in Ontario, Burchell et al. (2014) found gendered differences in exposure pathways among Indigenous men and women. They highlighted that injection drug use was the primary exposure category for HIV among Indigenous men (32%), followed by men having sex with men (28%), while Indigenous women were primarily exposed through heterosexual transmission (59%), followed by injection drug use (35%) (p. 18). According to

research by Negin et al. (2015), Indigenous male and female PWID were found to have more frequent injection drug use, a higher likelihood of sharing equipment, and lower access to harm reduction programming.

In a systematic review of literature on HCV prevalence among Indigenous populations conducted in 2017, Bruce et al. (2019) found that the highest rates of HCV among Indigenous people in Canada were among PWID, with rates ranging from 25.7% to 67.6%. Approximately 65.8% of Indigenous survey respondents from the Tracks surveys of people who inject drugs in Canada study had lifetime exposure to HCV infection, while 36.4% had current HCV infection (Tarasuk et al., 2021).



Men who have sex with men

Men who have sex with men (MSM) is often referenced in HIV and hepatitis C literature as a significant category of exposure for new infections. From 1998 to 2012, 6.6% of HIV cases among Indigenous individuals were attributed to the MSM exposure category, and 3.2% were attributed to both MSM and injection drug use (PHAC, 2011a). Between 1998 and 2006, 48.8% of reported AIDS cases among Métis people were attributed to the MSM exposure category, while 27.2% and 27.3% of reported AIDS cases among First Nations and Inuit populations, respectively, were attributed to this exposure category (PHAC, 2014a).

Federal surveillance data show that Northern Canada reports high rates of STBBIs in comparison to southern Canada

(ISC, 2020; Gesink Law et al., 2008; PHAC, 2020a).

Northern communities

Finally, the literature suggests that northern communities may experience STBBI rates and trends in unique ways. Federal surveillance data show that Northern Canada reports high rates of STBBIs in comparison to southern Canada (ISC, 2020; Gesink Law et al., 2008; PHAC, 2020a). STBBI rates in Canada's north are high for both men and women, yet are highest among women in their early 20s (Healey, 2016).

Data gathered in 2013 highlighted rates of Chlamydia, gonorrhoea, and syphilis that were over 10 times higher in Nunavut than the rest of Canada (Healey, 2016). In fact, as was seen in Section 2.2.1, Nunavut had the highest rates of syphilis, gonorrhoea, and Chlamydia in Canada, as well as high rates of HPV, while Nunavik had similarly high rates of STIs.

The Northwest Territories reported high rates of STBBIs from 2003-2012, with data showing a 32% increase over this period, with the majority of cases (82.6%) concentrated in younger populations (below the age of 30) (Logie et al. 2019b). In fact, the prevalence rate of gonorrhoea in the NWT was reported at 12 times the national average. Although these findings are among the general population of the NWT, Indigenous Peoples

comprise 51% of the NWT's population and experience ongoing health disparities within the territory, thus pointing towards an inferred differential impact of these STBBI rates on Indigenous populations in the NWT (Logie et al. 2019b).

Although existing research seems to suggest relatively low rates of HIV in Canada's north in comparison to Indigenous populations in southern Canada, some concerns with this assumption have been identified. Rand (2016) noted that the high birth rate among Inuit, coupled with high STI rates, points towards a pattern of unprotected sexual intercourse in the population, which poses a risk for HIV infection. Further, the author notes that travel between northern communities and the south may also be a risk factor for HIV and hepatitis C infection for Inuit communities. A previous health and social services minister in Nunavut has suggested that the low reported rates of HIV in the territory may be due to a lack of testing and stigma surrounding HIV in northern communities, resulting in a possible under-representation of HIV rates in surveillance data (George, 2003). With the lack of available research and literature on this topic in Nunavut, it is important to exercise caution in interpreting historical STBBI data in northern communities.

In Indigenous communities, STBBI prevention must address the stigma related to sexual health and restore healthy views on sexuality, as well as shift the discourse from being unworthy to empowering Indigenous communities and providing them with the tools they need to protect themselves

(Barkman et al., 2022).



SEXUAL HEALTH PROMOTION AND STBBI PREVENTION IN INDIGENOUS COMMUNITIES

Multi-pronged structural approaches are being considered globally as models of best practice in STBBI prevention (Argento et al., 2019). In Indigenous communities, STBBI prevention must address the stigma related to sexual health and restore healthy views on sexuality, as well as shift the discourse from being unworthy to empowering Indigenous communities and providing them with the tools they need to protect themselves (Barkman et al., 2022). As noted by Neighbors et al. (1994), holistic and strengths-based approaches are needed, as "[i]t is impossible to produce health among the powerless" (as cited in Steenbeek, 2004, p. 256). In the context of Indigenous Peoples, such strengths-based approaches may include increasing knowledge about STBBIs, encouraging commitment to condom use, and normalizing use of STBBI screening services through culturally appropriate health

education. It also may include facilitating improved access to culturally safe services and taking actions on the determinants of health that lead to riskier health behaviours.

This section offers considerations for sexual health promotion and STBBI prevention in Indigenous communities. These considerations are grouped into three themes: addressing the social determinants of health for Indigenous Peoples, improving access to culturally safe and appropriate STBBI health services and programs, and developing culturally appropriate sexual health education. This section also presents some promising practices in STBBI prevention, testing and care, and research relating to Indigenous populations.



Addressing the social determinants of health

Research suggests that STBBI prevention is most effective when approaches address the factors that influence Indigenous people's susceptibility to contracting STBBIs and give attention to the unique contexts and intersecting factors that impact Indigenous people's lived experiences (Landy, 2019). A holistic approach is needed that focuses on redressing social inequities, emphasizes women's empowerment and solidarity, and incorporates both prevention education alongside a focus on general self-esteem, cultural continuity, and healthy relationships (O'Brien et al., 2020). A holistic approach to STBBI prevention is especially important when targeting populations with complex trauma and risk factors, such as people who use drugs or have experienced childhood maltreatment, recognizing that past experiences and circumstances have mediating effects on an individual's likelihood to negotiate safer sex practices

(Pearce et al., 2021). Elements of a holistic approach include consideration of determinants of health that influence STBBIs among Indigenous populations, including:

- education and literacy;
- social exclusion, racism, and discrimination;
- gender-based power imbalances, violence, and abuse;
- mental health and addictions; and
- poverty, food insecurity, and housing.

Improving education and literacy, particularly around STBBIs and the importance of prevention, is critical for addressing stigma, dispelling myths around STBBIs, and increasing risk awareness. It can also lead to transformation and resilience for Indigenous individuals, reflected in a renewed sense of self, ability to find personal strength to carry on and look to the future, a growing sense of individual agency, and increased motivation to share knowledge about STBBIs and its prevention with others (Mooney-Somers et al., 2011). Since schools are important sites for providing information about STBBIs and sexual health and leaving school early can leave youth without the knowledge they need to make sexual health decisions (Kinasevych, 2011), sexual health education must be offered in a variety of settings to reach this harder-to-reach population. As shown by Lys and colleagues (2019), school-delivered sexual health education may also not be meeting the needs of Indigenous youth due to teachers' discomfort with delivering course material. The information provided may be too basic and not adequately cover contraceptive use, or it may not meet the educational needs of LGBTQ2S+ youth. Indigenous youth living in Canada's north identified a need for greater access to accurate and non-judgemental sexual health information (Logie et al., 2018a, 2019c).

STBBI preventative interventions must teach about social exclusion, racism, and discrimination and its impacts on health, and foster youth leadership to increase awareness about these issues and ways to reduce it (Wynne & Currie, 2011). Strengthening social support networks in Indigenous communities, including with peers/friends, family, and sexual partners (Seto, et al., 2011; Steenbeek, 2004), can contribute to improved mental health and

Improving education and literacy, particularly around STBBIs and the importance of prevention, is critical for addressing stigma, dispelling myths around STBBIs, and increasing risk awareness. self-esteem, and the modelling of positive sexual health and risk-taking behaviours, and is important in the dissemination of sexual health information (Brooks et al., 2019; Ramiro et al., 2013; Rand, 2016). STBBI prevention interventions must also address the social contexts of the multiple, intersecting stigmas that can cause Indigenous persons, particularly Indigenous LGBTQ2S+ persons, to feel shame and socially isolated, thus impeding their access to appropriate sexual health information, resources, and services (Logie et al., 2018a). Ensuring that healthcare providers working with Indigenous LGBTQ2S+ persons are nonjudgemental, have knowledge about LGBTQ2S+ health issues, and can provide relevant health information can help patients feel more comfortable and restore their trust in the healthcare system (Logie et al., 2019c). Providing free access to condoms in places where Indigenous youth do not feel like they are under surveillance or judged, in places where they can be accessed 24 hours a day, 7 days a week (Lys et al, 2019; Mooney-Somers et al., 2011), addresses known barriers to accessing STBBI services in rural and remote locations where confidentiality and privacy cannot be assured. Government distribution of condoms for low-income and vulnerable persons is a targeted STBBI strategy that can also help to address poverty (United Nations Population Fund, 2020).

It is important that gendered power imbalances be addressed in STBBI prevention in Indigenous communities. O'Brien et al. (2020) show how conventional approaches commonly used in HIV and HCV prevention, such the "ABC" approach (Abstinence, Be Faithful, Condomize), fail to account for gendered power imbalances in relationships that impact the ability to negotiate safer sex practices. Gendered power imbalances can be addressed in STBBI prevention through a focus on teaching men about their responsibility to use condoms and the need to respect women's rights (Mooney-Somers et al., 2011).

As noted earlier, intergenerational trauma, IPV and other types of abuse, mental health issues, and addictions play key roles in the transmission and prevention of STBBIs among Indigenous populations in Canada. Over the past two decades, a strong body of evidence has emerged showing that connection to one's Indigenous culture is a protective factor in mental health and addictions, and contributes to individual, family, and community well-being (Assembly of First Nations & Government of Canada, 2015; Chandler & Lalonde, 1998; Dijk et al., 2017). Incorporating Indigenous culture into STBBI programs and services offers a pathway to healing and a strengths-based, decolonized approach to health promotion and STBBI prevention (Heidebrecht

et al., 2022; Ryan et al., 2020a). Programs that support healing from trauma; restore mental, physical, spiritual, and emotional health; connect Indigenous people to themselves, others, place, land, and culture; and reduce drugrelated harms have been found to be critical to preventing certain types of STBBIs, particularly HIV (Gesink et al., 2019; Jongbloed et al., 2016). Mental health issues and addictions can also be addressed in STBBI interventions through community-level drug and addiction monitoring programs and increased awareness of factors that promote resilience (Skinner et al., 2018). Attention must also be paid to addressing the impacts of alcohol use on sexual decisionmaking (Rand, 2016).

Beyond addressing the social determinants in STBBI prevention interventions, there is also a need to address the upstream social and economic determinants that contribute to the disproportionately high rates of STBBIs and other health and social inequities among Indigenous populations generally. Any broad federal and provincial strategies that aim to address racism, poverty, food insecurity, housing, family violence, child welfare, and mental health and addictions can be considered an STBBI prevention strategy that focuses on restoring general health and well-being (German & Latkin, 2012; Scheidell et al., 2019; Woodgate et al., 2017a).

Improving access to culturally safe and appropriate sexual health programs and services

Current evidence highlights the importance of community-driven and community-led STBBI programs, services, and health information that incorporates Indigenous knowledge and perspectives, uses decolonizing methodologies, and adopts strengths-based approaches that focus on healing and resilience. STBBI interventions should be developed as a health promotion strategy that entails both personal and community empowerment (Steenbeek, 2004). This process requires engagement with Indigenous Peoples and capacity building (Seto et al., 2011; Skinner et al., 2018). STBBI programs and services led by or developed in partnership with Indigenous populations is necessary to ensure these programs and services meet the needs of communities, reflect available human and material resources to enhance self-help and social support (Steenbeek, 2004), incorporate Indigenous peoples' priorities for STBBI messaging, and utilize communication

mediums that resonate with the target population to enhance the effectiveness of the intervention (Seto et al., 2011). STBBI prevention approaches should be community wide, family-focused, and youth-centred in Indigenous contexts (Rand, 2016). Successful interventions in Indigenous contexts include a focus on: selfefficacy and self-advocacy so that individuals can seek, evaluate, and use information to promote their own health; life skills education, such as communication and negotiation skills; and strategies to build confidence and self-esteem (Ryan et al., 2020a; Steenbeek, 2004; Wynne & Currie, 2011).

Various mechanisms²⁰ that enable the transfer of some health care authority to Indigenous communities and the integration of health services have facilitated better access to culturally appropriate and safe health programs and services, leading to improvements in health outcomes (Wynne & Currie, 2011). These efforts have enabled Indigenous communities and populations to exercise a measure of self-determination²¹ in the design and delivery of culturally appropriate sexual health services and to pool personnel and

resources, such as sexual health, mental health, and addiction services, so that patients can access multiple services in the same location, which provides considerable advantages for sexual health promotion (CAAN & CATIE, 2017; Skinner et al., 2018; Wynne & Currie, 2011).

Training healthcare professionals to integrate STBBI education and prevention into clinic visits for other services can also be very helpful (Wynne & Currie, 2011). Other initiatives that can help build health system capacity include providing mandatory and ongoing cultural safety training to health practitioners to ensure they know how the determinants of health and racism perpetuate risk taking behaviours, affect help-seeking behaviours, and result in health inequities for Indigenous populations (Wynne & Currie, 2011). The Canadian Public Health Association (CPHA) developed a resource for public health practitioners called Language Matters, which aims to reduce stigmas by making STBBI services safer and more accessible to care recipients through use of inclusive, neutral, and person-first language (Canadian Public Health Association [CPHA], 2019).

²⁰ See for example, the Cree Board of Health and Social Services of James Bay, which emerged as a result of the James Bay and Northern Quebec Agreement and the First Nations Health Authority in British Columbia.

²¹ It should be noted that while Indigenous communities may have gained some measure of self-determination in relation to health care, this authority is limited by federal government oversight.



STBBI prevention approaches should be community wide, familyfocused, and youth-centred in Indigenous contexts

(Rand, 2016).



However, more innovative sexual health service provision models are needed to address current health services challenges. Some suggestions include:

- extending mobile sexual health clinics offered in partnership with public health organizations, Indigenous communities, labs, and clinical providers that bring testing, education, diagnostic, and treatment services directly to communities;
- adopting harm reduction approaches that link sexual health screening with mental health and addiction services; and
- offering point of care testing (POCT) at nursing stations and through specialized mobile nursing and outreach teams (Skinner et al., 2018).

A culturally grounded Know Your Status program that incorporates clinical management, surveillance, and evaluation components has proven to be a highly effective model of HIV care for on reserve First Nations communities and could be extended to include other STBBIs (Skinner et al., 2018).

There is also a need to create more Indigenous organizations focused on STBBI prevention to provide culturally safe health services and effectively address the needs of urban Indigenous clients. Sexual health services must know who their clients are – their stories, experiences, and traumas; for example, many Indigenous HIV/AIDs clients are dealing with identity issues around their sexuality and looking for confirmation of who they are (Barkman et al., 2022). Health care providers must be able to build relationships with Two-Spirit and gender diverse people, establish trust, and be willing to learn from their clients (Barkman et al., 2022). Over the years, Indigenous people with HIV/AIDS have been building their own communities and organizations to provide resources and supports for those living with the disease. These types of organizations have been effective because they engage meaningfully with Indigenous people of different gender expressions and sexualities, instill cultural teachings that support Indigenous clients in embracing their sexual identities, and offer health services and resources in a culturally safe environment to address stigma, foster resilience, and encourage healthy behaviours (Barkman et al., 2022).

At present, urban Indigenous organizations face considerable challenges in meeting the needs of their clients due to inadequate levels of funding²² and their inability to offer services that are as comprehensive as those offered to the general population (Kurtz et al., 2008; Lemchuck-Favel & Jock, 2004; Maxwell, 2011). Providing more sustainable funding and changing the mandate of urban Indigenous services can facilitate greater access to culturally appropriate sexual health information and services.

Finally, there is a robust body of literature detailing the need for STBBI services to be trauma-informed and culturally safe. Given the complexities of risk factors impacting Indigenous experiences with STBBIs, research shows that clinicians must have a background in trauma-informed practice and be capable of addressing possible histories of complex trauma, in order to provide appropriate and effective care to Indigenous Peoples (O'Brien et al., 2020; Pearce et al., 2021). In their research promoting trauma-informed hepatitis C care for Indigenous people in Canada, Fayed et al. (2018) grounded successful trauma-informed care

in three key principles: safety against re-traumatization within healthcare, stabilization through strengthening resilience, and empowerment to promote selfmanagement. To be successful and achieve cultural safety, STBBI programs and services must be:

- grounded in meaningful community participation,
- incorporate Indigenous knowledges and perspectives,
- utilize decolonizing methodologies, and
- adopt a strengths-based approach that focuses on healing and resiliency rather than challenges and deficits (Ryan et al., 2020a).

Care providers can promote trauma-informed care through diverse actions relating to organizational culture, physical space, and provider-client interaction. For example, care settings should foster an organizational culture that both understands and tries to reduce the harms of trauma on their clients' health and well-being through staff training and trauma- and violence-informed skills assessment in the hiring phase (CPHA, 2020). Appropriate physical spaces can facilitate effective trauma-informed care by ensuring that rooms used by clients are comfortable, inviting, and welcoming, and that materials displayed in the space are easy to read and engaging. Provider-client relationships are crucial in promoting trauma-informed care and can be supported by developing trust and encouraging choice, collaboration, and connection (Halseth & Odulaja, forthcoming). Finally, research also suggests that hiring and training Indigenous healthcare staff can facilitate culturally safe and appropriate care, including STBBI-related counselling for Indigenous care recipients (LeBlanc, 2019).

²² Due to jurisdictional fragmentation, urban Indigenous organizations are provided funding that is proportional to the urban Indigenous people's representation in the total Indigenous population and is heavily reliant on grant-driven, short-term program funding sources (Maxwell, 2011). This threatens the sustainability of urban Indigenous health services and programs.

Crucially, literature suggests that STBBI services and care should also be grounded in Indigenous ways of knowing and utilize what the Mi'kmaq refer to as *etuaptmumk* – or a Two-eyed Seeing approach – to incorporate holistic physical, mental, and spiritual health and well-being into western care models (Heidebrecht et al., 2021; Ryan et al., 2020b). Heidebrecht et al. (2021) recommend a "reconciliatory" approach that adopts Indigenous land-based, retreat-style healing programs to promote HIV/ hepatitis C care and well-being through collective healing and traditional wisdom. Such retreats can provide safe spaces and opportunities to share stories of addictions and other life challenges, build relationships, and reconnect to culture and Indigeneity. This recommendation is echoed by Krementz et al. (2018) in their scoping review on land-based cultural wellness retreats to promote health and healing among Indigenous Peoples living with HIV/hepatitis C. They note that land-based approaches have been shown to be an effective and culturally safe approach to HIV/hepatitis C support.

Developing culturally appropriate sexual health education

Literature suggests there is a general lack of knowledge among many Indigenous people about STBBIs, how to prevent them, and the benefits of screening (Barkman et al., 2022; Zehbe et al., 2016). This lack of knowledge contributes to the ongoing stigma and shame associated with sexual health, delayed health seeking behaviour, and poorer health outcomes. More information is needed, particularly in rural, remote, and northern communities, to foster conversations about sexual health.

Sexual health education can lead to delayed initiation of sex, increased condom use, and greater utilization of sexual health screening services (Strobel & Ward, 2012). Research evidence indicates that it is best to provide this education early, before youth become sexually active, and continue to be provided throughout a person's life, with a focus on promoting a culture of routine screening (Arakawa, 2021; Zehbe et al., 2016). Education should occur in a variety of settings, including schools, community, and clinical settings (Stroble & Ward, 2012). Given that behavioral and biomedical interventions have been found to be only moderately successful in reducing STBBIs (Argento et al.,

2019), the best interventions are comprehensive and focus on changing behaviours, knowledge, beliefs, and practices (Strobel & Ward, 2012).

At present, evidence of what works in sexual health education programs in Indigenous contexts is limited (Hackett et al., 2021; Rand, 2016; Strobel & Ward, 2012; Wynne & Currie, 2011). Much of the research focuses on HIV/AIDS, particularly on screening and treatment, with STI literature focused primarily on women and statistics. There is a gap in knowledge on the holistic sexual health needs of Indigenous boys and men (Hackett et al., 2021), on culturally appropriate sexual health promotion programs for First Nations, Inuit, and Métis populations, and on the effectiveness of STBBI prevention interventions (Wynne & Currie, 2011). There also appears to be a gap in the literature on the needs of Indigenous members of the LGBTQ2S+ community.

The literature highlights a need to enhance knowledge about key prevention activities, such as using condoms regularly, abstaining from sex, establishing a trusting relationship with one partner, and monitoring STI status in Indigenous communities (Mooney-Somers et al., 2011). Health education interventions that focus on these types of prevention activities must consider barriers to condom use. These may include embarrassment and shame when picking up condoms, especially in rural and remote communities where privacy is limited, unplanned sex, lack of knowledge about where to obtain condoms, disparities in men's and women's commitment to using condoms, alcohol and drug use, and abuse of power in trusting, monogamous and committed relationships (Gesink et al., 2016; Mooney-Somers et al., 2011). Poverty, depression, and food insecurity may also constrain condom use in regions where considerable social and health disparities exist (Logie et al., 2019a).

Some considerations for enhancing condom use among Indigenous youth in health education have been identified by Mooney-Somers and colleagues (2011). These include:

- encouraging youth to find out where condoms are available, take more than is needed, carry them with them, and share this knowledge with others to normalize the practice of carrying condoms;
- allowing time to get to know potential sexual partners and develop trust;
- working with young people to develop STI prevention strategies that adopt a harm reduction framework in the context of sexual activity while under the influence of drugs and alcohol;
- developing skills-based programs that support young Indigenous people's negotiation of healthy and safe relationships and the notion of shared responsibility;
- encouraging young Indigenous people to get screened regularly during general health checks and following potential exposure; and
- encouraging couples-based STI testing at the beginning of a relationship.



Sexual health education must be comprehensive, culturally appropriate, accessible, and tailored to meet the needs of Indigenous Peoples and the realities they face. For example, there is a need to target youth with health education that accounts for them becoming sexually active at younger ages, using an "engaged style of learning" that focuses "on educating youth about their sexual rights to contraception" and providing "a breadth of information to enable choice" (Lys et al., 2019, p. 6). Further, health education that normalizes the discourse around sexual health, STBBIs, and testing can be essential to reducing stigma and fear. This can lead to more consistent testing (Antoniou et al., 2023; Barbour, 2017; Laprise & Bolster-Foucault, 2021), as well as a more supportive environment for contraceptive decision making (Lys et al., 2019).





Some promising practices have been identified for delivering sexual health education in Indigenous contexts generally. These include:

- Incorporating traditional Indigenous knowledge and approaches to healing alongside Western therapies (CAAN & CATIE, 2017; Hackett et al., 2021);
- Emphasizing positive and supportive health messaging that draws on original teachings and worldviews to promote resilience, including about being positive, strong, and healthy, embracing life, and respecting yourself and others (CAAN & CATIE, 2017);
- Targeting comprehensive sexual health education not only to those living with STBBIs but all community members to reduce shame and stigma associated with STBBIs, dispel any myths about STBBIs and their treatment, and provide information about the importance of prevention, screening, and treatment (CAAN & CATIE, 2017);
- Having sexual health education delivered by workers who closely reflect the target clients in

terms of demographics, such as peer-led and peer-based sexual health education (CAAN & CATIE, 2017; Lys et al., 2016, 2018a; Monchalin et al., 2016a; Seto et al., 2011; Steenbeek, 2004; Strobel & Ward, 2012; Tingey et al., 2021; Wynne & Currie, 2011);

- Drawing on the importance of intergenerational relationships to promote sexual health, including the role of Elders (Barkman et al., 2002; Hackett et al., 2021; Rand, 2016);
- Building knowledge and skills related to STBBIs and sexual health among Elders, parents, and guardians to facilitate communication with youth on sex topics (Rand, 2016; Rink et al., 2014);
- Having sexual health messages delivered by individuals with shared life experiences (Corosky & Blystad, 2016; Barkman et al., 2022; Steenbeek, 2004); and
- Incorporating methods that target hard-to-reach populations, such as youth who do not attend school and men who do not have the same community programs and social networks as women (Rand, 2016).

Individuals involved in sexual health education must be empowered to do this work and require comprehensive training regarding sexual/ reproductive health, STBBI prevention, and how to foster healthy beliefs, skills, and behaviours (Steenbeek, 2004; Wynne & Currie, 2011).

The literature also identifies some effective ways that sexual health education has been delivered to Indigenous populations. These include:

- Using social marketing campaigns and various forms of electronic media as sexual health education tools (Seto et al., 2011; Strobel & Ward, 2012);
- Using theatre or arts-based methods to teach life skills (i.e., assertiveness, decision making, and values awareness) and enhance self-help skills, including role playing, dramatization of realistic situations, and short skits (Lys et al., 2016, 2018a; Monchalin et al., 2016a; Steenbeek, 2004);
- Role modelling what healthy intimate relationships should look like (Rand, 2016);
- Hosting sexual health fairs and conducting STI testing blitzes at local health centres (Rand, 2016);
- Hosting a summer sports camp with comprehensive sexual health lessons, offered daily, exploring topics of puberty, pregnancy and STBBIs, how to identify and reduce related risk behaviours, and skills development, such as problem solving, communication with sexual partners and others, and goal setting (Tingey et al., 2021); and
- Modelling of learned skills, such as using a "family tree" to contextualize abstract concepts, providing culturally appropriate interactive activities, and practicing condom and contraceptive use skills (Tingey et al., 2022).



Promising practices for STBBI prevention, testing and care, and research

There is potential in the realm of public health to improve STBBI education and prevention knowledge in Indigenous communities. The literature provides several examples of promising initiatives that have seen success in recent years that can be built upon. These examples focus on STBBI prevention, testing and care, and research.

STBBI prevention

"Know your status" (KYS) is a Saskatchewanwide public health initiative that aims to prevent and reduce HIV and hepatitis C transmission, while connecting individuals to appropriate care and services. Research on the KYS campaign in Ahtahkakoop Cree Nation (ACN) (expanded between 2016 and 2019) highlights the potential of this initiative, noting its adaptability to community needs and contexts (Pandey et al., 2021). In the case of Ahtahkakoop Cree Nation, the KYS initiative included hepatitis C education for the community to reduce stigma and raise awareness about risk factors, prevention, and treatment options. The initiative utilized creative community engagement techniques such as radio, educational booths, and community-based screening events. One promising aspect of the community-based screening events was a focus on "one-stop-shop" approaches that offered POCT for hepatitis C viral load, along with genotyping, bloodwork, and fibroscan to increase rapid assessment and treatment initiation (Pandey et al., 2021).

The Province of Alberta recently explored the implementation of an ECHO+ telehealth outreach model (Extension for Community Health Outcomes) to improve equitable access to hepatitis C care for Indigenous populations in the province (Dunn et al., 2021). The ECHO model seeks to improve access to hepatitis C care for remote populations by implementing a "hub and spoke" model of care, wherein a "hub" of specialists supports communities (or "spokes") via telehealth support to community physicians and nurse practitioners. While expanding this model to Indigenous communities in the province, the ECHO+ project team received requests for culturally appropriate campaigns and educational resources aimed at reducing stigma and increasing testing. In response, a number of initiatives were developed including a "myth vs fact" booklet, as well as print and video campaigns from those with lived experiences who have completed hepatitis C treatment (Dunn et al., 2021). Importantly, these initiatives included a shift in language from a focus on "hepatitis C virus" to "liver health," emphasizing that "Hepatitis C can happen to anyone," as well as a shift from "testing" to "screening" to reduce stigma (Dunn et al., 2021).

Several studies have shown the promising potential of trauma-informed and arts-based prevention programs that are rooted in cultural practices for empowering youth and adolescents to develop protective sexual health behaviours (Flicker et al. 2008; Landy, 2019; Lys et al., 2018a, 2018b; Lys et al., 2023). Examples include the Taking Action! Human Immunodeficiency Virus (HIV) Prevention Project (Flicker et al., 2013; Monchalin et al., 2016a), the Sexy Health Carnival (Monchalin et al., 2016b), and Fostering Open eXpression among Youth (FOXY) (FOXY, 2023; Lys et al., 2016, 2018a, 2018b, 2019). Other studies conducted with

...reinstating the traditional role of Elders as educators and knowledge holders may be a critical component of effective and decolonizing STBBI health promotion

(Landy & Worthington, 2021).

Indigenous youth in Canada reveal the potential of peer-to-peer education, highlighting innovative approaches that emphasize peer mentorship and youth gatherings (Flicker et al., 2008; Lys et al., 2018a), as well as land-and-arts-based Peer Leader retreats (Gittings et al., 2022; Strength, Masculinities, and Sexual Health [SMASH], 2023). These approaches provide a space for open dialogue, as well as integrated programming where youth are able to discuss multiple topics or issues and support each other (Flicker et al., 2008; Lys et al., 2018a). Such programs can foster increased leadership, empowerment, confidence, and social connectedness, which in turn can lead to improved sexual health knowledge, sexual health-affirming behaviours, and increased resilience (Gittings et al., 2022; Lys et al., 2018a).

Several research studies emphasized the potential of intergenerational health promotion relating to STBBI education (Flicker et al., 2008; Hackett et al., 2021; Landy, 2019; Landy & Worthington, 2021). A participatory filmmaking HIV prevention program with youth and Elders in Labrador revealed that the intergenerational approach was successful in empowering youth in their role within peer-topeer sexual education, while also honouring the role of community Elders as knowledge holders (Landy, 2019). In fact, additional research reveals that reinstating the traditional role of Elders as educators and knowledge holders may be a critical component of effective and decolonizing STBBI health promotion (Landy & Worthington, 2021). The inclusion of Elders and community members in STBBI health promotion is supported in research among Inuit youth as well, who reported they would prefer to receive sexual health information from parents or caregivers as opposed to the internet, school, or the public health system (Healey, 2016). This was echoed in research completed with Inuit women, who suggested an emphasis on familycentred learning and family role models in effective STBBI prevention models (Rand, 2016).

Research suggests that open communication and involvement of role models can also facilitate positive STBBI health programming and prevention efforts among Indigenous boys and men. For example, Biderman et al.'s (2021) research with Indigenous boys and men shows the importance of role modelling in fostering positive relationships with self, others, the community, and culture, which in turn influence sexual health. The study also emphasized the importance of open communication and accessible and comprehensive information on sexual health to support holistic sexual health programming and STBBI prevention.

There is also a strong body of evidence supporting the importance of strengthening relationships between self, others, and the environment to promote physical, social, emotional, and mental aspects of health and well-being for Indigenous Peoples, in Canada and globally (see for example Barker et al., 2017; Chandler & Lalonde, 1998; Reweti, 2022; Richmond, 2018). This includes reconnecting Indigenous people with their culture(s) in STBBI interventions. Successful programs include traditional rites of passage and other youth programs being run by Indigenous-led organizations, such as the Ahkwesáhsne Mohawk Nation's (2019) Oheró:kon – Under the Husk

By paying attention to the holistic aspects of health, some of the risk factors for developing STBBIs in Indigenous communities can be addressed, including sexual violence, poor mental health, substance abuse, and poor self-esteem.

(Rights of Passage) program, which aims to enhance the resiliency of youth by providing a strong foundation of cultural support. The program offers age-appropriate, culturally based teachings and activities to prepare youth as they transition into adulthood (Ahkwesáhsne Mohawk Nation, 2019). In addition to learning traditional practices, the program provides contemporary teachings about sexual health and drug and alcohol prevention. Participating youth are challenged "spiritually, mentally, emotionally, and physically" (Ahkwesáhsne Mohawk Nation, 2019, n.p.). The FOXY (Fostering Open eXpression among Youth) program operating in Northern Canada is another program that incorporates culture as a tool for enhancing the resiliency and sexual empowerment of young women and gender diverse youth, including traditional beading and land-based activities (FOXY, 2023). A parallel program to FOXY, "Strength, Masculinities, and Sexual Health (SMASH)",

developed in collaboration with Elders and community leaders, offers culture-based programming to meet the needs of young men around the Northwest Territories (SMASH, 2023).

By paying attention to the holistic aspects of health, some of the risk factors for developing STBBIs in Indigenous communities can be addressed, including sexual violence, poor mental health, substance abuse, and poor selfesteem. Common themes in this research are the importance of developing healthy relationships, connecting and reconnecting with culture to break the cycle of trauma, having role models as a system of support, engaging in cultural activities and practices, and fostering open communication (Biderman et al., 2021; Gaspar et al., 2022; Rand et al., 2023). Consideration of these aspects of health should be incorporated into the planning and delivery of Indigenousspecific/informed public policy and health services (Atkinson et al., 2023; Gesink et al., 2019).

Testing and care

A key aspect of STBBI prevention in Indigenous communities is reducing barriers to culturally safe, acceptable, and nonjudgemental STBBI testing and care (Argento et al., 2019; Landy et al., 2022). Bringing HIV and other STBBI testing stations to Indigenous communities would help remove the barriers of travel and transportation (Barbour, 2017; Skinner et al., 2018). According to research published by the National Collaborating Centre for Infectious Diseases, it may be more feasible to increase point-of-care testing in rural and remote communities rather than transport individuals to larger centres for testing (LeBlanc, 2019). Further, combining POCT and treatment services is a promising approach to reducing barriers for Indigenous communities in accessing more comprehensive care by facilitating follow-up services and ongoing access to care (LeBlanc, 2019). Bringing POCT into communities allows for the testing of multiple STBBIs, including HIV and serological testing for hepatitis C and syphilis (LeBlanc, 2019). As demonstrated in Saskatchewan, bringing POCT into Indigenous communities also has the potential to improve STBBI education and treatment (Skinner et al., 2018).

Using methods that do not require health care providers/ clinicians to administer testing can also help improve access to culturally appropriate testing. Landy and colleagues (2022) assessed the acceptability of a novel approach to STBBI testing – dried blood spot testing (DBST) – among members of Métis communities in Alberta. DBST is a portable approach to STBBI testing that involves pricking the fingertip, blotting the blood onto filter paper, drying the blood, and shipping it to a laboratory for testing. The test was administered by trained individuals who were not health care providers/clinicians. The authors then assessed the acceptability of this approach, using community-based and Indigenous research approaches that prioritized Métis perspectives. Most of the study participants found the testing experience

acceptable, indicated they would recommend it to others, and felt they received enough information about specific STBBIs during their testing experience. Many participants described their DBST experience as easy and felt it could reduce barriers to STBBI testing associated with phlebotomy (the current standard for testing for STBBIs) for Métis people, particular in more rural and smaller community settings. While stigma remains an ongoing barrier to STBBI testing, some participants felt DBST could help reduce this stigma if the testing was hosted at community events, as such venues allow testing behaviours to be role modeled and normalized. Participants also felt that having Métis service providers administer the STBBI testing in the community helped contribute to their comfort in receiving this testing.



The expansion of the ECHO+ model in Alberta provides another example of innovative testing for STBBIs in rural areas. This model of care responds to localized needs for streamlined testing by implementing fillable and updated case presentation forms, providing step-by-step instructions to support Zoom sessions with specialists, and importantly, simplifying case reports to more easily access treatment referrals (Dunn et al., 2021).

A Two-eyed Seeing approach was incorporated into Alberta's expansion of the ECHO+ model for hepatitis C care by integrating traditional knowledge, traditional healing, and community guidance with western models of care. This Two-eyed Seeing approach to hepatitis C care incorporates the Five R's: respect, relationship, responsibility, relevance, and reciprocity (Dunn et al., 2021). These components are then supported by the following core principles: building relationships, culturally safe and relevant resource development, community-directed, educating and building infrastructure, and iterative wholistic knowledge. The Two-eyed Seeing approach ensures the development of community-led strategies that are grounded in local needs and priorities. As emphasized by Ryan et al. (2020a), individuals cannot be considered separately from their environments, and public health interventions must

engage with target populations to understand their complex needs, challenges, and barriers in order to be meaningful and impactful.

Research also suggests that incentivized testing can be effective in improving testing and treatment rates among hardto-reach populations with high STBBI rates. A 2020 qualitative study conducted among target populations in British Columbia found that incentivized testing is an approach that helps to "bring people through the door" and increases the uptake of desired health-related behaviours (Gagnon et al. 2020). Research by Niruban et al. (2019) echoes this finding, showing that offering \$10 incentives for testing and follow-up visits for STBBI-care at subsidized housing locations in Edmonton led to improved access to testing for Indigenous individuals, including PWID. However, Gagnon et al. (2020) also note some disadvantages to incentivized testing, namely that the effectiveness of incentives in STBBI care can be "superficial, short-lived, and one-dimensional" (p. 1), as it does not address the underlying structural barriers and determinants of health that influence health behaviour and health outcomes in the populations targeted by incentive approaches.

Public health emergencies, like the recent COVID-19 pandemic, have the potential to further constrain access to STBBI services for Indigenous Peoples. Many jurisdictions saw a decrease in STBBI testing and diagnosis during the pandemic due to closure or reduction of services, but also in part due to not accessing, delaying, or avoiding needed sexual health care (Gilbert et al., 2021). Much needed Indigenous specific services, such as Indigenous health and healing initiatives for STBBI prevention, testing, and treatment services; HIV and/or hepatitis C support and treatment services; and substance use and treatment services were particularly impacted by the pandemic (PHAC, 2021b). Sexual health and STBBI-related services adjusted to the pandemic through a greater reliance on alternative service delivery options, such as internet-based STI testing programmes.

A survey conducted by Gilbert et al. (2021) sought to understand the acceptability of internet based STI programmes among clients accessing sexual health services at the BC Centre for Disease Control STI clinic and/ or GetCheckedOnline testing services. They found this method to be acceptable for individuals experiencing testing barriers. Their findings supported those of Ablona et al. (2021), who conducted a similar study using the same data sources as Gilbert and colleagues. While only 4% of the survey respondents were Indigenous, support for alternative STI testing

models was overwhelming, with up to 88% of respondents stating they were likely to use at-home testing kits and 79% indicating they were likely to use express testing models (e.g. virtual consultation with specific collection at a clinic). The likelihood of using alternative models of service delivery did not differ among participants who experienced service access barriers due to the pandemic. Of particular importance in this study is participants' interest in using text-messaging to receive STI results and reminders, pointing towards a potential low-barrier communication method for STBBI-related care both during COVID-19 and beyond (Ablona et al., 2021). Although available research regarding STBBI-related care during the COVID-19 pandemic cannot be generalized to the Indigenous population due to low Indigenous representation in the dataset, the study provides insight into STBBI health care delivery and health seeking behaviors, with the potential to increase Indigenous people's access to STBBI testing services.

In 2021, the Public Health Agency of Canada released a National Report on *Findings* from the Survey on the Impact of COVID-19 on the delivery of STBBI prevention, testing and treatment including harm reduction services in Canada. The report details findings from a self-administered survey among service providers (e.g., community-based organizations or local public health units) that directly provided STBBI and/ or harm reduction services in Canada. The survey revealed that many key harm reduction services that were instrumental in reducing exposure to STBBIs (i.e., drug equipment exchanges and distribution, outreach, etc.) stopped or decreased their services during the pandemic, further impacting a population already vulnerable to STBBI transmission (PHAC, 2021c). However, service providers demonstrated adaptability and innovation in light of pandemic-related restrictions, including mobile outreach, STI testing, and selfservice pickup or delivery of harm reduction materials, providing important insight into the potential of accessible STBBI care in the future (PHAC, 2021c).

STBBIs research

Administrative health data that is meaningful to Indigenous communities can be a valuable tool that supports STBBIs decision-making, advocacy, and community-based interventions (Mendlowitz et al., 2023b). However, to be meaningful, Indigenous groups must lead and/ or be involved in the co-creation and co-interpretation of that knowledge to avoid a deficitbased lens that can perpetuate stigma. Research has shown a link between "health outcomes and strength-based indicators of

Indigenous health and wellness, Indigenous worldviews, cultural connection, and resilience" (Sharma et al., 2021, as cited in Mendlowitz et al., 2023b, p. 51).

Mendlowitz and colleagues (2023b) reflect on lessons learned from a research partnership with the Ontario First Nations HIV/AIDS Education Circle (OFNHAEC) to co-create knowledge based on hepatitis C administrative health data. By meaningfully engaging with the OFNHAEC to conceptualize the study design, parameters, and administrative health data, including co-analysis and cointerpretation of the health data, the research produced findings that were beneficial to First Nations people. The findings avoided misinterpretation while also supporting reciprocal relationships, fostering trust, and advancing reconciliation in STBBI research.

...Indigenous groups must lead and/or be involved in the co-creation and co-interpretation of that knowledge to avoid a deficit-based lens that can perpetuate stigma.

Indigenous populations are at increased risk of STBBIs and face inequitable access to services, largely due to the legacy of colonialism.



CONCLUSION

Indigenous populations are at increased risk of STBBIs and face inequitable access to services, largely due to the legacy of colonialism. The burden of STBBIs they carry is especially high among specific sub-populations, including Indigenous youth, women, people who inject drugs, men who have sex with men, and individuals living in northern communities, particularly Inuit. This is due to the intersection of multiple stigmas, feelings of powerless, the prevalence of various forms of abuse and violence, mental health issues and addictions, and reduced access to health services. Surveillance data show that rates of HIV, HCV, and certain STIs are disproportionately high among Indigenous populations. However, ongoing challenges present barriers for cross-jurisdictional and cross-population comparisons, including lack of disaggregated data for select populations, inconsistent collection of Indigenous identifiers, and the voluntary nature of data collection and coordination across national, provincial, and territorial jurisdictions.

Findings from this literature review highlight the importance of promoting access to safe and adequate care along the continuum of health, including prevention, testing, and ongoing support, to address STBBI health inequities among Indigenous populations. Promising practices in STBBI both before and in the context of COVID-19 show potential for innovative and tailored public health responses that better meet the needs of Indigenous populations in Canada. The various public health responses that have emerged to address STBBIs in Indigenous populations are multi-pronged. They address the intersecting social determinants that make Indigenous populations more susceptible to STBBIs and influence their transmission, while also improving access to culturally safe and appropriate sexual health programs, services, and education. Indigenous-led STBBI and sexual health programs that are strengths-based and designed to reconnect individuals to culture, foster resiliency, and empower individuals to make healthpromoting sexual health decisions show promising potential.

The literature review also highlighted some ongoing knowledge gaps in the research. There continues to be a lack of research on the sexual health needs of Indigenous LGBTQ+ individuals (Logie et al., 2018a) and on the holistic sexual health needs of Indigenous boys and men (Biderman et al., 2021; Hackett et al., 2021). Much of the data on STBBIs among Indigenous populations focuses on First Nations, leaving gaps in knowledge for Inuit and Métis populations. The research heavily emphasizes HIV/AIDS, particularly on screening and treatment, leaving a gap in knowledge about the prevalence of other STBBIs, especially other types of viral hepatitis beyond HCV. Much of the data for specific Indigenous sub-populations and STBBIs is particularly dated, and for older generations is almost absent. There is also a gap in knowledge on the effectiveness of prevention strategies for First Nations, Inuit, and Métis populations, particularly those that are culture-based.

REFERENCES

- Ablona, A., Chang, H., Salway, T., Ogilvie, G., Grennan, T., Wong, J., Haag, D., Petersen, H., Bannar-Martin, S., Campeau, L., Ford, G., Grace, D., Worthington, C., & Gilbert, M. (2021). Acceptability of alternative sexual health service delivery methods during the COVID-19 pandemic in British Columbia (BC), Canada (Poster presentation). *Sexually Transmitted Infections, 97*(Suppl 1), A146.2-A146. https://doi.org/10.1136/sextrans-2021-sti.383.
- Adachi, K., Xu, J., Yeganeh, N., Camarca, M., Morgado, M.
 G., Wats, H., Mofenson, L. M., Veloso, V. G., Pilotto, J.
 H., Joao, E., Gray, G., Theron, G., Santos, B., Fonseca,
 R., Kreitchmann, R. Pinto, J., Mussi-Pinhata, M. M.,
 Ceriotto, M. et al. (2018). Combined evaluation of sexually
 transmitted infections in HIV-infected pregnant women and
 infant HIV transmission. *PLoS One*, 13(1), e0189851.

Ahkwesáhsne Mohawk Nation. (2019). Oheró:kon "Under the Husk." https://www.oherokon.org/about

- Aho, J., Lybeck, C., Tetteh, A., Issa, C., Kouyoumdjian, F., Wong, J., Anderson, A., & Popovic, N. (2022). Rising syphilis rates in Canada, 2011-2020. *Canada Communicable Disease Report*, 48(23), 52-60.
- Alberta First Nations Information Governance Centre [AFNIGC]. (2017). Hepatitis C incidence among First Nations in Alberta. *First Nations - Health trends Alberta.* https://www.afnigc.ca/main/includes/media/pdf/fnhta/ HTAFN-2017-12-12-HepC.pdf
- Alberta First Nations Information Governance Centre [AFNIGC]. (2018). HIV incidence among First Nations people in Alberta. *First Nations - Health trends Alberta*. https://www.afnigc.ca/main/includes/media/pdf/fnhta/ HTAFN-2018-01-09-HIV%20FN.pdf
- American Psychological Association. (2023). Intergenerational trauma. *APA dictionary of psychology* [online]. https://dictionary.apa.org/intergenerational-trauma
- Andermann, A. (2017). Outbreaks in the age of syndemics: New insights for improving Indigenous health. *Canada Communicable Disease Report, 43*(6), 125-32. https://doi. org/10.14745/ccdr.v43i06a02.

Andersson, N., Shea, B., Archibald, C., Wong, T., Barlow, K., & Sioui, G. (2008). Building on the resilience of Aboriginal people in risk reduction initiatives targeting sexually transmitted infections and blood-borne viruses: The Aboriginal community resilience to AIDS (ACRA). *Pimatiwisin: A Journal of Indigenous and Aboriginal Community Health, 6*(2), 89-110.

- Antonio, M. C. K., & Chung-Do, J. J. (2015). Systematic review of interventions focusing on Indigenous adolescent mental health and substance use. *American Indian and Alaska Native Mental Health Research*, 22(3), 36-57.
- Antoniou, T., Pritlove, C., Shearer, D., Tadrous, M., Shah, H., & Gomes, T. (2023). Accessing hepatitis C direct acting antivirals among people living with hepatitis C: A qualitative study. *International Journal for Equity in Health*, 22, 112.
- Arakawa, S. (2021). Education for prevention of STIs to young people (2021 version) standardized slides in youth education for the prevention of sexually transmitted infections – for high school students and for junior high school students. *Journal of Infection and Chemotherapy*, 27(10), 1375-1383.
- Argento, E., Goldenberg, S., & Shannon, K. (2019). Preventing sexually transmitted and blood borne infections (STBBIs) among sex workers: A critical review of the evidence on determinants and interventions in high-income countries. *BMC Infectious Diseases, 19*, 212.
- Armenta, R. F., Kellogg, D., Montoya, J. L., Romero, R., Armao, S., Calac, D., & Gaines, T. L. (2021). "There is a lot of practice in not thinking about that": Structural, interpersonal, and individual-level barriers to HIV/STI prevention among reservation based American Indians. *International Journal of Environmental Research and Public Health*, 18(7), 3566.
- Atkinson, D., Landy, R., St. Denys, R., Ogilvie, K., Lund, C., & Worthington, C., on behalf of the DRUM & SASH Team. (2023). The Red River Cart Model: A Métis conceptualization of health and well-being in the context of HIV and other STBBI. *Canadian Journal of Public Health*, *114*(5), 856-866. https://doi.org/10.17269/s41997-023-00771-8.
- Atkinson, D. N. (2020). Evaluating a Métis community pilot of dried blood spot testing within a Métis-specific cultural response for those living with/affected by HIV and other STBBI [Unpublished Master of Public Health thesis]. University of Victoria. https://dspace.library.uvic.ca/handle/1828/11794.
- Assembly of First Nations, & Government of Canada. (2015). *First Nations mental wellness continuum framework.* Government of Canada.
- Barbour, T. L. (2017). *HIV Testing in Nova Scotia: An Indigenous perspective on access and acceptability* [Unpublished Master of Arts thesis]. Dalhousie University, Halifax, Nova Scotia, Canada.

- Barker, B., Adams, E., Wood, E., Kerr, T., DeBeck, K., Dong, H., Shoveller, J., Montaner, J., & Millow, M.-J. (2018).
 Engagement in maximally-assisted therapy and adherence to antiretroviral therapy among a cohort of Indigenous people who use illicit drugs. *AIDS and Behavior*, 23, 1258-1266.
- Barker, B., Goodman, A., & DeBeck, K. (2017). Reclaiming Indigenous identities: Culture as strength against suicide among Indigenous youth in Canada. *Canadian Journal of Public Health*, 108, e208-e210.
- Barkman, L., Beck, A., Oshag, V., Syrette, T., & Baker, J. A. (2022). Reclaiming Indigenous sexual health is good medicine: Indigenous self-determination as HIV prevention. CATIE. https://www.catie.ca/reclaiming-indigenous-sexual-health-isgood-medicine-indigenous-self-determination-as-hiv
- Bartlett, S. R., Buton, J., Palayew, A., Picchio, C. A., Janjua, N. Z., & Kronfli, N. (2021). Hepatitis C virus prevalence, screening, and treatment among people who are incarcerated in Canada: Leaving no one behind in the direct-acting antiviral era. *Clinical Liver Disease*, 17(2), 75-80.
- Baugher, A. R., Trujillo, L., Kanny, D., Freeman, J. Q., Hickey, T., Sionean, C., Respress, E., Bardales, J. C., Marcus, R., Finlayson, T., Wejnert, C., & National HIV Behavioral Surveillance Study Group. (2021). Racial, ethnic, and gender disparities in awareness of preexposure prophylaxis among HIV-negative heterosexually active adults at increased risk for HIV infection - 23 urban areas, United States, 2019. *Morbidity and Mortality Weekly Report, 70*(47), 1635-1640.
- Bennett, R., Cerigo, H., Coutlée, F., Roger, M., Franco, E. L., & Brassard, P. (2015). Incidence, persistence, and determinants of human papillomavirus infection in a population of Inuit women in northern Quebec. *Sexually Transmitted Diseases*, 42(5), 272-278.
- Benoit, A. C., Younger, J., Beaver, K., Jackson, R., Loutfy, M., Masching, R., Nobis, T., Nowgesic, E., O'Brien-Teengs, D., Whitebird, W., Zoccole, A., Hull, M., Jaworsky, D., Rachlish, A., Rourke, S., Burchell, A. N., Cooper, C., Hogg, R., Klein, M. B., Machouf, N. et al. (2017). A comparision of virological suppression and rebound between Indigenous and non-Indigenous persons initiating a combination of antiretroviral therapy in a multisite cohort of individuals living with HIV in Canada. *Antiviral Therapy, 22*, 325-335.
- Benz, M. B., Cabrera, K. B., Kline, N., Bishop, L. S., & Palm Reed, K. (2021). Fear of stigma mediates the relationship between internalized stigma and treatment-seeking among individuals with substance use problems. *Substance Use & Misuse*, 56(6), 808-818.

- Biderman, M., Doria, N., Sinno, J., Rand, J. R., Hackett, L., Miller, A. D., McMillan, J., Lekas, S., & Numer, M. (2021). Pathways for sexual health promotion among Indigenous boys and men: Stakeholder perspectives. *AlterNative: An International Journal of Indigenous Peoples*, 17(3), 357-396.
- Bird, Y., Obidiya, O., Mahmood, R., Nwankwo, C., & Moraros, J. (2017). Human papillomavirus vaccination uptake in Canada: A systematic review and meta-analysis. *International Journal of Preventive Medicine*, 8, 71.
- Bleakney, A., & Melvin, A. (2022). Indigenous women and girls: Socioeconomic conditions in remote communities compared with more accessible areas. *Insights on Canadian Society*, June 20. https://www150.statcan.gc.ca/n1/pub/75-006-x/2022001/article/00005-eng.htm
- British Columbia Association of Aboriginal Friendship Centres (BCAAFC). (2020). Urban Indigenous wellness report: A BC Friendship Centre perspective. https://bcaafc.com/wp-content/ uploads/2020/11/BCAAFC-Urban-Indigenous-Wellness-Report.pdf
- British Columbia Centre for Disease Control (BCCDC). (2012). *BC Point of Care HIV testing program.* http://www. bccdc.ca/our-services/programs/point-of-care-rapidhiv-testing.
- British Columbia Centre for Disease Control (BCCDC). (2017). *STI Annual report*. http://www.bccdc.ca/resourcegallery/Documents/Statistics%20and%20Research/ Statistics%20and%20Reports/STI/STI_Annual_ Report_2017_final.pdf
- British Columbia Centre for Disease Control (BCCDC). (2019). *HIV annual report 2017*. http://www.bccdc. ca/resource-gallery/Documents/Statistics%20and%20 Research/Statistics%20and%20Reports/STI/HIV_Annual_ Report_2017_FINAL.pdf



British Columbia Centre for Disease Control (BCCDC). (2023). *BC syphilis action plan refresh*, 2023-2025. http:// www.bccdc.ca/resource-gallery/Documents/Statistics%20 and%20Research/Statistics%20and%20Reports/STI/ Syphilis_Action_Plan_Refresh_2023.pdf

Brooks, R. A., Cabral, A., Nieto, O., Fehrenbacher, A., & Landrian, A. (2019). Experiences of pre-exposure prophylaxis stigma, social support, and information dissemination among Black and Latina transgender women who are using preexposure prophylaxis. *Transgender Health*, 4(1), 188-196.

Browne, A. J. (2017). Moving beyond description: Closing the health equity gap by redressing racism impacting Indigenous populations. *Social Science & Medicine, 184*, 23-26.

Browne, A. J., Varcoe, C., Lavoie, J., Smye, V., Wong, S., Krause, M., & Fridkin, A. (2016). Enhancing health care equity with Indigenous populations: Evidence-based strategies from an ethnographic study. *BMC Health Services Research*, *16*(544), 1-17. DOI: https://doi.org/10.1186/ s12913-16-1707-9

Bruce, V., Eldredge, J., Leyva, Y., Mera, J., English, K., & Page, K. (2019). Hepatitis C virus infection in Indigenous populations in the United States and Canada. *Epidemiologic Reviews*, *41*(1), 158-167.

Bucharski, D., Reutter, L. I., & Ogilvie, L. D. (2006). 'You need to know where we're coming from:' Canadian Aboriginal women's perspectives on culturally appropriate HIV counseling and testing. *Health Care for Women International, 27*(8), 723-47. https://doi. org/10.1080/07399330600817808.

Burchell, A. N., Warren, L., Ellis, B., Benoit, A., Leonard, L., Millson, P., Remis, R. S., Murray, J., McGee, F., O'Brien Teengs, D., Ogunnaike-Cooke, S., & Zoccole, A. (eds.). (2014). *The current state of HIV epidemic among Indigenous people in Ontario*. Ontario HIV Treatment Network. https:// www.ohtn.on.ca/wp-content/uploads/sites/9/2014/09/ Indigenous-Report-2014Final.pdf

Burns, M. (2020). Reclaiming Indigenous sexual being: Sovereignty and decolonization through sexuality. *The Arbutus Review*, 11(1), 1-11.

Buxton, J. A., Yu, A., Kim, P. H., Spinelli, J. J., Kuo, M., Alvarez, M., Gilbert, M., & Krajden, M. (2010). HCV coinfection in HIV positive population in British Columbia, Canada. *BMC Public Health*, 10, 225.

California Department of Health. (2023, April 28). Doxycycline post-exposure prophylaxis (doxy-PEP) for the prevention of bacterial sexually transmitted infections (STIs). State of Californa - Health and Human Services Agency. Canadian Aboriginal AIDS Network (CAAN) & Community AIDS Treatment Information Exchange (CATIE). (2017). *Strong medicine*. Kevin Belmore. https://www.catie.ca/ strongmedicine.

Community AIDS Treatment Information Exchange (CATIE). (n.d.-a). *Pre-exposure prophylaxis (PrEP)*. https://www.catie. ca/pre-exposure-prophylaxis-prep-0

Community AIDS Treatment Information Exchange (CATIE). (n.d.-b). *Long-acting HIV treatment - a major change begins*. https://www.catie.ca/treatmentupdate-244/long-acting-hivtreatment-a-major-change-begins

Canadian Institute for Health Information (CIHI). (2022). Guidance on the use of standards for race-based and Indigenous identity data collection and health reporting in Canada. https:// www.cihi.ca/sites/default/files/document/guidance-andstandards-for-race-based-and-indigenous-identity-data-en.pdf

Canadian Public Health Association (CPHA). (2019). Language matters: Using respectful language in relation to sexual health, substance use, STBBIs and intersecting sources of stigma. https://www.cpha.ca/language-matters-using-respectfullanguage-relation-sexual-health-substance-use-stbbis-and

Canadian Public Health Association (CPHA). (2020). Traumaand violence-informed care toolkit: For reducing stigma related to sexually transmitted and blood-borne infections (STBBIs). https://www.cpha.ca/sites/default/files/uploads/resources/ stbbi/STBBI-TVIC-toolkit_e.pdf

Canadian Public Health Association (CPHA). (2023). Sexually transmitted and blood-borne infections and related stigma. *About Projects*. https://www.cpha.ca/sexually-transmitted-and-blood-borne-infections-and-related-stigma

Cassata, C. (2022). What are HPV 16 and 18? *Everyday Health,* April 26. https://www.everydayhealth.com/hpv/whatare-hpv-16-18/

Castaneda, D., Gonzalez, A. J., Alomari, M., Tandon, K., & Zervos, X. B. (2021). From hepatitis A to E: A critical review of viral hepatitis. *World Journal of Gastroenterology, 27*(16), 1691-1715.

Caya, C., Maheu-Giroux, M., Xia, Y., Serhir, B., Morin, V., Libman, M., Corsini, R., Goldfarb, D. M., Wong, T., Singh, A. E., & Yansouni, C. P. (2022). Stopping syphilis transmission in Arctic communities through rapid diagnostic testing: The STAR study protocol. *PLoS One, 17*(9), e02737313.

Cedar Project, Mehrabadi, A., Paterson, K., Pearce, M., Patel, S., Craib, K. J., Moniruzzaman, A., Schechter, M. T., & Spittal, P. M. (2008). Gender differences in HIV and hepatitis C related vulnerabilities among Aboriginal young people who use street drugs in two Canadian cities. *Women and Health*, 48(3), 235-260.

- Center for Substance Abuse Treatment. (2011). Screening for viral hepatitis. In *Addressing viral hepatitis in people with substance use disorders* (Chapter 2). Treatment Improvement Protocol (TIP Series), No. 53). https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih. gov/books/NBK92029/#:~:text=The%20test%20for%20 hepatitis%20B,or%20is%20immune%20to%20reinfection.
- Centers for Disease Control and Prevention (CDC). (2020). *Overview of viral hepatitis for health care professionals*. https:// www.cdc.gov/hepatitis/resources/healthprofessionaltools/ ABCofViralHepatitis.htm
- Centers for Disease Control and Prevention (CDC). (2021). *HIV and substance use*. https://www.cdc.gov/hiv/basics/ hiv-transmission/substance-use.html#:~:text=Injection%20 drug%20use%20(IDU)%20can,with%20increased%20 risk%20for%20HIV.

Centers for Disease Control and Prevention (CDC). (2022a). *PrEP (Pre-exposure prophylaxis)*. https://www.cdc.gov/hiv/ basics/prep.html

Centers for Disease Control and Prevention (CDC). (2022b). *About PrEP*. https://www.cdc.gov/hiv/basics/prep.html

Centers for Disease Control and Prevention (CDC). (2023a). Congenital syphilis - CDC fact sheet. https://www.cdc.gov/std/ syphilis/stdfact-congenital-syphilis.htm

- Centers for Disease Control and Prevention (CDC). (2023b). *Hepatitis B.* https://www.cdc.gov/hepatitis/hbv/index.htm
- Centers for Disease Control and Prevention (CDC). (2023c). *HIV treatment as prevention.* https://www.cdc.gov/hiv/risk/ art/index.html
- Cerigo, H., Coutlée, F., Franco, E. L., & Brassard, P. (2013). Factors associated with cervical cancer screening uptake among Inuit women in Nunavik, Quebec, Canada. *BMC Public Health*, 13, 438.

Cerigo, H., Macdonald, M. E., Franco, E. L., & Brassard, P. (2012). HPV detection by self-sampling in Nunavik, Quebec: Inuit women's sampling method preferences. *Journal* of Aboriginal Health, 8, 29-39.

Chandler, M. J., & Lalonde, C. (1998). Cultural continuity as a hedge against suicide in Canada's First Nations. *Transcultural Psychiatry*, 35(2), 191-219.

Chavoshi, N., Christian, W., Moniruzzaman, A., Richardson, C., Schechter, M., & Spittal, P. (2013). The Cedar Project: Understanding barriers to consistent condom use over time in a cohort of young Indigenous people who use drugs. *International Journal of Sexual Health, 25*(4), 249-59. https:// doi.org/10.1080/19317611.2013.794184.

Choudhri, Y., Miller, J., Sandhu, J., Leon, A., & Aho, J. (2018a). Chlamydia in Canada, 2010-2015. *Canada Communicable Disease Report, 44*(2), 49-54. Choudhri, Y., Miller, J., Sandhu, J., Leon, A., & Aho, J. (2018b). Infectious and congenital syphilis in Canada, 2010-2015. *Canada Communicable Disease Report*, 44(2), 43-48.

- Coffin, C. S., Ramji, A., Cooper, C. L., Miles, D., Doucette, K. E., Wong, P., Tam, E., Wong, D. K., Wong, A., Ukabam, S., Bailey, R. J., Tsoi, K., Conway, B., Barrett, L., Michalak, T. I., Congly, S. E., Minuk, G., Kaita, K., Kelly, E., Ko, H. H. et al. (2019). Epidemiologic and clinical features of chronic hepatitis B virus infection in 8 Canadian provinces: A descriptive study by the Canadian HBV Network. *CMAJ Open*, *7*(4), E610-E618.
- Cogliano, V., Baan, R., Straif, K., Grosse, Y., Secretan, B., El Ghissassi, F., & WHO International Agency for Research on Cancer. *The Lancet*, *6*, 204.
- Collier, R. (2017). Reports of coerced sterilization of Indigenous women in Canada mirrors shameful past. *Canadian Medical Association Journal, 189*(33), E1080-1081.
- Community AIDS Treatment Information Exchange (CATIE). (2020). *Pharmacist-provided HIV point-of-care testing*. https://www.catie.ca/pharmacist-provided-hiv-point-of-care-testing
- Cooper, C., Driedger, M., Wong, D., Haylock-Jacobs, S., Shaheen, A. A., Osiowy, C., Fung, S., Doucette, K., Wong, A., Barrett, L., Conway, B., Ramji, A., Minuk, G., Sebastiani, G., Wong, P., & Coffin, C. S. (2021). Distinct hepatitis B and HIV co-infected populations in Canada. *Journal of Viral Hepatitis, 28*(3), 517-527.
- Corosky, G. J., & Blystad, A. (2016). Staying healthy "under the sheets:" Inuit youth experiences of access to sexual and reproductive health and rights in Arviat, Nunavut, Canada. *International Journal of Circumpolar Health*, *75*(S1), 31812.

Cowling, T., & Dolcine, B. (2017). *Point-of-care testing.* Canada's Drug and Health Technology Agency (CADTH). https://www.cadth.ca/sites/default/files/pdf/es0308_point_ of_care_testing.pdf

- Craib, K. J. P., Spittal, P. M., Patel, S. H., Christian, W. M., Moniruzzaman, A., Pearce, M. E., Demerais, L., Sherlock, C., Schechter, M. T., & the Cedar Project. (2009). Prevalence and incidence of hepatitis C virus infection among Aboriginal young people who use drugs: Results from the Cedar Project. *Open Medicine*, 3(4), e220-7.
- Dahl, A. L., Scott, R. K., & Peace, Z. (2015). Trials and triumph: Lesbian and gay young adults in a rural context. *Social Science*, 4(4), 925-939.

Demers, A. A., Shearer, B., Severeini, A., Lotocki, R., Kliewer, E. V., Stopera, S., Wong, T., & Jayaraman, G. (2012).
Distribution of human papillomavirus types, cervical cancer screening history, and risk factors for infection in Manitoba. *Chronic Diseases and Injuries in Canada, 32*(4), 177-185.



- Demers, A., Shearer, B., Totten, S., Fang, L., Severini, A., Kliewer, E., Mao, Y., Wong, T., & Jayaraman, G. (2011).
 P1-S2.69. Prevalence of HPV infections in Metis and First Nations living in Manitoba, Canada. *Sexually Transmitted Infections, 87*(Supp. 1).
- Devries, K. M., & Free, C. (2010). "I told him not to use condoms': Masculinities, femininities and sexual health of Aboriginal Canadian young People. *Sociology of Health & Illness, 32*(6), 827-842.
- Dijk, C. F.-V., Rowan, M., Dell, C., Mushquash, C., Hopkins, C., Fornssler, B., Hall, L., Mykota, D., Farag, M., & Shea, B. (2017). Honoring Indigenous culture-as-intervention: Development and validity of the Native Wellness AssessmentTM. *Journal of Ethnicity in Substance Abuse*, 16(2), 181-218.
- Duff, P., Tyndall, M., Buxton, J., Zhang, R., Kerr, T., & Shannon, K. (2013). Sex-for-crack exchanges: Associations with risky sexual and drug use niches in an urban Canadian city. *Harm Reduction Journal*, *10*, e2010008.
- Duncan, K. C., Reading, C., Borwein, A. M., Murray, M. C. M., Palmer, A., Michelow, W., Samji, H., Lima, V. D., Montaner, J. S. G., & Hogg, R. S. (2011). HIV incidence and prevalence among Aboriginal Peoples in Canada. *AIDS* and Behavior, 15, 214-227.
- Dunn, K. P. R., Williams, K. P., Egan, C. E., Potestio, M. L., & Lee, S. S. (2021). ECHO+: Improving access to hepatitis C care within Indigenous communities in Alberta, Canada. *Canadian Liver Journal, October*, e20210027. https://doi. org/10.3138/canlivj-2021-0027.
- Estcourt, C. S., MacDonald, J., Saunders, J., Nandwani, R., Young, I., Frankis, J., Clutterbuck, D., Steedman, N., McDaid, L., Dalrymple, J., & Flowers, P. (2023). Improving HIV pre-exposure prophylaxis (PrEP) uptake and initiation: Process evaluation and recommendation development from a national PrEP program. *Sexual Health*, 20(4), 282-295.

European Virus Archive – Global. (2020). *Single-stranded RNA virus*. https://www.european-virus-archive.com/genomecomposition/ssrna-0

- Fairley, C. K. (2018). Access to health care is critical for the control of sexually transmitted infections (STIs). *HIV Australia, June 20*, 1-3. https://www.afao.org.au/wp-content/ uploads/2018/06/Access-to-health-care-is-critical-for-thecontrol-of-Sexually-Transmitted-Infections.pdf
- Falade-Nwulia, O., Mehta, S. H., Lasola, J., Latkin, C., Niculuescu, A., O'Connor, C., Chaulk, P., Ghanem, K., Page, K. R., Sulkowski, M. S., & Thomas, D. L. (2016).
 Public health clinic-based hepatitis C testing and linkage to care in Baltimore. *Journal of Viral Hepatitis, 23*(5), 366-374.
- Fallon, B., Lefebvre, R., Trocmé, N., Richard, K., Hélie, S., Montgomery, H. M., Bennett, M., Joh-Camella, N., Saint-Girons, M., Filippelli, J., MacLaurin, B., Black, T., Esposito, T., King, B., Collin-Vézina, D., Dallaire, R., Gray, R., Levi, J., Orr, M., Petti, T. et al. (2021). Denouncing the continued overrepresentation of First Nations children in Canadian child welfare: Findings from the First Nations/Canadian Incidence Study of Reported Child Abuse and Neglect. Assembly of First Nations.
- Fayed, S. T, King, A., King, M., Macklin, C., Demeria, J., Rabbitskin, N., Healy, B., & Gonzales S. (2018). In the eyes of Indigenous people in Canada: Exposing the underlying colonial etiology of hepatitis C and the imperative for trauma-informed care. *Canadian Liver Journal*, 1(3), 115-29. https://doi.org/10.3138/canlivj.2018-0009.
- Fleming, D. T., Leone, P., Esposito, D., Heitman, C. K., Justus, S., Chin, S., & Fife, K. H. (2006). Herpes virus type 2 infection and genital symptoms in primary care patients. *Sexually Transmitted Diseases*, 33(7), 416-421.


- Flicker, S., Larkin, J., Smilie-Adjarkwa, C., Restoule, J.-P., Barlow, K., Dagnino, M., Ricci, C., Koleszar-Green, R., & Mitchell, C. (2008). 'It's hard to change something when you don't know where to start': Unpacking HIV vulnerability with Aboriginal youth in Canada. *Pimatisiwin: Journal of Aboriginal Indigenous Community Health*, 5(2), 175-200.
- Flicker, S., Danforth, J., Konsmo, E., Wilson, C., Oliver, V., Jackson, R., Prentice, T., Larkin, J., Restoule, J. P., & Mitchel, C. (2013). "Because we are Natives and we stand strong to our pride": Decolonizing HIV prevention with Aboriginal Youth in Canada using the arts. *Canadian Journal* of Aboriginal Community-Based HIV/AIDS Research, 5, 4–24.
- First Nations and Inuit Health Branch. (2016). *Health status of First Nations on-reserve in Atlantic Canada. Health Canada, Government of Canada.* Government of Canada. https:// publications.gc.ca/collections/collection_2017/sc-hc/H33-1-17-2016-eng.pdf
- First Nations Information Governance Centre (FNIGC). (2012). First Nations Regional Health Survey (RHS) 2008/10: National report on adults, youth and children living in First Nations communities. https://fnigc.ca/wp-content/ uploads/2020/09/ccd66b67e9debb2c92f4a54703e1d050_ First-Nations-Regional-Health-Survey-RHS-2008-10-National-Report.pdf
- FOXY. (2023). Fostering Open eXpression among youth. https://arcticfoxy.com/
- Fuller, S. S., Aicken, C., Sutcliffe, L. J., Estcourt, C. S., Gkatzidou, V., Hone, K., Sonnenberg, P., Oakeshott, P., Sadiq, S. T., & Shahmanesh, M. (2013). What are young people's perceptions of using electronic self-tests for STIs linked to mobile technology for diagnosis and care (eSTI2)? *Sexually Transmitted Infections*, 89(Suppl 1), A69-A70.

- Gagnon, M., Guta, A., Upshur, R., Murray, S. J., & Bungay, V. (2020). 'It gets people through the door': A qualitative case study of the use of incentives in the care of people at risk or living with HIV in British Columbia, Canada. *BMC Medical Ethics*, *21*(1), 105. https://doi.org/10.1186/s12910-020-00548-5.
- Gaspar, C. M., Rand, J., Biderman, M., Bogner, E., Lekas, S., Miller, D., McMillan, J., & Numer, M. (2022). *Pathways for sexual health promotion among Indigenous boys and men: A community report.* Dalhousie University, Healing Our Nation, and Mi'kmaw Native Friendship Centre. https://static1. squarespace.com/static/60f6da39c296f96da1fa63bd/t/614dd b38eac7f063b63a5cc6/1632492346391/Pathways+for+Sexua l+Health+Promotion+Among+Indigenous+Boys+and+Men+-+A+Community+Report.pdf
- Gauthier, B., Cerigo, H., Coutlée, F., Franco, E. L., & Brassard, P. (2018). Persistence of human papillomavirus 16, 18 and 52 variants in Inuit women from northern Quebec, Canada. *International Journal of Circumpolar Health*, 77(1), 1556556.
- Gauthier, B., Coutlée, F., Franco, E. L., & Brassard, P. (2015). Human papillomavirus variants among Inuit women in northern Quebec, Canada. *International Journal of Circumpolar Health*, 74(1), 29482.
- George, J. (2003). HIV statistics for Inuit called deceptively low. *Nunatsiaq News*, December 5. https://nunatsiaq.com/stories/ article/hiv_statistics_for_inuit_called_deceptively_low/
- German, D., & Latkin, C. A. (2012). Social stability and HIV risk behavior: Evaluating the role of accumulated vulnerability. *AIDS and Behaviour*, *16*, 168-78.
- Gesink, D., Whiskeyjack, L., & Guimond, T. (2019). Perspectives on restoring health shared by Cree women, Alberta, Canada. *Health Promotion International*, *34*(3), 454-461. DOI: 10.1093/heapro/dx099.

Gesink, D., Whiskeyjack, L., Suntjens, T., Mihic, A., & McGilvery, P. (2016). Abuse of power in relationships and sexual health. *Child Abuse & Neglect, 58*, 12-23.

Gesink Law, D., Rink, E., Mulvad, G., & Koch, A. (2008). Sexual health and sexually transmitted infections in the North American Arctic. *Emerging Infectious Diseases, 14*(1), 4-9. https://doi.org/10.3201/eid1401.071112.

Ghania, Y&. (2022). Sask. battles surging syphilis rates in First Nations communities, health officer says. *CBC News, Saskatchewan,* July 28. https://www.cbc.ca/news/ canada/saskatchewan/syphilis-rates-rising-first-nationscommunities-1.6534415

Gilbert, M., Chang, H.-J., Ablona, A., Salway, T., Ogilvie, G. S., Wong, J., Haag, D., Pedersen, H. N., Bannar-Martin, S., Campeau, L., Ford, G., Worthington, C., Grace, D., & Greenan, T. (2021). Accessing needed sexual health services during the COVID-19 pandemic in British Columbia, Canada: A survey of sexual health service clients. *Sexually Transmitted Infections*, *98*(5), 360-366. https://doi. org/10.1136/setrans-2021-055013.

Gilbert, M., Thomson, K., Salway, T., Haag, D., Grennan, T., Fairley, C. K., Buchner, C., Krajden, M., Kendall, P., Shoveller, J., Ogilvie G. (2017). Differences in experiences of barriers to STI testing between clients of the internetbased diagnostic testing service Get CheckedOnline.com and an STI clinic in Vancouver, Canada. *Sexually Transmitted Infections, 95*, 151-156.

Gittings, L., Malama, K., Logie, C. H., Lys, C. L., Taylor,
S. B., Mackay, K. I., Kanbari, A., Parker, S., & McNamee,
C. (2022). "Every day I grew stronger and stronger being there": Empowerment through land-and art-based Peer
Leader retreats with Indigenous and Northern young people. International Journal of Circumpolar Health, 81(1), 2125489.
DOI: 10.1080/22423982. 2022.2125489.

Goldenberg, S. M., Chettiar, J., Simo, A., Silverman, J. G., Strathdee, S. A., Montaner, J. S. G., & Shannon, K. (2014).
Early sex work initiation independently elevates odds of HIV infection and police arrest among adult sex workers in a Canadian setting. *Journal of Acquired Immune Deficiency* Syndrome, 65, 122-128.

Gone, J. P., Hartman, W. E., Pomerville, A., Wendt, D. C., Klem, S. H., & Burrage, R. L. (2019). The impact of historical trauma on health outcomes for Indigenous populations in the USA and Canada: A systematic review. *American Psychologist*, *74*(1), 20-35.

Goodman, A., Fleming, K., Markwick, N., Morrison, T., Lagimodiere, L., Kerr, T., & Western Aboriginal Harm Reduction Society. (2017). "They treated me like crap and I know it was because I was Native": The healthcare experiences of Aboriginal peoples living in Vancouver's inner city. *Social Science & Medicine, 178*, 87-94.

Gould, A. (2018). Testing for HIV has never been faster. *CBC News, New Brunswick*, June 27. https://www.cbc.ca/news/ canada/new-brunswick/hiv-fast-test-1.4722701

Government of Canada. (2017). Part 4. Immunizing agents - Human papillomavirus (HPV) vaccines. *Canadian immunization guide - For health professionals*. https://www. canada.ca/en/public-health/services/publications/healthyliving/canadian-immunization-guide-part-4-active-vaccines/ page-9-human-papillomavirus-vaccine.html

Government of Manitoba. (2018). 2016 Annual statistical update: HIV and AIDS. https://www.gov.mb.ca/health/publichealth/surveillance/hivaids/docs/dec2016.pdf

- Government of Manitoba. (2019). 2018 annual statistical update: HIV in Manitoba. https://www.gov.mb.ca/health/ publichealth/surveillance/hivaids/docs/dec2018.pdf
- Government of the Northwest Territories. (2022). New rapid tests introduced to combat syphilis outbreak. *News release*, July 19. https://www.gov.nt.ca/en/newsroom/new-rapidtests-introduced-combat-syphilis-outbreak#:-:text=We%20 are%20pleased%20to%20offer,of%20syphilis%20in%20 the%20NWT
- Goymann, H., Mavuso, M., McMahon, S. A., Hettema, A., Hughey, A. B., Matse, S., Dlamini, P., Kahn, K., Bärnighausen, T., Jahn, A., & Bärnighausen, K. (2023). "We should not be quiet but we should talk': Qualitative accounts of community-based communication of HIV pre-exposure prophylaxis. *Qualitative Health Research*, *33*(10), 842-856.
- Gratrix, J., Karwacki, J., Eagle, L., Rathjen, L., Singh, A., Chu, A., & Smyczek, P. (2022). Syphilis in Alberta, 2017-2020. *Canada Communicable Disease Report, 48*(2/3), 61-67.
- Greenwood, M., & MacDonald, N. (2021). *Vaccine mistrust: A legacy of colonialism.* Royal Society of Canada COVID-19 Series, Publication #102 (originally published in the Globe and Mail, March 31).

Hackett, L., Biderman, M., Doria, N., Courville, J., Bogner, E., Spencer, R., Miller, D., McMillan, J., & Numer, M. (2021). A rapid review of Indigenous boys' and men's sexual health in Canada. *Culture, Health & Sexuality, 23*(5), 705-721.

Haddad, N., Li, J. S., Totten, S., & McGuire, M. (2018). HIV in Canada-Surveillance Report, 2017. *Canada Communicable Disease Report, 44*(12), 348-56.

Haddad, N., Robert, A., Weeks, A., Popovic, N., Siu, W., & Archibald, C. (2019). HIV in Canada – Surveillance report, 2018. *Canada Communicable Disease Report, 45*(12), 304-312.

Haddad, N., Weeks, A., Robert, A., & Totten, S. (2021). HIV surveillance report 2019. *Canada Communicable Disease Report, 47*(1), 77-86.

Harfouche, M., Abu-Hijleh, F. M., James, C., Looker, K. J., & Abu-Raddad, L. J. (2021). Epidemiology of herpes simplex virus type 2 in sub-Saharan Africa: Systematic review, metaanalyses, and meta-regressions. *EClinical Medicine*, 35, 100876.

Harrigan, M. (2021). A resurgence of syphilis in Canada: Who is being affected most and what interventions are needed? Community AIDS Treatment Information Exchange (CATIE). https://www.catie.ca/prevention-in-focus/aresurgence-of-syphilis-in-canada-who-is-being-affectedmost-and-what

Halseth, R., & Odulaja, O. (forthcoming). *Trauma-informed care in the management and treatment of tuberculosis in Indigenous populations*. National Collaborating Centre for Indigenous Health.

Healey, G. (2014a). Inuit parent perspectives on sexual health communication with adolescent children in Nunavut: "It's kinda hard for me to try to find the words." *International Journal of Circumpolar Health*, *73*, 25070.

Healey, G. (2014b). Inuit family understandings of sexual health and relationships in Nunavut. *Canadian Journal of Public Health*, *105*(2), e133-137.

Healey, G. (2016). Youth perspectives on sexually transmitted infections and sexual health in Northern Canada and implications for public health practice. *International Journal of Circumpolar Health*, *75*(1), 1-6. https://doi.org/10.3402/ijch.v75.30706.

Health Canada. (2010). *First Nations health status report -Alberta region 2009-2010*. Government of Canada. https:// publications.gc.ca/collections/collection_2011/sc-hc/H26-4-2010-eng.pdf Heidebrecht, L., Iyer, S., Laframboise, S. L., Madampage, C., & King, A. (2021). 'Every one of us is a strand in that basket': Weaving together stories of Indigenous wellness and resilience from the perspective of those with lived and living experience with HIV/hepatitis C virus. *Journal of the Association of Nurses in AIDS Care*, 33(2), 189-201. DOI: 10.1097/JNC. 00000000000285

Heidinger, L. (2022). Violent victimization and perceptions of safety: Experiences of First Nations, Métis and Inuit women in Canada. *Juristat*, April 26.

Heilingloh, C. S., Lull, C., Kleiser, E., Alt, M., Schipper, L., Witzke, O., Trilling, M., Eis-Hübinger, A.-M., Dittmer, U., & Krawczyk, A. (2020). Herpes simplex virus type 2 is more difficult to neutralize by antibodies than herpes simplex virus type 1. *Vaccines*, 8(3), 487. https://doi.org/10.3390/ vacines8030478.

Henderson, R. I., Shea-Budgell, M., Healy, C., Letendre, A., Bill, L., Healy, B., Bednarczyk, R. A., Mrklas, K., Barnabe, C., Guichon, J., Bedingfield, N., MacDonald, S., Colquhoun, A., Glaze, S., Tash, T., Bell, C., Kellner, J., Richardson, R., Dixon, T., Starlight, J., & Nelson, G. (2018). First Nations people's perspectives on barriers and supports for enhancing HPV vaccination: Foundations for sustainable, community-driven strategies. *Gynecologic Oncology, 149*(1), 93-100.

Hosein, S. (2017). Exploring viral suppression rates among some Indigenous people who started ART. *CATIE News*, January 12. https://www.catie.ca/catie-news/exploring-viralsuppression-rates-among-some-indigenous-people-whostarted-art

Hughes, G., & Fifer, H. (2018). Point-of-care tests for Chlamydia and gonorrhoea in Indigenous communities. *The Lancet, 18*, 1054-1055.

Hunt, S. (2016). An introduction to the health of two-spirit people: Historical, contemporary and emergent issues. National Collaborating Centre for Aboriginal Health.

Huynh, C., Minuk, G. Y., Uhanova, J., Baikie, M., Wong, T., & Osiowy, C. (2017). Serological and molecular epidemiological outcomes after two decades of universal infant hepatitis B virus (HBV) vaccination in Nunavut, Canada. *Vaccine*, *35*(35, Part B), 4515-22.

Indigenous Services Canada (ISC). (2018). Saskatchewan First Nations 2018 health status report. Government of Canada. https://www.cps.sk.ca/iMIS/Documents/For%20Physicians/ Indigenous%20Wellness/ISC_FNIHB_SFN_2018_Health_ Status_Report-FINAL.pdf

Indigenous Services Canada (ISC). (2019). *Hepatitis C in First Nations living on reserve*. Government of Canada. https:// www.sac-isc.gc.ca/eng/1569955684724/1569958287940 Indigenous Services Canada (ISC). (2020). Annual report to Parliament 2020. Government of Canada. https://www.sacisc.gc.ca/eng/1602010609492/1602010631711

Indigenous Services Canada (ISC). (2020b). *Don't wait, vaccinate! HPV (human papillomavirus)*. Government of Canada. https://www.sac-isc.gc.ca/ eng/1572286220756/1572289813916

Institut National de Santé Publique du Québec. (2017). *Portrait des infections transmissibles sexuallement et par le sang (ITSS) au Québec, Année 2017 et projections 2018.* https:// www.inspq.qc.ca/sites/default/files/publications/2471_ infections_transmissibles_sexuellement_sang_2017.pdf

Institute for Quality and Efficiency in Health Care. (2018). Genital herpes: How can you prevent the spread of herpes in sexual relationships. *InformedHealth.org.* National Center for Biotechnology Information. https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/ books/NBK525787/

Integrated DNA Technologies. (2023). *RNA polymerase: What is it and what does it do?* https://www.idtdna.com/pages/education/decoded/article/rna-polymerase-what-is-it-and-what-does-it-do#:~:text=Each%20of%20the%20RNAP%20 types,transfer%20RNA%20and%205s%20rRNA.

Jacklin, K. M., Henderson, R. I., Green, M. E., Walker, L. M., Calam, B., & Crowshoe, L. J. (2017). Health care experiences of Indigenous people living with type 2 diabetes in Canada. *Canadian Medical Association Journal, 189*(3), E103-E112.

Jackson, C., & Tremblay, G. (2019). Accelerating our response: Government of Canada action plan on sexually transmitted and blood-borne infections. *Canada Communicable Disease Report*, 45(12), 323-26. https://doi.org/10.14745/ccdr. v45i12a04.

Jefferies, M., Rauff, B., Rashid, H., Lam, T., & Rafiq, S. (2018). Update on global epidemiology of viral hepatitis and preventive strategies. *World Journal of Clinical Cases, 6*(13), 589-99.

Jiang, Y., Brassard, P., Severini, A., Goleski, V., Santos, M., Leamon, A., Chatwood, S., Lys, C., Johnson, G., Wong, T., Kotaska, A., Kandola, K., & Mao, Y. (2011). Type-specific prevalence of human papillomavirus infection among women in the Northwest Territories, Canada. *Journal of Infection and Public Health*, 4(5-60), 219-227.

Jiang, Y., Brassard, P., Severini, A., Mao, Y., Li, Y. A., Laroche, J., Chatwood, S., Corriveau, A., Kandola, K., Hanley, B., Sobol, I., Ar-Rushdi, M., Johnson, G., Lo, J., Ratnam, S., Wong, T., Demers, A., Jayaraman, G., Totten, S., & Morrison, H. (2013). The prevalence of human papillomavirus and its impact on cervical dysplasia in northern Canada. *Infectious Agents and Cancer*, 8, 25. Jin, A., & Martin, J. D. (2003). Hepatitis A among residents of First Nations reserves in British Columbia, 1991-1996. *Canadian Journal of Public Health*, *94*(3), 176-9.

Jongbloed, K., Friedman, A. J., Pearce, M. E., Van Der Kop, M. L., Thomas, V., Demerais, L., Pooyak, S., Schechter, M. T., Lester, R. T., Spittal, P. M., & The Cedar Project Partnership. (2016). The Cedar Project WelTel mHealth intervention for HIV prevention in young Indigenous people who use illicit drugs: Study protocol for a randomized controlled trial. *Trials*, 17, 128.

Jongbloed, K., Pooyak, S., Sharma, R., Mackie, J., Pearce, M. E., Laliberte, N., Demerais, L., Lester, R. T., Schechter, M. T., Loppie, C., & Spittal, P. M. for the Cedar Partnership. (2019). Experiences of the HIV cascade of care among Indigenous Peoples: A systematic review. *AIDS and Behavior*, 23, 984-1003.

Kalichman, S. C., Grebler, T., Amaral, C. M., McKerey, M., White, D., Kalichman, M. O., Cherry, C., & Eaton, L. (2013). Assumed infectiousness, treatment adherence and sexual behaviours: Applying the Swiss Statement on infectiousness to HIV-positive alcohol drinkers. *HIV Medicine*, 14(5), 263-272.

Karpf, M. (1990). Lymphadenopathy. In H. K. Walker, W. D. Hall, & J. W. Hurst (eds.), *Clinical methods: The history, physical, and laboratory examinations*, 3rd edition (Chap. 149). Butterworths. https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/books/ NBK256/#:~:text=Tender%2C%20painful%20nodes%20 that%20appear,will%20have%20lymphoma%20or%20 leukemia.

Kerkerian, G., Kestler, M., Carter, A., Wang, L., Kronfli, N., Sereda, P., Roth, E., Millowy, M.-J., Pick, N., Money, D., Webster, K., Hogg, R. S., de Pokomandy, A., Loutfy, M., Kaida, A., on behalf of the CHIWOS Research Team. (2018). Attrition across the HIV cascade of care among a diverse cohort of women living with HIV in Canada. *Journal of Acquired Immune Deficiency Syndrome*, *79*(2), 226-236.

Kinasevych, B. (2011). *The determinants of sexually transmitted and blood borne infection risk among incarcerated youth* [Unpublished Master's thesis]. University of Manitoba, Winnipeg, Manitoba, Canada.

Kingston, M., & Carlin, E. (2002). Treatment of sexually transmitted infections with single-dose therapy: A double-edged sword. *Drugs, 62*, 871-878.

Koehn, K., Cassidy-Matthews, C., Pearce, M., Aspin, C., Pruden, H., Ward, J., Mullen, M., Hogg, R. S., & Nicholson, V. (2021). Rates of new HIV diagnoses among Indigenous peoples in Canada, Australia, New Zealand, and the United States: 2009-2017. *AIDS*, 35(10), 1683-1687. Krementz, D. H., Macklin, C., King, A., Fleming, T., Kafeety, A., Lambert, S., Leo Laframboise, S., & Nicholson, V. (2018). Connections with the land: A scoping review on cultural wellness retreats as health interventions for Indigenous Peoples living with HIV, hepatitis C, or both. *Ab-Original*, 2(1), 23-47. https://doi.org/10.5325/ aboriginal.2.1.0023.

Krüsi, A., Ranville, F., Gurney, L., Lyons, T., Shoveller, J., & Shannon, K. (2018). Positive sexuality: HIV disclosure, gender, violence and the law - A qualitative study. *PLoS One*, *13*(8), e0202776.

Kurtz, D. L. M., Nyberg, J. C., Van Den Tillaart, S., Mills, B., & the Okanagan Urban Aboriginal Health Research Collective. (2008). Silencing of voice: An act of structural violence: Urban Aboriginal women speak out about their experiences with health care. *Journal of Aboriginal Health*, *1*, 53-64.

Kurtzman, L. (2023, February 22). *Doxycycline for STI* prevention: Highly effective, minimal drug resistance [media release]. University of California San Francisco. https://www. ucsf.edu/news/2023/02/424861/doxycycline-sti-preventionhighly-effective-minimal-drug-resistance

Land, E. (2019). *Fact sheet: Undetectable viral load.* San Francisco AIDS Foundation. https://www.sfaf. org/collections/beta/fact-sheet-undetectable-viralload/#:~:text=Additional%20information,person%20 still%20is%20HIV%2Dpositive.

Layland, E. K., Carter, J. A., Perry, N. S., Cienfuegos-Szalay, J., Nelson, K. M., Peasant Bonner, C., & Rendina, H. J. (2020). A systematic review of stigma in sexual and gender minority health interventions. *Translational Behavioral Medicine*, 10(5), 1200-1210.

Lam, A., Woods, S., & Ndubuka, N. (2017). Evaluating the timeliness of reporting in a First Nations communicable diseases program. *Canada Communicable Disease Report*, 43(6), 133-137.

Landy, R. (2019). Participatory filmmaking and HIV/AIDS education with Indigenous youth in Labrador: Exploring knowledge/attitude change and the experiences of Indigenous youth and Elders [Unpublished Doctoral dissertation]. Memorial University of Newfoundland.

Landy, R., Atkinson, D., Ogilvie, K., St. Denys, R., Lund, C., & Worthington, C., on behalf of the DRUM & SASH Team. (2022). Assessing the acceptability of dried blood spot testing for HIV and STBBI among Métis people in a community driven pilot project in Alberta, Canada. *BMC Health Services Research*, 22, 1496. Landy, R., & Worthington, C. (2021). 'Do something with them!': Developing 'comfortable' engagement with Elders participating in an arts-based sexual health promotion and STBBI prevention workshop for Indigenous youth in Labrador, Canada. *International Journal of Circumpolar Health, 80*(1), 1986250. https://doi.org/10.1080/22423982. 2021.1986250.

Laprise, C., & Bolster-Foucault, C. (2021). Understanding barriers and facilitators to HIV testing in Canada from 2009-2019: A systematic mixed studies review. *Canada Communicable Diseases Report, 47*(2), 105-25.

Larcombe, L., McAlberta, A., Samuel, S., Samuel, J., Payne, M., Van Haute, S., Singer, M., Ringaert, L., Meyers, A. F. A., Kinew, K., Keynan, Y., MacDonald, K., Antsanen, J., & Orr, P. (2019). A Dene First Nation's community readiness assessment to take action against HIV/AIDS: A pilot project. *International Journal of Circumpolar Health*, 78(1), 1588092.

Lavoie, J. G., Browne, A., Varcoe, C., Wong, S., & Fridkin, A. (2015). Missing pathways to self-governance: Aboriginal health policy in British Columbia. *The International Indigenous Policy Journal*, 6(1), 1-21. DOI: https://doi. org/10.18584/iipj.2015.6.1.2



LeBlanc, M.-A. (2019). Point of Care testing for sexually transmitted and blood-borne infections: A Canadian realist review. National Collaborating Centre for Infectious Diseases.

Lemchuk-Favel, L., & Jock, R. (2004). Aboriginal health systems in Canada: Nine case studies. *Journal of Aboriginal Health*, *1*, 28-52.

Leutkemeyer, A. F., Donnell, D., Dombrowski, J. C., Cohen, S., Grabow, C., Brown, C. E., Malinski, C., Perkins, R., Nasser, M., Lopez, C., Vittinghoff, E., Buchbinder, S. P. et al., for the DoxyPEP Study Team. (2023). Postexposure doxycycline to prevent bacterial sexually transmitted infections. *New England Journal of Medicine*, 388, 1296-1306.

Logie, C. H., & Lys, C. (2015). The process of developing a community-based research agenda with lesbian, gay, bisexual, transgender and queer youth in the Northwest Territories, Canada. *International Journal of Circumpolar Health*, 74, 28188.

Logie, C. H., Lys, C. L., Dias, L., Schott, N., Zouboules, M. R., MacNeill, N., & Mackay, K. (2019c). "Automatic assumption of your gender, sexuality and sexual practices is also discrimination": Exploring sexual healthcare experiences and recommendations among sexually and gender diverse persons in Arctic Canada. *Health and Social Care*, 27(5), 1204-1213.

Logie, C. H., Lys, C. L., Fujioka, J., MacNeill, N., Mackay, K., & Yasseen Lii, A. S. (2018c). Sexual practices and condom use among a sample of Northern and Indigenous adolescents in Northern Canada: Cross-sectional survey results. *BMJ Sexual & Reproductive Health*, 45(2), 147-154. DOI: 10. 1136/bmjsrh-2018-200174.

Logie, C. H., Lys, C. L., Mackay, K., MacNeill, N., Pauchulo, A., & Yasseen, A. S. (2019b). Syndemic factors associated with safer sex efficacy among northern and Indigenous adolescents in Arctic Canada. *International Journal of Behavioral Medicine*, 26(4), 449-53. https://doi.org/10.1007/ s12529-019-09797-0.

Logie, C. H., Lys, C. L., Okumu, M., & Fujioka, J. (2019a). Exploring factors associated with condom use self-efficacy and condom use among northern and Indigenous adolescent peer leaders in northern Canada. *Vulnerable Children and Youth Studies*, 14(1), 50-62.

Logie, C. H., Lys, C., Okumu, M., & Leone, C. (2018b). Pathways between depression, substance use and multiple sex partners among Northern and Indigenous young women in the Northwest Territories, Canada: Results from a crosssectional survey. *Sexually Transmitted Infectious*, *94*(8), 604-606. DOI: 10.1136/sextrans-2017-053265. Logie, C. H., Lys, C. L., Schott, N., Dias, L., Zouboules, M. R., & Mackay, K. (2018a). 'In the North you can't be openly gay': Contextualising sexual practices among sexually and gender diverse person in Northern Canada. *Global Public Health*, *13*(12), 1865-1877. DOI: 10.1080/17441692.2018.1449881

Lourenço, L., Kelly, M., Tarasuk, J., Stairs, K., Bryson, M., Popovic, N., & Aho, J. (2021). The hepatitis C epidemic in Canada: An overview of recent trends in surveillance, injection drug use, harm reduction and treatment. *Canada Communicable Disease Report*, 47(12), 561-570.

Lydon-Hassen, K., Jonah, L., Mayotte, L., Hrabowy, A., Graham, B., Missens, B., Nelson, A., Andkhoie, M., Nahachewsky, D., Yalamanchili, D. T., Gupta, S., Ndubuka, N., Khan, I., Yacoub, W., Bryson, M., & Paquette, D. (2022). Summary findings from Tracks surveys implemented by First Nations in Saskatchewan and Alberta, Canada, 2018-2020. *Canada Communicable Disease Report, 48*(4), 146-156.

Lys, C., Gesink, D., Strike, C., & Larkin, J. (2018b). Body mapping as a youth sexual health intervention and data collection tool. *Qualitative Health Research, 28*(7), 1185-1198. DOI: 10.1177/1049732317750862.

Lys, C., Gesink, D., Strike, C., & Larkin, J. (2019). Social ecological factors of sexual subjectivity and contraceptive use and access among young women in the Northwest Territories, Canada. *The Journal of Sex Research*, *56*(8), 999-1008.

Lys, C., Logie, C. H., Mackay, K. I., MacNeill, N., Loppie, C., Gittings, L., & Yasseen, A. (2023). Exploring uptake of HIV/STI knowledge and safer sex-efficacy in an arts-based sexual health workshop among Northern and Indigenous adolescents in the Northwest Territories, Canada. *AIDS Care*, *35*(3), 411-416.

Lys, C., Logie, C. H., MacNeill, N., Loppie, C., Dias, L. V., Masching, R., & Gesink, D. (2016). Arts-based HIV and STI prevention intervention with northern and Indigenous youth in the Northwest Territories: Study protocol for a nonrandomised cohort pilot study. *BMJ Open, 6*, e012399.

Lys, C. L., Logie, C. H., & Okumu, M. (2018a). Pilot testing Fostering Open eXpression among Youth (FOXY), an arts-based HIV/STI prevention approach for adolescent women in the Northwest Territories, Canada. *International Journal of STD & AIDS, 29*(10), 980-86. https://doi. org/10.1177/0956462418770873.

MacAfee, L. K., Harfmann, R. F., Cannon, L. M., Minadeao, L., Kolenic, G., Kusunoki, Y., & Dalton, V. K. (2019).
Substance use treatment patient and provider perspectives on accessing sexual and reproductive health services: Barriers, facilitators, and the need for integration of care. *Substance Use & Misuse*, 55(1), 95-107.

MacDonald, S. E., Kenzie, L., Letendre, A., Bill, L., Shea-Budgell, M., Henderson, R., Barnabe, C., Guichon, J. R., Colquhoun, A., Ganshorn, H., Bedingfield, N., Vandenboogaard, P. D., Bednarczyk, R. A., Glaze, S., & Nelson, G. (2023). Barriers and supports for uptake of human papillomavirus vaccination in Indigenous people globally: A systematic review. *PLoS Global Public Health*, 3(1), e0001406.

MacLean, R. (2018). Resources to address stigma related to sexuality, substance use and sexually transmitted and bloodborne infections. *Canada Communicable Disease Report*, 44(2), 62-67. https://doi.org/10.14745/ccdr.v44i02a05.

MacPhail, C., & McKay, K. (2018). Social determinants in the sexual health of adolescent Aboriginal Australians: A systematic review. *Health and Social Care in the Community*, *26*(2), 131-146.

Madimenos, F. C., Gildner, T. E., Eick, G. N., Sugiyama, L. S., & Snodgrass, J. J. (2022). Bringing the lab bench to the field: Point-of-care testing for enhancing health research and stakeholder engagement in rural/remote, Indigenous, and resource-limited contexts. *American Journal of Human Biology*, 34(11), e23808.

Malama, K., Logie, C. H., Sokolovic, N., Skeritt, L., O'Brien, N., Cardinal, C., Gagnier, B., Loutfy, M., Kaida, A., & de Pokomandy, A. (2023). Pathways from HIV-related stigma, racial discrimination and gender discrimination to HIV treatment outcomes among women living with HIV in Canada: Longitudinal cohort findings. *Journal of Acquired Immune Deficiency Syndrome, 0.* DOI: 10.1097/ QAI.00000000003241.

Martin, J. D., Mathias, R. G., Sarin, C., & Byrne, S. E. (2002). HIV and hepatitis B surveillance in First Nations alcohol and drug treatment centres in British Columbia, Canada, 1992-2000. *International Journal of Circumpolar Health*, 61(2), 104-109.

Matheson, K., Seymour, A., Landry, J., Ventura, K., Arsenault, E., & Anisman, H. (2022). Canada's colonial genocide of Indigenous Peoples: A review of the psychosocial and neurobiological processes linking trauma and intergenerational outcomes. *International Journal of Environmental Research and Public Health, 19*(11), 6455.

Mathew, J. Jr., & Sapra, A. (2022). Herpes simplex Type 2. *StatPearls* [Internet]. Treasure Island: StatPearls Publishing. Retrieved July 25, 2023 from https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/ books/NBK554427/?report=reader

Maxwell, K. (2011). *Making history heal: Settler-colonialism and urban Indigenous healing in Ontario, 1970s-2010* [Unpublished PhD dissertation]. Dalla Lana School of Public Health, University of Toronto. McCallum, M. J., & Perry, A. (2018). *Structures of indifference: An Indigenous life and death in a Canadian city*. University of Manitoba Press.

McClarty, L. M., Blanchard, J. F., & Becker, M. L. (2021). Leaving no one behind? An equity analysis of the HIV care cascade among a cohort of people living with HIV in Manitoba, Canada. *BMC Public Health*, *21*, 281.

McNeil, R., Kerr, T., Coleman, B., Maher, L., Milloy, M. J., & Small, W. (2017). Antiretroviral therapy interruption among HIV positive people who use drugs in a setting with a community-wide HIV treatment-as-prevention initiative. *AIDS and Behavior*, 21, 402-409.

Medical Officer of Health. (2013). *First Nations health status report, Alberta region 2011-12*. Health Canada. https:// publications.gc.ca/collections/collection_2013/sc-hc/H26-4-2012-eng.pdf

MedlinePlus. (n.d.). *Antibody serology tests*. National Library of Medicine (US. https://medlineplus.gov/lab-tests/antibody-serology-tests/

Medline Plus. (2020). *Herpes (HSV) test*. National Library of Medicine. https://medlineplus.gov/lab-tests/herpes-hsv-test/#:-:text=For%20a%20swab%20test%2C%20a,a%20test%20tube%20or%20vial.

Mehrabadi, A. (2007). *The Cedar Project: Exploring the HIV vulnerabilities of young Aboriginal women in two Canadian cities* [Master of Science thesis]. University of British Columbia.

Mendlowitz, A. B., Bremner, K. E., Feld, J. J., Jones, L., Hill, E., Antone, E., Liberty, L., Boucher, R., & Krahn, M. D. (2023b). Lessons from First Nations partnerships in hepatitis C research and the co-creation of knowledge. *Canadian Liver Journal*, DOI: 10.3138/canlivj-2022-0011

Mendlowitz, A. B., Bremner, K. E., Krahn, M., Walker, J. D., Wong, W. W. L., Sander, B., Jones, L., Isaranuwatchai, W., & Feld, J. J. (2023a). Characterizing the cascade of care for hepatitis C virus infection among Status First Nations peoples in Ontario: A retrospective cohort study. *Canadian Medical Association Journal*, 195(14), E499-E512. DOI: https://doi.org/10.1503/cmaj.220717.

Mendlowitz, A., Bremner, K. E., Walker, J. D., Wong, W.W. L., Feld, J. J., Sander, B., Jones, L., Isaranuwatchai, W., & Krahn, M. (2021). Hepatitis C virus infection in First Nations populations in Ontario from 2006 to 2014: A population-based retrospective cohort analysis. *CMAJ Open*, 9(3), E886-E896. DOI: https://doi.org/10.9778/ cmajo.20200164.

Metcalfe, S. (2012). *Host factors associated with HPV infection in Inuit women of northern Quebec* [Unpublished Master of Science thesis]. Department of Epidemiology, Biostatistics and Occupational Health, McGill University.

Miller, C. L., Pearce, M. E., Moniruzzaman, A., Thomas, V., Christian, C. W., Schechter, M. T., Spittal, P. M., & the Cedar Project Partnership. (2011). The Cedar Project: Risk factors for transition to injection drug use among young, urban Aboriginal people. *Canadian Medical Association Journal, 183*(10), 1147-54. https://doi.org/10.1503/ cmaj.101257.

Minichiello, A., Swab, M., Chongo, M., Marshall, Z., Gahagan, J., Maybank, A., Hot, A., Schwandt, M., Gaudry, S., Hurley, O., & Asghari, S. (2017). HIV Point-of-Care testing in Canadian settings: A scoping review. *Frontiers in Public Health*, *5*, 76. https://www.frontiersin.org/ article/10.3389/fpubh.2017.00076.

Minichiello, V., Rahman, S., & Hussain, R. (2013). Epidemiology of sexually transmitted infections in global Indigenous populations: Data availability and gaps. *International Journal of STD and AIDS, 24*(10), 759-68.

Minority HIV/AIDS Fund. (2022). What are HIV and AIDS? *HIV.gov*, June 15. US Department of Health and Human Services. https://www.hiv.gov/hi-basics/overview/about-hiv-and-aids/what-are-hiv-and-aids

Mohatt, N. V., Thompson, A. B., Tahi, N. D., & Kraemer Tebes, J. (2014). Historical trauma as public narrative: A conceptual review of how history impacts present-day health. *Social Science & Medicine, 106*, 128-136.

Monchalin, R., Lesperance, A., Flicker, S., Logie, C., & the Native Youth Sexual Health Network. (2016b). Sexy Health Carnival on the Powwow Trail: HIV prevention by and for Indigenous youth. International *Journal of Indigenous Health*, *11*(1), 159-77.

Monchalin, R., Flicker, S., Wilson, C., Prentice, T., Oliver, V., & Jackson, R.; Native Youth Sexual Health Network.
(2016a). When you follow your heart, you provide a path for others": Indigenous models of youth leadership in HIV prevention. *International Journal of Indigenous Health*, *11*, 135–158. doi:10.18357/ijih111201616012

Mooney-Somers, J., Olsen, A., Erick, W., Scott, R., Akee, A., Kaldor, J., & Maher, L. (2011). Learning from the past: Young Indigenous people's accounts of blood-borne viral and sexually transmitted infections as resilience narratives. *Culture, Health & Sexuality, 13*(2), 173-186.

Mosby, I., & Swidrovich, J. (2021). Medical experimentation and the roots of COVID-19 vaccine hesitancy among Indigenous Peoples in Canada. *Canadian Medical Association Journal*, 193(11), E381-383. Mosley, T., Khaketla, M., Armstrong, H. L., Cui, Z., Sereda, P., Lachowsky, N. J., Hull, M. W., Olarewaju, G., Jollimore, J., Edward, J., Montaner, J. S. G., Hogg, R. S., Roth, E. A., & Moore, D. M. (2018). Trends in awareness and use of HIV PrEP among gay, bisexual, and other men who have sex with men in Vancouver, Canada 2012-2016. *AIDS and Behavior*, *22*, 3550-3565.

Mrklas, K. J., MacDonald, S., Shea-Budgell, M. A.,
Bedingfield, N., Ganshorn, H., Glaze, S., Bill, L., Healy,
B., Healy, C., Guichon, J., Colquhoun, A., Bell, C.,
Richardson, R., Henderson, R., Kellner, J., Barnabe, C.,
Bednarczyk, R. A., Letendre, A., & Nelson, G. S. (2018).
Barriers, supports, and effective interventions for uptake of
human papillomavirus- and other vaccines within global and
Canadian Indigenous Peoples: A systematic review protocol.
Systematic Reviews, 7, 40.

- National Cancer Institute. (n.d.). *HPV and cancer*. Government of the United States. https://www.cancer.gov/about-cancer/ causes-prevention/risk/infectious-agents/hpv-and-cancer
- National Collaborating Centre for Indigenous Health (NCCIH). (2017a). *Education as a social determinant of First Nations, Inuit, and Métis health*. https://www.nccih.ca/495/ Education_as_a_social_determinant_of_First_Nations,_ Inuit_and_M%C3%A9tis_health.nccih?id=226

National Collaborating Centre for Indigenous Health (NCCIH). (2017b). *Employment as a social determinant of First Nations, Inuit, and Métis health*. https://www.nccih. ca/495/Employment_as_a_social_determinant_of_First_ Nations,_Inuit_and_M%C3%A9tis_health.nccih?id=228

National Collaborating Centre for Indigenous Health (NCCIH). (2017c). *Housing as a social determinant of First Nations, Inuit, and Métis health*. https://www.nccih.ca/495/ Housing_as_a_social_determinant_of_First_Nations,_Inuit,_ and_M%C3%A9tis_health.nccih?id=20

National Collaborating Centre for Indigenous Health (NCCIH). (2020). Poverty as a social determinant of First Nations, Inuit, and Métis health. https://www.nccih.ca/495/ Poverty_as_a_social_determinant_of_First_Nations,_Inuit,_ and_M%C3%A9tis_health.nccih?id=289

- National Institutes of Health. (2023). Antibiotic can help prevent common sexually transmitted infections. *NIH Research Matters*, April 25. https://www.nih.gov/news-events/ nih-research-matters/antibiotic-can-help-prevent-commonsexually-transmitted-infections
- Negin, J., Aspin, C., Gadsden, T., & Reading, C. (2015). HIV among Indigenous Peoples: A review of the literature on HIV-related behaviour since the beginning of the epidemic. *AIDS and Behavior*, 19(9), 1720-34. https://doi.org/10.1007/ s10461-015-1023-0.

Nguyen, N. H., Subhan, F.B., Williams, K., & Chan, C. B. (2020). Barriers and mitigating strategies to healthcare access in Indigenous communities of Canada: A narrative review. *Healthcare*, *8*, 112.

Niruban, J., Meyer, G., Parker, P., Gratrix, J., & Smyczek, P. (2019). Incentive testing and treatment for STBBI in hard to reach populations in Edmonton, Alberta, Canada (Poster presentations). *Sexually Transmitted Infections*, 95(Supp 1), A171.1-A171. https://doi.org/10.1136/sextrans-2019sti.431.

O'Brien, N., Martin, C., Peltier, D., Kaida, A., Becker, M., Bourassa, C., Gervais, L., Bruce, S., Loutfy, M., & de Pokomandy, A. (2020). Employing Indigenous methodologies to understand women's perceptions of HIV, health, and well-being in Quebec, Canada. *International Review of Qualitative Research*, *13*(2), 160-81. https://doi. org/10.1177/1940844720934366.

Odenwald, M. A., & Paul, S. (2022). Viral hepatitis: Past, present, and future. *World of Gastroenterology*, 28(14), 1405-29.

Office of the Chief Medical Officer of Health. (2016). *Reportable communicable diseases in Nunavut, 2007 to 2014.* Department of Health, Government of Nunavut.

Ottawa Public Health. (2023). Sexually transmitted blood borne infections (STBBI). https://www.ottawapublichealth. ca/en/public-health-topics/sexually-transmitted-bloodborne-infections.aspx#:~:text=Most%20STIs%20are%20 transmitted%20through,reduce%20the%20risk%20 of%20STBBIs.

Pagkas-Bather, J., Young, L. E., Chen, Y.-T., & Schnider, J. A. (2020). Social network interventions for HIV transmission elimination. *Current HIV/AIDS Reports*, 17, 450-457.

Palmer, A., Gabler, K., Rachlis, B., Ding, E., Chia, J., Bacani, N., Bayoumi, A. M., Closon, K., Kein, M., Cooper, C., Burchell, A., Walmsley, S., Kaida, A., & Hogg, R. for the Canadian Observational Cohort (CANOC) Collaboration. (2018). Viral suppression and viral rebound among young adults living with HIV in Canada. *Medicine*, 97(22), e10562. Pan American Health Organization (PAHO). (2016). *New guidelines for Chlamydia, gonorrhoea and syphilis*. https://www3.paho.org/hq/index.php?option=com_content&view=article&id=12446:new-guidelines-Chlamydia-gonorrhoea-syphilis&Itemid=0&lang=en#gsc.tab=0

Pan American Health Organization (PAHO). (2019). Genital herpes: Frequently asked questions. https://www3. paho.org/hq/index.php?option=com_content&view=a rticle&id=15067:preguntas-frecuentes-sobre-el-herpesgenital&Itemid=0&lang=en#gsc.tab=0

Pan American Health Organization. (2020). Antiretroviral therapy. https://www.paho.org/en/topics/antiretroviral-therapy

Pandey, M., Reed, N., Konrad, S., Campbell, T., Cote, B., Isbister, T., Ahenakew, V., Isbister, P., Albert, J., & Skinner, S. (2021). Hepatitis C care and elimination in Ahtahkakoop Cree Nation: An Indigenous community-led model. *Clinical Liver Disease*, 17(4), 320-25. https://doi.org/10.1002/ cld.1117.

Parmar, P., Corsi, D. J., & Cooper, C. (2016). Distribution of hepatitis C risk factors and HCV treatment outcomes among central Canadian Aboriginal. *Canadian Journal of Gastroenterology and Hepatology*, 5, e8987976. https://doi. org/10.1155/2016/8987976.

Pearce, M. E., Christian, W. M., Patterson, K., Norris, K., Moniruzzaman, A., Craib, K. J. P., Schechter, M. T., & Spittal, P. M. for the Cedar Project Partnership. (2008). The Cedar Project: historical trauma, sexual abuse and HIV risk among young Aboriginal people who use injection and non-injection drugs in two Canadian cities. *Social Science & Medicine*, 66(11), 2185-2194. Pearce, M. E., Jongbloed, K., Demerais, L., MacDonald, H., Christian, W. M., Sharma, R., Pick, N., Yoshida, E. M., Spittal, P. M., & Klein, M. B. (2019). "Another thing to live for": Supporting HCV treatment and cure among Indigenous people impacted by substance use in Canadian cities. *International Journal of Drug Policy*, 74, 52-61.

Pearce, M. E., Jongbloed, K., Pooyak, S., Christian, K. W. M., Teegee, M. G. (White Wolf) M., Caron, N. R., Thomas, V., Henderson, E., Zamar, D., Yoshida, E. M., Schechter, M. T., & Spittal, P. M. (2021). The Cedar Project: Exploring the role of colonial harms and childhood maltreatment on HIV and hepatitis C infection in a cohort study involving young Indigenous people who use drugs in two Canadian cities. *BMJ Open, 11*(7), e042545. https://doi.org/10.1136/ bmjopen-2020-042545.

Petca, A., Borislavschi, A., Zvanca, M. E., Petca, R.-C., Sandru, F., & Dumitrascu, M. H. (2020). Non-sexual HPV transmission and role of vaccination for a better future (Review). *Experimental and Therapeutic Medicine*, 20(6), 186.

Pham, B., Duval, B., De Serres, G., Gilca, V., Tricco, A. C., Ochnio, J., & Scheifele, D. W. (2005). Seroprevalence of hepatitis A infection in a low endemicity country: A systematic review. *BMC Infectious Diseases*, *5*, 56.

Pilarinos, A., Field, S., Vasarhelyi, K., Hall, D., Fox, D., Price, R., Bonshor, L., & Bingham, B. (2023). A qualitative exploration of Indigenous patients' experiences of racism and perspectives on improving cultural safety in health care. *CMAJ Open*, 11(3), E404-E410.

Pockros, P. J. (2023). Direct-acting antivirals for the treatment of hepatitis C virus infection. In *UpToDate*. Walters Kluwer. https://www.uptodate.com/contents/direct-acting-antiviralsfor-the-treatment-of-hepatitis-c-virus-infection

Poirier, B., Sethi, S., Garvey, G., Hedges, J., Canfell, K., Smith, M., Ju, X., & Jamieson, L. (2021). HPV vaccine: Uptake and understanding among global Indigenous communities - a qualitative systematic review. *BMC Public Health*, 21, 2062.

Popovic, N., Williams, A., Périnet, S., Campeau, L., Yang, Q., Zhang, F., Yan, P., Feld, J., Janjua, N., Klein, M., Krajden, M., Wong, W., & Cox, J. (2022). National hepatitis C estimates: Incidence, prevalence, undiagnosed proportion and treatment, Canada, 2019. *Canada Communicable Disease Report, 48*(11/12), 540-549.

Poteat, T. C., & Logie, C. H. (2022). A case for strengthsbased approaches to addressing intersectional stigma in HIV research. *American Journal of Public Health*, 112(54), S347-S349.

Public Health Agency of Canada (PHAC). (2008). History. *About the agency*. Government of Canada. https://www.canada.ca/en/public-health/corporate/mandate/about-agency/history.html

Public Health Agency of Canada (PHAC). (2011a). *Population-specific HIV/AIDS status report: Aboriginal Peoples*. Government of Canada. https://www.catie.ca/sites/default/ files/26344.pdf

Public Health Agency of Canada (PHAC). (2011b). *Hepatitis C virus (HCV) among Aboriginal people surveyed by three national enhanced surveillance systems in Canada*. Government of Canada. https://publications.gc.ca/collections/ collection_2011/aspc-phac/HP40-52-2010-eng.pdf

Public Health Agency of Canada (PHAC). (2011c). Brief report: Hepatitis B infection in Canada. *Epi-Update*. https:// www.phac-aspc.gc.ca/id-mi/pdf/hepB-eng.pdf

Public Health Agency of Canada (PHAC). (2011d). Chapter 8: HIV/AIDS. *Epi updates, July 2010 – HIV/AIDS among Aboriginal People in Canada*. Government of Canada. https://www.canada.ca/en/public-health/services/hiv-aids/ publications/epi-updates/chapter-8-hiv-aids-amongaboriginal-people-canada.html.

Public Health Agency of Canada (PHAC). (2013). The Chief Public Health Officer's report on the state of public health in Canada: Infectious disease - the never-ending threat. Government of Canada. https://www.canada.ca/ content/dam/phac-aspc/migration/phac-aspc/cphorsphcrespcacsp/2013/assets/pdf/2013-eng.pdf

Public Health Agency of Canada (PHAC). (2014a). Chapter 8: HIV/AIDS among Aboriginal people in Canada. *HIV/AIDS Epi updates*. Government of Canada. https://www.canada. ca/content/dam/phac-aspc/migration/phac-aspc/aids-sida/ publication/epi/2010/pdf/ch8-eng.pdf

Public Health Agency of Canada (PHAC). (2014b). *Population-specific status report: HIV/AIDS and other sexually transmitted and blood borne infections among youth in Canada*. Government of Canada. https://www.canada.ca/content/ dam/phac-aspc/migration/phac-aspc/aids-sida/publication/ ps-pd/youth-jeunes/assets/pdf/youth-jeunes-eng.pdf

Public Health Agency of Canada (PHAC). (2015). *Antimicrobial resistance in N. Gonorrhoeae - Infographic*. Government of Canada. https://www.canada.ca/en/publichealth/services/infectious-diseases/sexual-health-sexuallytransmitted-infections/canadian-guidelines/antimicrobialresistance-gonorrhoeae-infographic.html

Public Health Agency of Canada (PHAC). (2018a). A pan-Canadian framework for action: Reducing the health impact of sexually transmitted and blood-borne infections in Canada by 2030. Government of Canada. https://www.canada.ca/ en/public-health/services/infectious-diseases/sexual-healthsexually-transmitted-infections/reports-publications/sexuallytransmitted-blood-borne-infections-action-framework.html Public Health Agency of Canada (PHAC). (2018b). *Report* on sexually transmitted infections in Canada. Government of Canada. https://www.canada.ca/en/public-health/services/ publications/diseases-conditions/report-sexually-transmittedinfections-canada-2018.html

Public Health Agency of Canada. (2019). Hepatitis B in Canada: 2019 surveillance data. Government of Canada. https://www.canada.ca/en/public-health/services/ publications/diseases-conditions/hepatitis-b-2019surveillance-data.html

Public Health Agency of Canada (PHAC). (2020a). Syphilis in Canada: Technical report on epidemiological trends, determinants and interventions. Government of Canada. https://www.canada.ca/en/services/health/publications/ diseases-conditions/syphilis-epidemiological-report.html#21

Public Health Agency of Canada (PHAC). (2020b). *Estimates* of *HIV incidence, prevalence and Canada's progress on meeting the 90-90-90 HIV targets, 2018.* Government of Canada.

Public Health Agency of Canada (PHAC). (2021a). Sexually transmitted and blood borne infections (STBBI) prevention guide. Government of Canada. https://www.canada.ca/en/ public-health/services/infectious-diseases/sexual-healthsexually-transmitted-infections/canadian-guidelines/stbbiprevention-guide.html.

Public Health Agency of Canada (PHAC). (2021b). National report: Findings from the Survey on the Impact of COVID-19 on the delivery of STBBI prevention, testing and treatment, including harm reduction services, in Canada. Government of Canada. https://www.canada.ca/content/dam/phacaspc/documents/services/publications/diseases-conditions/ survey-impact-covid-19-delivery-stbbi-prevention-testingtreatment/survey.pdf

Public Health Agency of Canada (PHAC). (2021c). COVID-19 impacts on the delivery of STBBI-related services, including harm reduction services. *Public Health Infobase*. Government of Canada. https://health-infobase. canada.ca/datalab/covid-19-impact-stbbi-services.html.

Public Health Agency of Canada (PHAC). (2021d). *Hepatitis C in Canada 2019 surveillance data*. Government of Canada. https://www.canada.ca/content/dam/phac-aspc/documents/ services/publications/diseases-conditions/hepatitis-c-2019surveillance-data/hepatitis-c-2019-surveillance-data.pdf

Public Health Agency of Canada (PHAC). (2022a). *HIV* in Canada, surveillance report to December 31, 2020. Government of Canada. https://www.canada.ca/en/publichealth/services/publications/diseases-conditions/hiv-canadasurveillance-report-december-31-2020.html Public Health Agency of Canada (PHAC). (2022b). *HIV* in Canada, surveillance report to December 31, 2020. Government of Canada. https://www.canada.ca/en/publichealth/services/publications/diseases-conditions/hiv-canadasurveillance-report-december-31-2020.html

Public Health Agency of Canada (PHAC). (2022c). *Estimates* of HIV incidence, prevalence and Canada's progress on meeting the 90-90-90 HIV targets, 2020. Government of Canada. https://www.canada.ca/en/public-health/services/ publications/diseases-conditions/estimates-hiv-incidenceprevalence-canada-meeting-90-90-90-targets-2020.html

Public Health Agency of Canada (PHAC). (2022d). *HIV in Canada - People living with HIV and new HIV infections,* 2020. Government of Canada. https://www.canada.ca/en/ public-health/services/publications/diseases-conditions/hivcanada-people-living-with-hiv-new-infections-2020.html

Public Health Agency of Canada (PHAC). (2023a). Sexually transmitted and blood-borne infections surveillance. Government of Canada. https://www.canada.ca/en/publichealth/services/surveillance/sexually-transmitted-bloodborne-infections.html

Public Health Agency of Canada (PHAC). (2023b). *Large data extract - Notifiable diseases on-line*. Government of Canada. https://diseases.canada.ca/notifiable/charts?c=pd

Public Health Agency of Canada (PHAC). (2023c). Sexually transmitted and blood-borne infections: Guides for health professionals. Government of Canada. https://www.canada.ca/ en/public-health/services/infectious-diseases/sexual-healthsexually-transmitted-infections/canadian-guidelines.html

Public Health Agency of Canada (PHAC). (2023d). *Chlamydia, gonorrhea and infectious syphilis in Canada: 2020 (infographic). Government of Canada.* https://www.canada.ca/ en/public-health/services/publications/diseases-conditions/ Chlamydia-gonorrhea-infectious-syphilis-canada-2020infographic.html

Public Health Agency of Canada. (2023e). Infectious syphilis and congenital syphilis in Canada, 2022. *Canada Communicable Disease Report, 49*(10). https://www.canada. ca/en/public-health/services/reports-publications/canadacommunicable-disease-report-ccdr/monthly-issue/2023-49/ issue-10-october-2023/infectious-congenital-syphiliscanada-2022.html

Pulerwitz, J., Amaro, H., De Jong, W., Gortmaker, S. L., & Rudd, R. (2002). Relationship power, condom use and HIV risk among women in the USA. *AIDS Care, 14*(6), 789-800.

Ramiro, M. T., Teva, I., Bermúdez, M. P., & Buela-Casal,
G. (2013). Social support, self-esteem and depression:
Relationship with risk for sexually transmitted infections/
HIV transmission. *International Journal of Clinical and Health Psychology*, 13(3), 181-188.

Rand, J. R. (2016). Inuit women's stories of strength: Informing Inuit community-based HIV and STI prevention and sexual health promotion programming. *International Journal of Circumpolar Health*, 75(1), 32135. https://doi. org/10.3402/ijch.v75.32135.

- Rand, J. R., Melro, C., Biderman, M., McMillan, L. J., Miller, A. D., Lekas, S., & Numer, M. (2023). Indigenous men's pathways to 'living the right kind of life and walking the right path' post incarceration in Canada: Understanding the impacts of systemic oppression, and guidance for healing and (w)holistic sexual health. *Culture, Health & Sexuality, 25*(4), 475-489.
- Raval, M., Gratrixc, J., Plitt, S., Niruban, J., Smyczek, P., Dong, K., & Singh, A. E. (2022). Retrospective cohort study examining the correlates of reported lifetime stimulant use in persons diagnosed with infectious syphilis in Alberta, Canada, 2018 to 2019. *Sexually Transmitted Diseases*, 49(8), 551-559.

Reichert, E., & Grad, Y. H. (2023). Resistance and prevalence implications of doxycycline post-exposure prophylaxis for gonorrhea prevention in men who have sex with men: A modeling study. *medRxiv*, DOI: https://doi.org/10.1101/2023 /04.24.23289033.

Reweti, A. (2022). Securing cultural identity for whānau well-being: A qualitative study of a whānau-led initiative. *AlterNative: An International Journal of Indigenous Peoples*, *18*(3), 327-471.

Richmond, C. (2018). The relatedness of people, land, and health: Stories from Anishinabe Elders. In M. Greenwood,
S. de Leeuw, & N. M. Lindsay (eds.), *Determinants of Indigenous Peoples' health: second edition: Beyond the social* (pp. 167-186). Canadian Scholars Press.

- Rink, E., Montgomery-Andersen, R., & Anastario, M. (2014). The effectiveness of an education intervention to prevent Chlamydia infection among Greenlandic youth. *International Journal of STD & AIDS, 29*(2), 98-106.
- Ross, A., Dion, J., Cantinotti, M., Collin-Vézina, D., & Paquette, L. (2015). Impact of residential schooling and of child abuse on substance use problem in Indigenous Peoples. *Addictive Behaviors*, 51, 184-192.
- Rourke, S. B., Bekele, T., Tucker, R., Greene, S., Sabota, M., Koornstra, J. et al. (2012). The positive spaces healthy places team. Housing characteristics and their influence on healthrelated quality of life in persons living with HIV in Ontario, Canada: Results from the Positive Spaces, Health Places Study. *AIDS and Behaviour, 16*, 2361-72.

Ryan, C., Ali, A., & Sabourin, H. (2020a). A culturally safe and trauma-informed sexually transmitted blood borne infection (STBBI) intervention designed by and for incarcerated Indigenous women and gender-diverse people. *International Journal of Indigenous Health*, 15(1), 108-18. https://doi.org/10.32799/ijih.v15i1.34061

- Ryan, C., Jackson, R., Gabel, C., King, A., Masching, R., & Thomas, C. (Elder). (2020b). Successful aging: Indigenous men aging in a good way with HIV/AIDS. *Canadian Journal on Aging*, *39*(2), 305-17. https://doi.org/10.1017/ S0714980819000497
- Saeed, S., Strumpf, E. C., Moodie, E. E. M., Young, J., Nitulescu, R., Cox, J., Wong, A., Walmsely, S., Cooper, C., Vachon, M.-L., Martel-Laferriere, V., Hull, M., Conway, B., Kelin, M. B., for the Canadian Co-Infection Cohort Study. (2017). Disparities in direct acting antivirals uptake in HIVhepatitis C co-infected populations in Canada. *Journal of the International AIDS Society*, 20(3), e25013.
- Salway, T., Ferlatte, O., Shoveller, J., Purdie, A., Grennan, T., Tan, D. H. S., Consolacion, T., Rich, A., Dove, N., Samji, H., Scott, K., Blackwell, E., Mirau, D., Holgerson, N., Wong, J., & Gilbert, M. (2019). The need and desire for mental health and substance use-related services among clients of publicly funded sexually transmitted infection clinics in Vancouver, Canada. *Journal of Public Health Management and Practice*, 25(3), E1-E10. DOI: 10.1097/ PHH.0000000000000904
- Samies, N. L., James, S. H., & Kimberlin, D. W. (2021). Neonatal herpes simplex virus disease: Updates and continued challenges. *Clinics in Perinatology*, 48(2), 263-274.
- Sanderson, A., Ranville, F., Gurney, L., Borden, B., Pooyak, S., Shannon, K., & Krüsi, A. (2021). Indigenous women voicing experiences of HIV stigma and criminalization through art. *International Journal of Indigenous Health*, *16*(2), 267-291.
- Sankaran, D., Partridge, E., & Lakshminrusimha, S. (2023). Congenital syphilis – an illustrative review. *Children*, *10*(8), 1310.
- Scheidell, J. D., De Rochars, V. M. B., Séraphin, M. N., Hobbs, M. M., Morris, J. G., Célestin, J. P., Cottler, L. B., & Khan, M. R. (2018). Socioeconomic vulnerability and sexually transmitted infection among young pregnant Haitian women. *Sexually Transmitted Diseases*, 45(9), 626-631.
- Sethi, S., Ali, A., Ju, X., Antonsson, A., Logan, R., Canfell, K., Smith, M., Garvey, G., Hedges, J., & Jamieson, L. (2021). A systematic review and meta-analysis of the prevalence of human papillomavirus infection in Indigenous populations - A global picture. *Journal of Oral Pathology & Medicine*, 50(9), 843-854.

Seto, J., Asfaw, T., Folz, K., Clark, W., Deleary, M., & Sheikh, A. (2011). 02-S2.05 Start with the social determinants of health to tailor sexual health promotion for First Nations, Inuit and Métis youth in Canada [Abstract]. Sexually Transmitted Infections, 87(Suppl 1), A57-A58.

Severini, A., Jiang, Y., Brassard, P., Morrison, H., Demers, A. A., Oguntuase, E., Al-Rushdi, M., Preston, F., Ratnam, S., & Mao, Y. (2013). Type-specific prevalence of human papillomavirus in women screened for cervical cancer in Labrador, Canada. *International Journal of Circumpolar Health, 72*(1), 19743.

Shannon, K., Bright, V., Gibson, K., Tyndall, M. W., & Maka Project Partnership. (2007). Sexual and drug-related vulnerabilities for HIV infection among women engaged in sex work in Vancouver, Canada. *Canadian Journal of Public Health*, 98, 465-469.

Shea, B., Aspin, C., Ward, J., Archibald, N., Dickson, N., McDonald, A., Penehira, M., Halverson, J., Masching, R., McAllister, S., Tuhiwai Smith, L., Kaldor, J. M., & Andersson, N. (2011). HIV diagnoses in Indigenous peoples: Comparison of Australia, Canada and New Zealand. *International Health*, 3(3), 193-198.

Shrier, L. A., Harris, S. K., Sternberg, M., & Beardslee, W. R. (2001). Associations of depression, self-esteem, and substance use with sexual risk among adolescents. *Preventive Medicine*, 33, 179-89.

Singer, M. (1996). A dose of drugs, a touch of violence, a case of AIDS: Conceptualizing the SAVA syndemic. *Free Inquiry in Creative Sociology*, 24(2), 99-110.

Singh, A. E. (2019). How to address the resurgence of syphilis in Canada. *Canadian Medical Journal*, 191(50), E1367-E1368.

Singh, A. E., Kulleperuma, K., Begin, J., DeGuzman, J., Sammurtok, D., Anoee, O., Koonoo, T., & Pawa, J. (2022). Lessons from management of syphilis in Nunavut, Canada, 2012-2020. *Canada Communicable Disease Report*, 48(2-3), 102-110.

Singh, A. E., & Romanowski, B. (2019). The return of syphilis in Canada: A failed plan to eliminate this infection. *Journal of the Association of Medical Microbiology and Infectious Disease Canada*, 4(4), 215-217.

Singh, A. E., Sutherland, K., Lee, B., Robinson, J. L., & Wong, T. (2007). Resurgence of early congenital syphilis in Alberta. *Canadian Medical Association Journal*, 177(1), 33-36.

Skinner, S., Cote, G., & Khan, I. (2018). Hepatitis C virus infection in Saskatchewan First Nations communities: Challenges and innovations. *Canada Communicable Disease Report*, 44(7/8), 173-78. https://doi.org/10.14745/ccdr. v44i78a04 Smith, C. R., Kershaw, T., Johnson, K., & Meghnath, K. (2019). An outbreak of hepatitis A in Canada: The use of a control bank to conduct a case-control study. *Epidemiology & Infection*, 147, e300, 1-8.

Smye, V., Browne, A. J., Josewski, V., Keith, B., & Mussell, W. (2023). Social suffering: Indigenous Peoples' experiences of accessing mental health and substance use services. *International Journal of Environmental Research and Public Health*, 20(4), 3288.

Smylie, J., & Firestone, M. (2015). Back to the basics: Identifying and addressing underlying challenges in achieving high quality and relevant health statistics for Indigenous populations in Canada. *Statistical Journal of the IAOS*, 31(1), 67-87.

Socías, M. E., Karamouzian, M., Parent, S., Barletta, J., Bird, K., & Ti, L. (2019). Integrated models of care for people who inject drugs and live with hepatitis C virus: A systematic review. *International Journal of Drug Policy*, *72*, 146-159.

Spencer, B. (2019). Health PEI offers first blood spot testing clinic for HIV and hepatitis C. *CBC News – PEI*, February 19. https://www.cbc.ca/news/canada/prince-edward-island/pei-dry-blood-spot-testing-1.5024372

Steenbeek, A. (2004). Empowering health promotion: A holistic approach in preventing sexually transmitted infections among First Nations and Inuit adolescents in Canada. *Journal of Holistic Nursing*, 22(3), 254-266.

Stein, A. P., Saha, S., Kraninger, J. L., Swick, A. D., Yu, M. Lambertg, P. F., & Kimple, R. (2015). Prevalence of human papillomavirus in oropharyngeal cancer: A systematic review. *Cancer Journal, 21*(3), 138-146.

Stote, K. (2017). Birthright denied: The sterilization of Indigenous women. *Horizons*, 31(2), 16-19.

Strength, Masculinities, and Sexual Health (SMASH). (2023). *About SMASH*. https://arcticsmash.ca/about-smash/

Strobel, N. A., & Ward, J. (2012). Education programs for Indigenous Australians about sexually transmitted infections and bloodborne viruses. *Closing the Gap Clearinghouse*, Resource sheet no. 14. Australian Government, Australian Institute of Health and Welfare, & Australian Institute of Family Studies. https://core.ac.uk/reader/30678470

Suryawanshi, R. K., Patil, C. D., Agelidis, A., Koganti, R., Yadavalli, T., Ames, J. M., Borase, H., & Shukla, D. (2023). Pathophysiology of reinfection by exogenous HSV-1 is driven by heparanase dysfunction. *Science Advances*, 9(17). DOI: 10.1126/sciadv.adf3977.

Szymonowicz, K. A., & Chen, J. (2020). Biological and clinical aspects of HPV-related cancers. *Cancer Biology & Medicine*, 17(4), 864-878. Tarasuk, J., Sullivan, M., Bush, D., Hui, C., Morris, M., Starlight, T., Cholette, F., Jonah, L., Bryson, M., Paquette, D., & Masching, R. (2021). Findings among Indigenous participants of the Tracks survey of people who inject drugs in Canada, Phase 4, 2017-2019. *Canada Communicable Disease Report*, 47(1), 37-46.

Tarasuk, J., Zhang, J., Lemyre, A., Cholette, F., Bryson, M., & Paquette, D. (2020). National findings from the Tracks survey of people who inject drugs in Canada, Phase 4, 2017-2019. *Canada Communiciable Disease Report*, 46(5), 138-48.

Teslow, E. A. (2020). COVID-19 prevalence and the key role of antibody testing. *Promega Notes - What are seroprevalence surveys and what do they tell us about COVID-19?*, October. https://www.promega.ca/resources/pubhub/2020/ seroprevalence-surveys-and-covid-19/

Tingey, L., Chambers, R., Patel, H., Littlepage, S., Lee, S., Lee, A., Susan, D., Melgar, L., Slimp, A., & Rosenstock, S. (2021). Prevention of sexually transmitted diseases and pregnancy prevention among Native American youths: A randomized controlled trial, 2016-2018. *American Journal of Public Health*, 111(10), 1705-1896.

Tingey, L., Rosenstock, S., Chambers, R., Patel, H., Melgar, L., Slimp, A., Lee, A., Cwik, M., Rompalo, A., & Gaydos, C. (2022). Empowering our people: Predictors of retention in an STI risk reduction program among rural Native Americans with binge substance use. *The Journal of Rural Health*, 38(2), 323-335.

Trocmé, N., Fallon, B., MacLaurin, B., & Job-Carnella, N. (2021). Lessons learned from the Canadian Incidence Study of Reported Child Abuse and Neglect. In K. Kufeldt, B. Fallon, & B. McKenzie (eds.), *Protecting children: Theoretical and practical aspects* (pp. 86-99). Canadian Scholars' Press.

Trubnikov, M., Yan, P., & Archibald, C. (2011). Estimated prevalence of hepatitis C virus infection in Canada. *Canada Communicable Disease Report, 40*(19), 429-36.

Truth and Reconciliation Commission (TRC) of Canada. (2015). *Truth and Reconciliation Commission of Canada: Calls to action*. https://www2.gov.bc.ca/assets/gov/britishcolumbians-our-governments/indigenous-people/aboriginalpeoples-documents/calls_to_action_english2.pdf

Tsai, A. C. (2019). Syndemics: A theory in search of data or data in search of a theory? *Social Science & Medicine*, 206, 117-122.

Tyler Doenmez, C. F., Cidro, J., Sinclair, S., Hayward, A., Wodtke, L., & Nychuk, A. (2022). Heart work: Indigenous doulas responding to challenges of western systems and revitalizing Indigenous birthing care in Canada. *BMC Pregnancy and Childbirth, 22*, 41. Uhanova, J., Tate, R. B., Tataryn, D. J., & Minuk, G. Y. (2013). The epidemiology of hepatitis C in a Canadian Indigenous population. *Canadian Journal of Gastroenterology*, 27(6), 336-40. https://doi.org/10.1155/2013/380963

UNAIDS. (2014). 90-90-90: An ambitious treatment target to help end the AIDS epidemic. https://www.unaids.org/en/ resources/documents/2017/90-90-90

UNAIDS. (2023). The path that ends AIDS. United Nations. https://www.unaids.org/en/resources/presscentre/ pressreleaseandstatementarchive/2023/july/unaids-globalaids-update#:~:text=That%20means%2095%25%20of%20 the,on%20treatment%20being%20virally%20suppressed.

United Nations Population Fund. (2020). *Developing effective condom programmes*. https://www.unfpa.org/sites/default/files/pub-pdf/UNFPA_UNAIDS_TechBrief.pdf

Varcoe, C., & Dick, S. (2008). The intersecting risks of violence and HIV for rural Aboriginal women in a neocolonial Canadian context. *Journal of Aboriginal Health*, 4(1), 42-52.

Volesky, K. D., El-Zein, M., Franco, E. L., Brenner, D. R., Friedenreich, C. M., Ruan, Y., & ComPARe Study Team. (2019). Cancers attributable to infections in Canada. *Preventive Medicine*, 122, 109-117.

Ward, J. W., & Holtzman, D. (2018). Epidemiology, natural history, and diagnosis of hepatitis C. In A. J. Sanyal, T. D. Boyer, K. D. Lindor, & N. A. Terrault (eds.), *Zakim & Boyer's Hepatology*, 7th edition (pp. 428-445). Elsevier, Inc.

Weerasinghe, N., Wright, A. L., VanEvery, R., & Mohammed, S. (2023). A narrative review of mental health services for Indigenous youth in Canada: Intersectionality and cultural safety as a pathway for change. *Journal of Recovery in Mental Health*, 6(2), 39353.

Whop, L. J., Smith, M. A., Butler, T. L., Adcock, A., Basrtholomew, K., Goodman, M. T., Winer, R. L., Milosevic, E., & Lawton, B. (2021). Achieving cervical cancer elimination among Indigenous women. *Preventive Medicine*, 144, 106314.

Wilk, P., Maltby, A., & Cooke, M. (2017). Residential schools and the effects on Indigenous health and well-being in Canada - a scoping review. *Public Health Reviews, 38*, 8.

Willemsma, K., Barton, L., Stimpson, R., Pickell, I., Ryan,
V., Yu, A., Pederson, A., Ogilvie, G., Grennan, T., & Wong,
J. (2022). Characterizing female infectious syphilis cases in
British Columbia to identify opportunities for optimization of
care. *Canada Communicable Disease Report*, 48(2/3), 68-75.

Willie, T., Overstreet, N. M., Sullivan, T. P., Sikkema, K. J., & Hansen, N. B. (2016). Barriers to HIV medication adherence: Examining distinct anxiety and depression symptoms among women living with HIV who experienced childhood sexual abuse. *Behavioral Medicine*, 42(2), 12-127.

Wilson, C., Oliver, V., Flicker, S., Native Youth Sexual Health Network, Prentice, T., Jackson, R., Larkin, J., Restoule, J.-P., & Mitchell, C. (2016). 'Culture' as HIV prevention: Indigenous youth speak up! Gateways: *International Journal* of Community Research and Engagement, 9(1), 74-88.

Wong, J., Arkell, C., Durigon, M., Makaroff, S., Montgomery, C., Morshed, M., Money, D., van Schalkwyk, J., King, A., Gilbert, M., Grennan, T., & Ogilvie, G. (2016). *Maternal* syphilis in British Columbia, Canada: 2012 to 2016. BC Centre for Disease Control & Clinical Prevention Services, UBC. http://www.bccdc.ca/resource-gallery/Documents/ Statistics%20and%20Research/Statistics%20and%20 Reports/STI/Maternal%20Syphilis%20in%20British%20 Columbia_ISSTDR%20poster.pdf

Wood, E., Schachar, J., Li, K., Stoltz, J. A., Shannon, K., Miller, C. et al. (2007). Sex trade involvement is associated with elevated HIV incidence among injection drug users in Vancouver. *Addictive Research Theory*, 15, 321-325.

Woodgate, R. L., Zurba, M., Tennent, P., Cochrane, C., Payne, M., & Mignone, J. (2017a). A qualitative study on the intersectional social determinants for Indigenous people who become infected with HIV in their youth. *International Journal for Equity in Health*, 16, 132.

Woodgate, R. L., Zurba, M., Tennent, P., Cochrane, C., Payne, M., & Mignone, J. (2017b). "People try and label me as someone I'm not": The social ecology of Indigenous people living with HIV, stigma, and discrimination in Manitoba, Canada. Social Science & Medicine, 194, 17-24.

World Health Organization (WHO). (2022a). Sexually transmitted infections (STIs). https://www.who.int/newsroom/fact-sheets/detail/sexually-transmitted-infections-(stis)

World Health Organization (WHO). (2022b). *HIV/AIDS*. https://www.who.int/westernpacific/health-topics/hiv-aids

World Health Organization (WHO). (2022c). *Hepatitis* A. https://www.who.int/news-room/fact-sheets/detail/ hepatitis-a#:~:text=Symptoms%20of%20hepatitis%20A%20 range,will%20have%20all%20the%20symptoms

World Health Organization (WHO). (2023). *Herpes simplex virus*. https://www.who.int/news-room/fact-sheets/detail/ herpes-simplex-virus

Wylie, L., & McConkey, S. (2019). Insiders' insight: Discrimination against Indigenous Peoples through the eyes of health care professionals. *Journal of Racial and Ethnic Health Disparities*, 6, 37-45.

Wylie, L., McConkey, S., & Corrado, A. M. (2019). Colonial legacies and collaborative action: Improving Indigenous Peoples' health care in Canada. *International Indigenous Policy Journal*, 10(5), 9340.

Wynne, A., & Currie, C. L. (2011). Social exclusion as an underlying determinant of sexually transmitted infections among Canadian Aboriginals. *Pimatisiwin: A Journal of Aboriginal and Indigenous Community Health, 9*(1), 115-31.

Yacoub, W., Smyczek, P., & Sotocinal, P. (2020, March 24). Syphilis update. Presentation by Indigenous Service Canada, Crown-Indigenous Relations and Northern Affairs Canada, & Alberta Health Services. Government of Canada. https:// docs.fntn.ca/VC16178/Handouts/Syphilis%20Update%20 FNIHB%20_24%20March%202020.pdf

Yousuf, W., Ibrahim, H., Harfouche, M., Abu Hijleh, R., & Abu-Raddad, L. (2020). Herpes simplex virus type 1 in Europe: Systematic review, meta-analyses and metaregressions. *BMJ Global Health*, *5*, e002388.

Zehbe, I., Moeller, H., Severini A., Weaver, B., Escott, N., Bell, C., Crawford, S., Bannon, D., & Paavola, N. (2011). Feasibility of self-sampling and human papillomavirus testing for cervical cancer screening in First Nation women from Northwest Ontario, Canada: A pilot study. *BMJ Open, 1*, e000030.

Zehbe, I., Wakewich, P., King, A.-D., Morrisseau, K., & Tuck, C. (2017). Self-administered versus provider-directed sampling in the Anishinaabek Cervical Cancer Screening Study (ACCSS): A qualitative investigation with Canadian First Nations women. *BMJ Open*, 7, e017384.

Zehbe, I., Wakewich, P., Wood, B., Sameshima, P., Banning, Y., Little, J., & the ACCSS group. (2016). Engaging Canadian First Nations women in cervical screening through education. *International Journal of Health Promotion and Education*, 54(5), 255-264.

Zurba, M., Islam, D., Smith, D., & Thompson, S. (2012). Food and healing: An urban community food security assessment for the north end of Winnipeg. *Urban Research & Practice*, *5*, 284-289. sharing knowledge · making a difference partager les connaissances · faire une différence ᠋᠄ᡃ᠋᠋ᡋᢂ᠋ᡃᡠ᠖᠂᠕ᢤᡃ᠆᠋᠋᠆ᠬᠥ᠘᠋



National Collaborating Centre for Indigenous Health

Centre de collaboration nationale de la santé autochtone

FOR MORE INFORMATION: UNIVERSITY OF NORTHERN BRITISH COLUMBIA 3333 UNIVERSITY WAY, PRINCE GEORGE, BC, V2N 4Z9 NCCIH.CA

1 250 960 5250 NCCIH@UNBC.CA